

King, Lauren E. (2011) *Investigating the role of human papillomavirus DNA replication in the development of cervical cancer.* PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/2726/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Investigating the role of Human Papillomavirus DNA replication in the development of cervical cancer

Lauren E King

December 2010

This thesis is submitted to the University of Glasgow in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the MRC Centre for Virus Research, University of Glasgow.



Institute of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences

© Lauren E King

Disclaimer:

'Unless otherwise stated all work contained within this thesis has been completed personally'

Lauren E. King

December 2010

For the Kings

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor Iain Morgan for his guidance, encouragement and friendship over the last three years.

I would also like to thank all members of the papillomavirus lab, especially Mary Donaldson and Edward Dornan, for their invaluable input into the work described in this thesis and the paper enclosed.

Thanks to Mel, Mags, Kris and Lizzie for making me smile, no matter how the day was going.

And last but by no means least, I would like to say thank you to my family for all the unconditional support and love you have shown and for always believing in me.

This thesis is as much yours as it is mine.

Table of Contents

AcknowledgementsIV
Table of contentsV
List of figuresXII
List of tablesXV
AbbreviationsXVI
AbstractXXI
Chapter 1 – Introduction1
1.1 Human papillomavirus1
1.2 Diseases associated with HPV1
1.3 Life cycle
1.4 HPV16 genome6
1.5 Transcription8
1.6 HPV16 proteins9
1.6.1 Replicative proteins10
1.6.1.1E110
1.6.1.2 E217
1.6.2 Oncoproteins24
1.6.2.1 E725
1.6.2.2 E626
1.6.2.3 E527

1.6.3 Proteins expressed in the upper epithelial layers	29
1.6.3.1 E1^E4	29
1.6.3.2 The capsid proteins: L1 & L2	30
1.7 HPV episomal integration	31
1.8 DNA replication and the cell cycle	35
1.8.1 G ₁	35
1.8.2 S phase	37
1.8.3 G ₂	38
1.8.4 M phase	39
1.8.5 Cytokinesis	
1.9 Regulation of the cell cycle	39
1.9.1 ATM activation	41
1.9.2 ATR activation	42
1.9.3 Chk2	43
1.9.4 Chk1	44
1.9.5 Direct targets of ATR/ATM	44
1.10 Cdc25 Phosphatases	44
1.11 DNA repair – double stranded breaks	47
1.11.1 Non homologous end joining	47
1.11.2 Homologous recombination	48
1.12 DNA repair – single stranded break	49
1.12.1 Mismatch repair	
1.12.2 Nucleotide excision repair	
p	VI

1.13 Research a	ims	51
Chapter 2 – Materials a	and Methods	54
2.1 Mate	erials	54
2	2.1.1 Antibodies	54
2	2.1.1 Bacteriology	55
2	2.1.3 Cell lines	56
2	2.1.4 Chemicals	56
2	2.1.5 Enzymes	58
2	2.1.6 Kits	59
2	2.1.7 Cell culture	60
2	2.1.8 Miscellaneous	61
2	2.1.9 Plasmids	62
2	2.1.10 Oligonucleotides	66
	2.1.10.1 Real-Time PCR analysis	66
	2.1.10.2 Site directed mutagenesis	67
	2.1.10.3 siRNA knockdown	68
	2.1.10.4 Sequencing	68
2.2 Methods		69
2.2.1 Ce	Il culture methodology	69
2	2.2.1.1 General growth	69
2	2.2.1.2 Calcium phosphate transient transfection	70
2	2.2.1.3 GeneJuice transient transfection	70
2	2.2.1.4 Lipofectamine 2000™ transfection	70

2.2.1.5 Cell count assay	71
2.2.1.6 Colony survival assay	71
2.2.1.7 Luciferase assay	72
2.2.1.8 Drug treatments	72
2.2.1.9 Preparation of protein extract	72
blecular methods	74
2.2.2.1 DNA purification using phenol chloroform	74
2.2.2.2 Ethanol precipitation	74
2.2.2.3 Oligonucleotide synthesis	74
2.2.2.4 Real-Time PCR detection for transient DNA replication	
ssay	75
2.2.2.5 In vitro DNA replication assay	76
2.2.2.6 In vitro checkpoint kinase assay	77
2.2.2.7 Bradford Assay	77
2.2.2.8 Immunoprecipitation	78
2.2.2.9 Western blotting	79
2.2.2.10 Stripping of nitrocellulose membrane	80
2.2.2.11 Site directed mutagenesis	30
2.2.2.12 DNA sequencing	31
2.2.2.13 DNA/RNA concentration determination	81
2.2.2.14 Transformation of chemically competent bacterial cells8	31
2.2.2.15 RNA extraction	82
2.2.2.16 DNase treatment	32
	2.1.5 Cell count assay.

2.2.2.17 Synthesis of complementary DNA83
2.2.2.18 Large scale preparation of plasmid DNA (maxiprep)83
2.2.2.19 Propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry
analysis84
2.2.2.20 Salt extraction84
2.2.2.21 DNA plasmid miniprep using alkaline lysis
2.2.2.22 Harvest of low molecular weight DNA85
2.2.3 Statistics87
2.2.3.1 Mean and standard error of the mean
2.2.3.2 Statistical Significance
Chapter 3 – Results
3.1 HPV E1-E2 mediated DNA replication is not arrested by DNA damage89
3.1.1 HPV11 E1-E2 mediated replication <i>in vivo</i> is not arrested by DNA damaging
agents91
3.1.2 SV40 virus LT mediated replication <i>in vivo</i> is arrested by etoposide95
3.1.3 HPV16 E1-E2 mediated replication <i>in vivo</i> is not arrested by etoposide97
3.1.4 In vitro results show that LT replication arrest is inhibited via a checkpoint
response, while E1–E2 replication is not100
3.1.5 LT is a substrate for DNA checkpoint kinases in vivo
3.1.6 E1 is not a substrate for DNA checkpoint kinases in vivo
3.1.7 LT protein levels are reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment112
3.1.8 HPV16 E1 protein levels are not reduced following prolonged etoposide
treatment116

3.1.9 Site directed mutagenesis of LT phosphorylation sites119
3.1.10 LT mutated plasmids are recognised by LT antibodies120
3.1.11 ATR targets LT SQ/TQ mutants for phosphorylation in the presence of DNA
damage121
3.2 In vitro cell extract preparation of ATR and TopBP1 deficient cell extracts123
3.2.1 ATR and TopBP1 are essential for activation of Chk1 protein kinase124
3.2.2 Cell survival is diminished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked down128
3.2.3 Long term cell survival is abolished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked
down130
3.3 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1 and etoposide131
3.3.1 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by prolonged etoposide treatment131
3.3.2 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1 through post transcriptional modifications133
3.3.3 Etopsoide arrests HPV16 E1 and E2 transfected 293T cells at the G_2/M
checkpoint135
3.4 HPV16 E2 has increased stability and function due to a direct interaction with
the viral helicase E1136
3.4.1 HPV16 E1 increases E2 protein levels136
3.4.2 HPV16 E1 can alter E2 chromatin affinity138
3.4.3. HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1141
3.4.4 HPV16 E2 E39A mutant does not interact with HA-tagged E1144
3.4.5 HPV16 E2 stabilisation by E1 is a result of a direct E1.E2 interaction146
3.4.6 HPV16 E1 enhances E2 functional activity as a result the E1.E2
interaction149

	3.4.7 Functional activity of the transcriptionaly defective HPV16 R37A E2 mutant	
	in the presence of E1153	
	3.4.8 HPV16 E1 increases E2 stability in a cervical cancer cell line	
	3.4.9 E2 transcriptional activity in a cervical cancer	
	3.5 Summary of Chapter 3162	
	Chapter 4 – Discussion163	
	4.1 E1-E2 mediated HPV replication is not inhibited in response to DNA	
	damage163	
	4.2 SV40 LT is targeted for phosphorylation by activated ATR165	
	4.3 E1 is not a substrate for ATR kinase in response to DNA damage167	
	4.4 TopBP1 is essential for DNA replication and cell survival168	
	4.5 A consequence of the E1-E2 interaction is increased E2 stability	
	4.6 E1 enhances E2 transcriptional function173	
	4.7 Conclusions175	
	References178	
Appendices		

- (a) Human papillomavirus E1 and E2 mediated DNA replication is not arrested by DNA damage signalling
- (b) Human papillomavirus 16 E2 stability and transcriptional activation is enhanced by E1 via a direct protein-protein interaction

List of Figures

Fig 1.1 HPV life cycle within the epithelium	6
Fig 1.2 Map of the HPV16 genome	8
Fig 1.3 Initiation of E1-E2 mediated replication	12
Fig 1.4 Structure of the E1 hexameric helicase in complex with DNA and ADP	14
Fig 1.5 Structure of the E2 dimer	18
Fig 1.6 Functional interaction domains of the E2 dimer	19
Fig 1.7 Structure of the transactivation domain of E2	21
Fig 1.8 HPV episomal integration	33
Fig 1.9 E1 and E2 expressed from episomal DNA can cause replication of integrated	
DNA	34
Fig 1.10 Assembly of the pre-replication complex at DNA replication origins	36
Fig 1.11 DNA replication fork	38
Fig 1.12 DNA damage repair: NHEJ	48
Fig 3.1.1 (a) HPV11 origin replication assay with etoposide treatment	93
Fig 3.1.1 (b) HPV11 origin replication assay with camptothecin treatment	94
Fig 3.1.2 SV40 virus LT mediated replication <i>in vivo</i> is arrested by etoposide	96
Fig 3.1.3 HPV16 E1-E2 mediated replication <i>in vivo</i> is not arrested by etoposide	99
Fig 3.1.4 In vitro results show that LT replication arrest is inhibited via a checkpoint	
response, while E1–E2 replication is not	103
Fig 3.1.5 LT is a substrate For DNA checkpoint kinases in vivo	.106
Fig 3.1.6 E1 is not a substrate for DNA checkpoint kinases in vivo	.110
Fig 3.1.7 LT protein levels are reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment	114
Fig 3.1.7 (b) LT RNA levels after etoposide treatment	114

Fig 3.1.7 (d) LT protein levels following etoposide and MG132 treatment115
Fig 3.1.8 E1 protein levels are not reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment117
Fig 3.1.8 (b) The effect of etoposide treatment on HPV16 E1 protein levels117
Fig 3.1.9 Site directed mutagenesis of LT phosphorylation sites119
Fig 3.1.10 LT mutated plasmids are recognised by LT antibodies120
Fig 3.1.11 ATR targets LT SQ/TQ mutants for phosphorylation in the presence of DNA
damage122
Fig 3.2.1 ATR and TopBP1 are essential for activation of Chk1 protein kinase126
Fig 3.2.2 Cell survival is abolished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked down129
Fig 3.2.3 Long term cell survival is abolished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked
down130
Fig 3.3.1 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by prolonged etoposide treatment132
Fig 3.3.1 (b) E2 RNA levels increase after etoposide treatment132
Fig 3.3.2 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1 in a post transcriptional manner134
Fig 3.3.2 (b) HPV16 E2 RNA levels in the presence of E1134
Fig 3.3.3 Etopsoide arrests HPV16 E1 and E2 transfected 293T cells at the G_2/M checkpoint
Fig 3.4.1 HPV16 E1 increases E2 protein levels137
Fig 3.4.2 HPV16 E1 does not alter E2 chromatin affinity139
Fig 3.4.2 (b) E1 causes association of E2 with less-soluble biochemical fractions139
Fig 3.4.3 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1142
Fig 3.4.3 (b) E2 half life increases in the presence of E1142
Fig 3.4.4 HPV16 E2 E39A mutant does not interact with HA-tagged E1145

Fig 3.4.5 HPV16 E2 stabilisation by E1 is a result of a direct E1.E2 interaction	147
Fig 3.4.5 (b) The E39A E2 mutant does not show increased stabilisation by E1	.147
Fig 3.4.6 (a) Transcriptional function of E2 is enhanced by E1	151
Fig 3.4.6 (b) Transcriptional function of E39A is not enhanced by E1	151
Fig 3.4.7 (a) HPV16 E2 transcription in the presence of E1	154
Fig 3.4.7 (b) HPV16 E2 R37A mutant transcription in the presence of E1	155
Fig 3.4.8 HPV16 E1 increases E2 stability in a cervical cancer cell line	157
Fig 3.4.8 (b) HPV16 E1 increases E2 stability in C33A cells	157
Fig 3.4.9 (a) HPV16 E2 transcriptional activity in the presence of E1	160
Fig 3.4.9 (b) HPV16 E2 mutant transcriptional activity in the presence of E1	160

List of Tables

Table 1.1 HPV type and associated disease	3
Table 1.2 Functional role of cellular factors involved in DNA damage signal transduction	
pathways42	1
Fable 1.3 Regulatory partners of Cdk kinases45	5
Fable 2.1 Oligonucleotide for RT-PCR analysis6	5
Fable 2.2 Oligonucleotides for site directed mutagenesis 66	ô
Fable 2.3 Oligonucleotides for siRNA knockdown6	7
Table 2.4 Oligonucleotides for DNA sequencing6	7

Abbreviations

°C	Degrees centigrade
μg	Microgram
μΙ	Microlitre
9-1-1	Rad9-Rad1-Hus1
А	Alanine
AAD	ATR activation domain
A/T	Adenine/Thymine
AAA+	ATPases Associated with diverse cellular Activities
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AIN	Anal intraepithelial neoplasia
AP1	Activator protein 1
АРН	Aphidicolin
ASF	Alternative splicing factor
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia mutated
АТР	Adenosine triphosphate
ATR	A-T Rad3-related protein
ATRIP	ATR interacting protein
BER	Base excision repair
bp	Base pair
BPV	Bovine papillomavirus
BRCA1	Breast cancer susceptibility Gene 1
BRCT	BRCA1 carboxyl-terminal
Brd4	Bromodomain-containing protein 4
Brg1	Brahma related gene 1
Brm	Brahma
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
C/ΕΒΡβ	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta

СВР	CREB binding protein		
cdc	Cell division cycle		
Cdk	Cyclin dependent kinase		
Chk	Checkpoint kinase		
ChLR1	Chromosome loss-related protein 1		
СНХ	Cycloheximide		
CIN	Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia		
CMV	Cytomegalovirus		
СРТ	Camptothecin		
DBD	DNA binding domain		
ddH₂O	Double distilled water		
DISC	Death inducing cellular complex		
Dlg	Discs large		
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium		
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
DNA-PK	DNA dependent protein kinase		
DNase	Deoxyribonuclease		
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
DSB	Double strand breaks		
dsDNA	Double stranded DNA		
E. Coli	Escherichia Coli		
E1BS	E1 binding site		
E2BS	E2 binding site		
E2-TA	E2 transactivator		
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence		
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor		
ETO	Etoposide		
EV	Epidermodysplasia verruciformis		
EVER1/2	Epidermodysplasia verruciformis 1/2		
ExoIII	Exonuclease III		
FADD	Fas-associated death domain		

FCS	Foetal calf serum		
FEN	Flap endonuclease		
g	Gram		
GINS	Go Ichi Ni San (5,1,2,3)		
НА	Hemagglutinin		
HEK293T	Human Embryonic Kidney Cells		
HPV	Human papillomavirus		
HR	Homologous recombination		
HR-HPV	High risk human papillomavirus		
HSP	Heat shock protein		
HU	Hydroxyurea		
IP	Immunoprecipitation		
IR	Ionizing radiation		
Kb	Kilobase pairs		
kDa	Kilodaltons		
L	Litre		
LCR	Long control region		
LR-HPV	Low risk human papillomavirus		
LT	Large T antigen		
LTAg	Large T antigen		
М	Molar		
МСМ	Mini chromosome maintenance		
MDC1	Mediator of DNA damage checkpoint protein 1		
MDM	Murine double minute		
mg	Milligram		
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex		
ml	Millilitre		
mM	Millimolar		
MMR	Mismatch repair		
MRN	Mre11, Rad50, Nbs1		
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid		
NBS	Nijmegen breakage syndrome		

NER	Nucleotide excision repair		
NES	Nuclear export signal		
NF1	Nuclear factor 1		
NHEJ	Non-homologous end joining		
nm	Nanometres		
OD	Optical Density		
ORC	Origin replication complex		
ORF	Open reading frame		
ori	Origin of replication		
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis		
pA _L	Polyadenylation late		
pA _L	Polyadenylation late		
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline		
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen		
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction		
РІКК	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-related kinase		
PIN	Penile intraepithelial neoplasia		
PML	Promyleocytic leukemia		
pmol	Picomole		
Pol	Polymerase		
pre-RC	Pre replication complex		
Q	Glutamine		
Rb	Retinoblasta		
RFC	Replication factor C		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
RNase	Ribonuclease		
ROS	Reactive oxygen species		
RPA	Replication protein A		
S/Ser	Serine		
SDM	Site Directed Mutagenesis		
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate		
SEM	Standard Error of the Mean		

SF2	Splicing factor 2		
siRNA	Small interfering RNA		
SNF	Sucrose non-fermentable		
Sp1	Specificity protein 1		
ssDNA	Single stranded DNA		
SV40	Simian Virus 40		
SWI	Switching deficient		
T/Thr	Threonine		
ТВР	TATA binding protein 1		
TCR	Transcription-coupled repair		
TERT	Transcription of telomerase reverse transcriptase		
TFIID	Transcription factor II domain		
tk	Thymidine kinase		
ТМС	Transmembrane channel-like		
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor		
TopBP1	Topoisomerase binding protein 1		
ΤοροΙ	Topoisomerase I		
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand		
URR	Upstream Regulatory Region		
UV	Ultraviolet		
v/v	Volume per unit volume		
VIN	Vulva intraepithelial neoplasia		
w/v	Weight per unit volume		
wt	Wild type		

Abstract

Human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV16) is a causative agent of cervical cancer. In many HPV induced cancers the HPV genome is present integrated into the cellular chromosomes. Integration of HPV DNA into that of the host promotes genomic instability and progression to cancer. Factors that promote integration remain to be fully identified. HPV replication during DNA damage is a factor that may promote viral DNA integration. HPV origin replication is investigated in the presence of DNA damaging agents. HPV replication produces double strand DNA breaks in the viral genome and DNA damaging agents such as etoposide will result in double strand breaks in genomic DNA therefore creating substrates for viral integration. HPV origin replication during DNA damage is not inhibited in vivo and in vitro. In contradiction to these results, replication initiated by the SV40 helicase, Large T antigen, is arrested in response to DNA damage and ATR is the candidate kinase for mediating the arrest. In order to carry out replication of the viral origin, the HPV genome encodes for the E1 protein. E1 forms a di-hexameric helicase complex that replicates the viral genome. The failure of E1 to be targeted by ATR/ATM allows HPV replication in the presence of DNA damaging agents. Such replication will result in double strand breaks in the viral genome ultimately promoting viral integration and progression of cervical cancer.

Upon activation of the DNA damage response cellular DNA replication is stalled. The targets of the DNA damage pathways at the replication fork that result in the inhibition of DNA replication are not clearly defined. Evidence has shown that the MCM2-7 cellular helicase complex is targeted for phosphorylation by the ATR/ATM kinases and therefore LTAg helicase may also be targeted in a similar manner in response to DNA damage. The results presented in this thesis support the hypothesis that the replicative helicase is a direct target for phosphorylation by the DNA damaging signalling kinases. Using SV40 replication as a model for eukaryotic DNA replication the results in this thesis show that

LTAg is targeted for phosphorylation by the DNA damage signalling kinases ATR/ATM in response to DNA damage. Large T Antigen protein levels decrease after prolonged treatment with etoposide suggesting that the degradation may inhibit the replication functions of this viral helicase.

To carry out viral replication HPV encodes two proteins, E1 and E2, which interact with cellular factors to replicate the viral genome. E2 forms homodimers and binds to 12bp palindromic sequences adjacent to the viral origin and recruits the viral helicase, E1, to the origin. The regulatory consequences of the E1.E2 interaction have been controversial. The data in this thesis demonstrates the ability of E1 to stabilise E2 increasing E2 half life. Analysis using a mutant E2 that binds weakly to E1 demonstrates that the stabilisation is a consequence of a direct E1.E2 interaction. Furthermore this thesis also demonstrates that the presence of E1 results in the redistribution of HPV16 E2 by enhancing its affinity for chromatin. The E2 protein tethers the viral genome onto the host chromatin during cellular mitosis thereby ensuring the distribution of viral episomes into both daughter cells. The redistribution of E2 onto chromatin suggests a role for E1 in enhancing HPV genome segregation functions by stabilising the association of E2 with mitotic chromosomes. E2 also regulates transcription from the viral genome. The data in this thesis shows that the E1 protein enhances E2 transcription function in a manner that suggests the E1 protein itself can contribute to transcriptional regulation not simply by E2 stabilisation but by a direct stimulation of E2-mediated transcription. E1 regulation of E2 function is again dependent on a direct protein-protein interaction. Taken together these results suggest that co-expression of E1 with E2 can increase E2 stability, enhance its affinity with chromatin and enhance E2-mediated transcription. These consequences are discussed with relation to the virus life cycle.

Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1 Human papillomavirus

Papillomaviridae are an ancient and diverse family of non-enveloped DNA viruses, collectively known as *papillomaviruses*. Papillomaviruses infect a range of species including cattle, horses, birds, rabbit and humans causing persistent infections that are difficult to treat (Campo, 2002). The taxonomy of 120 papillomavirus has been described using sequence comparisons of the L1 open reading frame (de Villiers et al., 2002). There are sixteen genotypes of papillomavirus categorised. The alpha and beta genotypes contain the largest number of associated papillomavirus. All human papillomavirus (HPV) have a special affinity for epithelial cells and infection persists in the dividing basal cells of the cutaneous or mucosal epithelium. The life cycle is closely linked to the differentiation status of epithelial cells. The small circular double-stranded DNA virus naturally exists episomally and has the ability to cause a wide range of lesions in humans (Table 1.1).

1.2 Diseases associated with HPV

There are over 120 types of papillomavirus that have been identified that can infect humans (de Villiers et al., 2004). Symptoms vary or may be absent. Some types result in benign wart like growths on the skin typical of HPV types 1 and 2 (Table 1.1). Flat warts caused by HPV5 are most commonly found on the arms, face or forehead. Abnormal immune function is associated with the development of a cancer called epidermodysplasia verruciformis (reviewed by Dubina & Goldenberg, 2009). Epidermodysplasia verruciformis (EV) is a rare chronic inherited disease believed to be associated with HPV and in particular types 5 and 8 (Majewski et al., 2002; Lane et al., 2003). Mutations in two related human genes, EVER1/TMC6 and EVER2/TMC8, are believed to result in a primary deficiency of intrinsic immunity against HPV types that would normally carry little oncogenic risk (Ramoz et al., 2002). HPV infections of the cutaneous epithelium are rarely fatal and carry a low oncogenic risk.

Over forty types of HPV infect the mucosal epithelial lining of the anogenital tract and other mucosal areas of the body. Mucosal epithelial infection is associated with a range of disease from benign anogenital warts to malignant carcinomas of the genital, oral or conjunctival mucosa. Of the types that infect the anogenital tract, two groups can be established based on the virus ability to cause malignancy. All of these types belong to the alpha genus (de Villiers et al., 2002). 'High-risk' (HR) sexually transmitted HPVs include types 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, 59 and 68 (Muñoz et al., 2003). They may lead to the development of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN), vulva intraepithelial neoplasia (VIN), penile intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN), and/or anal intraepithelial neoplasia (AIN). The association of HPV and cervical cancer was first suggested by zur Hausen in 1975 (zur Hausen et al., 1975). It is now widely accepted that HPV16 and 18 are the causative agent of around 70% cervical cancer cases (Muñoz et al., 2004).

The 'low-risk' (LR) HPV's include types 6, 11, 40, 42, 43, 44, 53, 54, 61, 72 and 73. Types 6 and 11 are the most common and are associated with 90% of genital warts and laryngeal papillomas (Gale et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1999; Gale, 2005; Gale & Zidar, 2006; Potocnik et al., 2007). Most HPV infections are cleared rapidly by the immune system and do not progress to cancer. Papillomas can form weeks to years after contact with HPV infected individual. Hosts that are asymptomatic may become unknown reservoirs of infection.

|--|

HPV strain	Cell-type	Disease	Oncogenic Risk
HPV1	Cutaneous epithelial	Common wartPlantar Wart	Low Low
HPV3	Cutaneous epithelial	• Flat wart	Low
HPV6/11	Mucosal epithelial	 Benign genital wart Recurrent respiratory papillomatosis 	Low High
HPV16	Mucosal epithelial	 Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia Cervical carcinoma Head and neck cancers 	High High High
HPV18	Mucosal epithelial	 Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia Cervical carcinoma Head and neck cancers 	High High High
HPV13/32	Mucosal epithelial	 Focal epithelial hyperplasia (Heck disease) 	Low
HPV5	Cutaneous epithelial	Epidermodysplasia verruciformis	High in immunocompromised host

Table 1.1 HPV type and associated diseases.Specific HPV types have been selected intable 1.1 to highlight the range of diseases the virus can cause in the human host.

1.3 Life cycle

HPV gains access to host cells through microabrasions in the epithelium. The target cell is the basal cells of the epithelium (Egawa, 2003; Schmitt et al., 1996). The basal layer consists of basal epithelial cells including the stem cells of the epithelium. To initiate infection the viral capsid proteins associate with the primary receptor, membrane associated heparan sulphate (Giroglou et al., 2001; Joyce et al., 1999). The nature of the precise membrane-associated secondary receptor is controversial but there is evidence supporting a role of α 6 integrin (Joyce et al., 1999; Yoon et al. 2001). Following attachment via L1 and L2, endocytosis has been shown to take many hours. The virus usually enters via clathrin coated pits or caveolar endocytosis depending on the type of papillomavirus (Smith et al., 2007; Hindmarsh et al., 2007).

After exit from the endosome, L2 protein transports viral DNA into the nucleus where a complex is formed with promyelocytic leukaemia protein (PML) bodies (Day et al., 1998). PML bodies enhance early transcription of the papillomavirus genes (Day et al., 2004). Also located within the nucleus are the host cell transcription/replication factors. The papillomavirus genome is compact and therefore the virus utilizes its host enzymes for its own transcription and replication requirements. The life cycle requires three different modes of viral DNA replication. The different modes are termed "establishment", "maintenance" and "amplification" (Reviewed in McBride, 2004). Expression of the E1 and E2 proteins results in viral replication so that the infected cell contains around 20-50 copies of the episome. After the initial amplification step, the viral genome must be maintained in the dividing basal cells to sustain a persistent infection. The virus exists episomally and replicates in synchrony with host cellular DNA (Evans et al., 2003).

The life cycle of HPV is strictly linked to the differentiation program of the host keratinocyte. Infection within the basal layer generates a pool of infected cells. As basal cells divide, a daughter cell is produced that harbours episomal viral DNA. This is a consequence of the E2 protein tethering the viral episome to chromatin during mitosis (Skiadopoulos & McBride, 1998; Oliveira et al., 2006). Post mitosis, one infected cell remains in the basal layer and the other migrates up through the suprabasal layers. The migrating cell begins a process of terminal differentiation. In an uninfected epithelium, the migrating cells exit the cell cycle. However papillomavirus infected cells remain mitotically active and they can undergo some differentiation. Amplificational (or vegetative) viral DNA replication permits viral genomes to be replicated to a high copy number destined to be packaged into the capsid to yield progeny virions (McBride, 2004). Some studies have reported that there is a switch in replication strategies of HPV in differentiated cells and that this partially explains the high copy plasmid number detected. The switch in replication mode is from bidirectional theta replication encountered in basal cells to a rolling circle mode in differentiating cells (Flores & Lambert, 1997; Rector et al., 2004).

4

Chapter 1: Introduction

Differentiated cells are withdrawn from the cell cycle therefore the virus relies on the proteins it encodes to maintain or induce a pseudo-S phase-like state in order to gain access to the cellular replication machinery. The E6 and E7 proteins modulate the cell cycle through associations with the tumour suppressors p53 and retinoblastoma (Rb) proteins respectively (reviewed by Howley, 2006). The E1^E4 and E5 proteins are also translated in a differentiation dependent manner. It has been shown that E1^E4 inhibits G₂ to M phase transition and that this arrest may play a role in creating an environment optimal for viral DNA replication (Davy et al., 2002; Davy et al., 2005). It has also been suggested that E5 contributes to cellular proliferation by cooperating with E7. E5 enhances E7-induced mitogenic response and this contributes to viral DNA synthesis (Bouvard et al., 1994).

The L1 and L2 capsid proteins undergo expression within the granular layer of the epithelium (Barksdale & Baker, 1993). Restricting the synthesis of the L1 and L2 antigens to the upper layers of the epithelium may aid viral evasion from the immune response. The capsid proteins assemble into the icosahedral capsid via assistance from chaperone proteins such as heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) (Chromy et al., 2003; Buck et al., 2005; Chromy et al., 2006). Karyopherins may play a role in papillomavirus capsid assembly (Bird et al., 2008). It is unknown whether encapsidation of the viral episome takes place during or after capsid formation. The E1^E4 protein then interacts with cellular keratin networks to assist viral egression. The nature of the epithelium allows the virion to spread through the shedding of outer most cell layers (Figure 1.1).





Figure 1.1 HPV life cycle within the epithelium. The different replication modes of the virus and where they take place within the layers of the epithelium are highlighted. The E1 and E2 proteins are expressed in the establishment and maintenance stages of the virus infection within the basal epithelial cells. Within the upper layers of the epithelium amplificational replication takes place which requires increased levels of E1 and E2 proteins. The E5, E6 and E7 oncoproteins and E1^E4 proteins are also expressed. Differentiated epithelial cells exit the cell cycle however these viral proteins create an environment that supports amplificational replication are expressed and form the viral capsid. Papillomavirus virions are released through natural sloughing of the epidermis.

1.4 HPV16 Genome

Off all the HPV types, HPV16 has the most defined association with malignancy. HPV16 DNA is not only detected in cancer of the cervix, but also in samples taken from oral and oropharyngeal cancer (reviewed in Marur et al., 2010). HPV16 has a 7.9kb circular double stranded DNA genome (Figure 1.2). The genome can be split into the three functional

regions. The first region is a non-coding regulatory region which is known as the Long Control Region (LCR) or Upstream Regulatory Region (URR). The LCR contains the sequences that are responsible for the regulation of HPV replication and transcription such as the p97 promoter (Desaintes & Demeret, 1996). The p97 promoter lies upstream of the HPV early oncogenes and is only functionally active in human keratinocytes (Cripe et al., 1990). The LCR also contains enhancer and silencer sequences as well as binding sites for cellular transcription factors and HPV proteins (Figure 1.2). Examples of the cellular transcription factors that can interact with the LCR include nuclear factor 1 (NF1), activator protein 1 (AP1), specificity protein 1 (Sp1) and transcription factor II domain (TFIID) (Chong et al., 1990; Chan et al., 1990; Gloss & Bernard, 1990; Chong et al., 1991; Tan et al., 2003). The viral origin of replication is also contained within this region. Off all HPV ORFs, the LCR contains the least homology between different sub-types of HPV.

The second region contains the ORF's for the 'Early' proteins E6, E7, E1, E2, E4 and E5 and occupies over 50% of the virus genome (Zheng & Baker, 2006). The proteins expressed from these genes are responsible for viral replication, transcription, evasion of immune detection, control of cell cycle and oncogenesis. The third region contains the 'Late' ORF's and codes for the L1 and L2 proteins. This region is responsible for the proteins that form the capsid of the virus. Directly after each coding region are the polyadenylation sites: early pA (pA_E) and late pA (pA_L). The pA_E is situated around nucleotide 4215 (Somberg & Swatch, 2010). There are three possible pA_L sites within the HPV16 genome situated at positions 7285, 7343 and 7680 (Kennedy et al., 1990) but only two are used (Milligan et al, 2007).

Figure 1.2



Figure 1.2 Map of the HPV16 genome. This diagram represents the main features of the HPV16 genomic map. The known viral promoters are highlighted including p97, p542, p670, p3397 and p4062. The HPV16 ORFs are represented by open boxes. The pA_E and pA_L and 850 base pair LCR/URR are also indicated. This figure has been modified from Somberg & Schwartz, 2010.

1.5 Transcription

Transcription involves the use of multiple promoters to create polycistronic RNA transcripts that are capable of encoding the viral proteins at the correct time and place throughout the differentiation-dependent life cycle (Hebner & Laimins, 2006). Multiple viral mRNA species are created from one DNA strand through alternative splicing and alternative polyadenylation (Oberg et al., 2005; Rush et al., 2005). In the initial stages of the HPV life cycle lower down in the epithelium layers, the early viral promoter is activated to express the viral E1, E2, E6 and E7 genes [Hummel et al., 1992; Ozbun et al., 1997). The multi-functional E2 protein interacts with four E2BSs in the long control region (LCR) of the HPV genome. E2 interaction results in either the activation (at low levels of E2) or repression (at high concentrations of E2) of E6 and E7 transcription from the early promoter (Bouvard et al., 1994; Steger& Corbach, 1997). E2 may repress the E6/E7 promoter by competing with cellular transcription factors or by preventing the assembly of a transcription complex on the viral chromatin (Demeret et al., 1994; Dong et al., 1994; Tan et al., 1994; Wu & Chiang, 2007).

Various promoters have been identified within the second region of HPV16 genome. A study has described the presence of a promoter in the HPV16 E6 ORF at nucleotide position 542 which controls the monocistronic expression of E7 (Glahder et al., 2003). As HPV-positive cells differentiate, the late promoters are activated in the upper layers of the epithelium leading to the expression of the late genes (Hebner & Laimins, 2006). The transcripts initiated at and around p670 have a coding potential for the late genes, E1^E4 protein and the E5 protein (Grassmann et al., 1996; Milligan et al., 2007). A promoter located within the E4 ORF has been identified (Doorbar et al., 1990; Milligan et al., 2007). This promoter in HPV31 has been shown to regulate late gene expression (Ozbun & Meyers, 1997). There is a promoter within the 3' end of the E5 ORF that has been suggested to have a role in the differentiation-dependent regulation of capsid protein expression (Geisen & Kahn, 1996; Milligan et al., 2007).

The change in viral transcription also involves host cell transcription factors. The cellular bromodomain protein (Brd4) interaction with E2 has been shown to be required for both E2 transcriptional activation and repression of the viral E6/E7 promoter (Schweiger et al., 2006; Nishimura et al., 2000; Goodwin et al., 1998). The CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein beta (C/EBP β) is a key transcription factor that provokes chromatin opening and the terminal differentiation of keratinocytes. Within the differentiating epithelium it has been shown to inhibit transcription from the early p97 promoter and stimulate the p670 driven transcription of the HPV16 late genes (Kukimoto et al., 2006).

1.6 HPV16 proteins

The process of the transcription and translation of HPV proteins is a complicated and a not yet fully understood process. Activation of multiple promoters and alternative splicing are vital in order to guarantee the correct translation of viral proteins required during different stages on the virus life cycle. The proteins that are expressed from the eight HPV ORF's can be grouped by the roles that they engage in the viral life cycle.

9

1.6.1 The Replication Proteins

The episomal HPV DNA is replicated to different levels depending on the differentiation status of the epithelial cell. To support PV DNA replication, the virus encodes two proteins; the replicative helicase E1 and the dimeric origin-binding protein E2. All other replication proteins and enzymes required for HPV replication are borrowed from the host cell replication machinery.

1.6.1.1 E1

The 68kDa E1 protein is an essential papillomavirus replication factor without which viral replication cannot take place (Sarver et al., 1984; Lusky & Botchan, 1985; Yang et al., 1991; Ustav & Stenlund, 1991). The E1 ORF retains the most conservation in sequence amongst the other papillomavirus ORF (Danos et al., 1983; Clertant & Seif 1984; Lusky & Fontaine, 1991; Campione-Piccardo et al., 1991). It is the viral helicase and belongs to the family of ATPases associated with diverse cellular activities (AAA+) helicases. The E1 helicase shares sequence homology and similar functional motifs with other AAA+ helicases including the Large T Antigen (LT) of SV40 virus (Park et al., 1994; Mansky et al., 1997). The E1 protein can be split into four domains; an N terminal domain, a DNA binding domain, an oligomerization domain and a helicase domain at the C terminal.

The DNA binding, oligomerization and helicase domains of E1 are essential to carry out HPV replication (Hughes & Romanos, 1993; Mendoza et al., 1995; Chen & Stenlund, 1998; Amin et al., 1999; Enemark et al., 2002). E1 alone possesses minimal DNA binding activity however in the presence of E2 the formation of E1-DNA complexes increases (Lu et al., 1993; Frattini & Laimins, 1994; Sun et al., 1996; Dixon et al., 2000). E2 is the viral helicase loading factor. The N terminal domain of E2 binds to the helicase domain of E1 and this facilitates E1 interaction with the E1BS within the viral origin of replication (Sarafi and McBride, 1995; Yasugi et al. 1997; Sedman et al., 1997) (Figure 1.3 (b)). The E1BS consist of an 18bp palindromic sequence that contains multiple overlapping ATTGTT recognition

sequences for the E1 protein (Holt et al., 1994; Chen and Stenlund, 2001; Titolo et al., 2003; Auster and Joshua-Tor, 2004). E1 binds to DNA as a dimer (Auster & Joshua-Tor, 2004). Three closely spaced E2BS that are in close proximity to the E1BS facilitate the interaction of the E2 dimers with the E1 dimer (Figure 1.3(a)). Together, they have been shown to induce a loop in the supercoiled viral DNA. The extra twist in the DNA creates torsional stress that is relieved by denaturing of the AT-rich sequence in the origin (Sim et al., 2008). The denatured viral DNA alpha helicase may aid the loading of the E1 proteins into a functional hexameric complex. In BPV1 it has been shown that once E1 is recruited to the origin the E2 dimers displace from E2BS that are proximal to the E1BS (Sanders & Stenlund, 1998). Distal E2BS may continue to act as a reservoir for E1 proteins until the formation of the dihexameric complex is complete.

E1 alone possesses a weak affinity for the viral origin. Studies in the Broker and Chow lab reveal an interaction between E1 and the chaperone proteins Heat Shock Protein 40 and 70 (HSP40/70) (Liu et al., 1998; Lin et al., 2002). Using electrophoretic mobility shift assays this group identified that HSP40 and HSP70 independently and additively enhanced E1 binding to the origin of replication. The HSP70 and E1 interaction resulted in E1 hexamer formation whereas HSP40 bound to E1 resulted in the formation of a dihexameric E1 complex. *In vitro*, HPV11 replication assays where HSP40/70 was also expressed show an increase in replicated origin plasmid DNA compared to extracts without the chaperones (Liu et al., 1998). Further investigations into the role of chaperone proteins on the formation of papillomavirus pre-replication complex found that E2 partially inhibits E1-mediated DNA origin unwinding. E2 is displaced from an E1-origin complex by the addition of HSP70 and results in an increase in DNA unwinding. These studies suggest that the HSPs play a role in the assembly and activation of the unwinding activity of the E1 replicative helicase.





Figure 1.3 Initiation of E1-E2 mediated replication. (a) Map of E1BS (green box) and E2BS (red boxes) within the HPV16 LCR. Part of the L1 and E6 ORF are also indicated on this figure. The distances are approximate and not to scale. (b) The E2 dimer binds to E2BSs within the viral origin. The N terminal domain of E2 then interacts with the C terminal of an E1 dimer. This interaction recruits E1 to E1BS. E2 is displaced, and the hexameric helicase is assembled. As a result the DNA melts, unwinds and viral replication can commence (Modified from Hickman & Dyda, 2005).

The viral helicase melts and unwinds the alpha helix structure of the viral DNA. In order to do this E1 has further activity as an ATPase. E1 hydrolyses adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and a free phosphate ion. The dephosphorylation releases energy which then drives the function of the helicase (Enemark & Joshua-Tor, 2006). The E1 complex can function on a variety of DNA substrates such as linear/circular single/double stranded DNA (Yang et al., 1993; Seo et al., 1993) but has a preference for 'tailed' DNA strands, like those seen at replication forks. Each helicase subunit contains a beta-hairpin that is projected into a central channel formed when the protein oligomerizes (Enemark & Joshua-Tor, 2006) (Figure 1.4). This structure is also conserved in Large T Antigen helicase complexes (Reviewed by Hickman & Dyda, 2005). The hairpin prises apart the DNA strands and makes contact with adjacent nucleotides in a sequential matter. Upon ATP hydrolysis each hexamer then translocates bidirectionally by feeding the DNA through the central channel with 3' to 5' polarity. This results in DNA unwinding and gives the cellular replication/transcription machinery access to the viral DNA.
Figure 1.4



Figure 1.4 Structure of the E1 hexameric helicase in complex with DNA and ADP. Ribbon representations of two E1 helicase hexamers viewed perpendicular (a) and parallel (b) to the channels. (a) The oligomerization domains form a rigid collar, located between the AAA+ domains in (a) and projected towards the reader in (b) The DNA in the central channel and the ADP molecules at subunit interfaces are depicted in stick representation. Each individual E1 oligomerization domain has been lettered from A-L. Images were prepared with Bobscript34 and Raster3D (Enemark & Joshua-Tor, 2006)

The N terminal domain of E1 spans approximately the first 200 amino acids (Abbate et al., 2004). Multiple mutagenesis studies using transient replication assays to study the HPV11 and BPV1 E1 proteins reveal that replication is greatly reduced when the N terminal domain is missing (Ferran & McBride, 1998; Sun et al., 1998; Amin et al., 2000). Therefore the N terminal domain enhances papillomavirus replication. Further studies have suggested that the N terminal domain is involved in the regulation of papillomavirus replication. E1 interacts with multiple cellular cyclin/cdks and this interaction requires an RXL motif. An RXL motif is a docking site on a protein that recruits cyclin-cdk complexes to facilitate the phosphorylation of close proximity Ser/Thr phosphorylation sites (Chen et al., 1996). The RXL motif is located within the N terminal domain of the E1 protein (Ma et al., 1999). There are four cdk phosphorylation sites within E1 and three of which lie in the N terminal domain. Studies on HPV11 E1 have shown that E1 is targeted by cyclins E/cdk at cdk phosphorylation sites and that mutations at the sites greatly reduce the efficiency of E1 and E2 mediated replication (Deng et al., 2004; Ma et al., 1998).

The N terminal domain contains a conserved nuclear export signal (NES) (Deng et al., 2004; Rosas-Acosta & Wilson 2008). The exact role cytoplasmic E1 plays in the viral life cycle is still unclear. Work from the Archambault laboratory investigated the phosphorylation of NES sites in regard to E1 cellular location. They used mutagenesis studies to show that two cyclin E/A-cdk 2 phosphorylation sites located in and close to the NES of HPV31 E1 are phosphorylated and this inhibits nuclear export of E1 (Fradet-Turcotte et al., 2010). Cyclin E/A-cdk2 kinases are required for S phase entry and cell cycle progress (Lees et al., 1992; Dulic et al., 1992). Therefore nuclear import and export of E1 may restrict HPV replication to that of S phase of the cell cycle.

E1 has also been shown to interact with chromatin remodelling complexes. This potentially alters nucleosome positioning and would allow for efficient procession of the replication fork or transcription of viral RNA transcripts. The N terminal of E1 can to bind to histone 1 (H1). H1 is a linker histone that binds to regions of DNA between nucleosomes therefore condensing the chromatin into a tightly ordered structure (Thoma et al., 1979). H1 bound to viral DNA was displaced by the E1 protein (Swindle & Engler, 1998). The removal of H1 suggests that E1 alters the structure of nucleosome at the viral

15

Chapter 1: Introduction

origin and this may be critical for recognition by the E1-E2 complex in order to initiate replication. E1 has also been associated with alterations of chromatin in other studies. The switching deficient/sucrose non-fermentable (SWI/SNF) protein complex alters the structure of chromatin in order to transcriptionally activate genes. SWI/SNF disrupts chromatin structure at promoters to allow increased access to the transcription machinery (Peterson & Herskowitz, 1992; Travers, 1992). HPV18 E1 has been shown to interact with SNF proteins (Inil/hSNF5) and a consequence of this is enhanced viral replication seen in transient replication assays (Lee et al., 1999). Therefore E1 may play a role in chromatin modifications by recruiting proteins that can alter chromatin structure potentially enhancing viral replication or transcription of the viral ORF's.

The HPV genome is small and therefore limited in its capacity to synthesis proteins capable of carrying out essential functions. Therefore HPV has evolved to hijacks the cellular replication machinery in order to mediate it own replication. In order to do this E1 interacts with a variety of host cellular replication proteins that are involved in eukaryotic DNA replication. These include DNA polymerase α primase (pol α -primase), replication protein A (RPA), topoisomerase 1 (topo 1) proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), replication factor C (RFC) and polymerase δ (pol δ). (Park et al., 1994; Conger et al., 1999; Loo & Melendy., 2004; Clower et al., 2006; Melendy et al., 1995; Podust et al., 1995). Polymerase α primase has been shown to interact with E1 protein from BPV1 and HPV6 and this interaction is essential for viral replication (Park et al., 1994). The amino terminal of E1 forms a complex with the p180 polymerase subunit and recruits the protein to the viral origin allowing viral replication during in vitro studies. Later work with HPV16 also shows an interaction between the N terminal of E1 with pol α -primase. The p68 subunit of polα-primase binds to amino acids 438-623 of HPV16 E1 and is competitive with E2 interaction (Masterson et al., 1998). These data support evidence of sequential interaction during the initiation of papillomavirus replication. The E1 protein of HPV11 interacts with the p180 and p70 subunits of pola-primase and is also essential for HPV replication. The p70 subunit competes with E2 for E1 interaction (Conger et al., 1999). Another protein that E1 recruits to the viral origin is the RPA. Work from Loo and Melendy has shown that BPV1 and HPV11 E1 interact with 70kDa subunit of RPA (Han et al., 1999; Loo & Melendy, 2004). Further studies from this group also identified the

interaction between BPV1 and HPV11 E1 and the topo 1 protein (Clower et al., 2006). An interaction within the N terminal DNA binding domain and C terminal helicase domain stimulates the activity of topol. The replication factors RPA, RFC, PCNA, pol α -primase and pol δ are essential for BPV1 E1 and E2 mediated replication during *in vitro* replication assays (Melendy et al., 1994). Further to this polymerase δ and RPA can efficiently cooperate with BPV1 E1 in virus replication studies (Podust et al., 1995). These studies highlight the dependence of papillomavirus for cellular replication factors in order to carry out viral replication.

1.6.2 E2

The E2 proteins of papillomavirus function as dimers within the virus life cycle. The structure of E2 is prototypic of a transcription factor as it is divided into 3 functional domains (reviewed in McBride et al., 1991) (Figure 1.5). The N terminal transactivation domain is well conserved and it is within this domain that the multi-functional E2 protein can regulate viral transcription and replication (McBride and Myers, 1997). The central hinge region varies in sequence size and is not well conserved across varying HPV types. Little is known about the functions of this region but it has been shown as having a role in E2 protein turnover and nuclear localisation (Lai et al., 1999; Penrose & McBride, 2000; Zou et al., 2000). The C terminal domain is important for dimerization of the E2 protein, DNA binding at 12bp palindromic sites, interaction with the viral helicase E1 and interaction with the transcriptional protein TBP (reviewed in McBride. 2008).

Figure 1.5



Figure 1.5 Structure of the E2 dimer. The three domains of E2 are highlighted. The N terminal domain is associated with the transactivation functions of the E2 dimer, and the C terminal domain is associated with DNA binding and E2 dimerization.

E2 is involved in the regulation of viral DNA replication through its association with E1. E2 interacts with DNA as a functional dimer at E2 binding sites within the viral LCR (Figure 1.6 (a)) (Mohr et al., 1990; Ustav & Stenlund, 1991; Ustav et al., 1991). The DNA binding domain of the E2 proteins forms a dimeric structure that positions two alpha helices to recognize and contact the E2 binding site (Hedge et al., 1992). The HPV16 E2 dimer interacts with 12bp palindromic sequences and has a high affinity for the DNA sequence: ACCGN₄CGGT (Bedrosian & Bastia, 1990). There are four E2BS within the HPV16 LCR that are used in functions such as viral replication, transcriptional regulation and viral genome partitioning. As mentioned in Chapter 1.6.1.1, the amino terminal domain of E2 recruits the ATP dependent viral helicase E1, via its C terminus, to the viral origin therefore initiating E1/E2-mediated HPV DNA replication (Masterson et al, 1998) (Figure 1.6 (b)). E2 interacts with E1 at arginine 454 in the helicase domain of E1 (Abbate et al., 2004). A mutation of the glutamic acid residue at position 39 of HPV16 E2 to alanine (E39A) disrupts its E1 interaction activity and its replication function without affecting its transcriptional function (Sakai et al., 1996; Kasukawa et al., 1998). E2 bound to E2BS loads the E1 helicase onto the E1BS and increases the specificity of E1 DNA binding. The E1.E2 interaction reveals specific DNA binding activity intrinsic to the E1 DNA binding domain (Stenlund, 2003). After E1 recognition of the origin E2 is displaced in an ATP dependent manner to facilitate the formation of the E1 dihexameric complex, therefore generating larger complexes that can modify the origin structure (Lusky et al., 1994; Hughes & Ramanos, 1993; Sedman & Stenlund, 1998). E2 also recruits cellular replication factors to the viral origin. The E2 protein from BPV1 interacts with RPA and this facilitates opening of closed DNA structures (Li & Botchan, 1993).







(b)



Figure 1.6 Functional interaction domains of the E2 dimer. (a)E2-DNA complex viewed from pdb file 2BOP. The BPV1 E2 (326-410) dimer (red/blue) is bound to its DNA target (grey) (Hedge et al., 1992). (b) Ribbon structure of two independent HPV16 E2 monomers are shown in blue and green. Side chains of glutamine 39 are highlighted in purple. This amino acid is essential for E2 interaction with E1 (modified from Anston et al., 2000).

The E2 protein can regulate viral gene transcription. The E2 gene can code for three E2 proteins that are the products of multiple transcription initiation sites and alternative splicing (Lambert et al., 1987; Vaillancourt et al., 1990; Sherman & Alloul, 1992). The full length E2 protein is called E2-Transactivator (E2-TA). Within the LCR the E2 dimer binds to the E2 specific enhancers (12bp palindromic sequence of ACCGNNNNCGGT). Several E2 dimers interact with the palindromic sequences in cooperation with cellular transcription factors such as p300, AP1 and NFK/1 factor (Gauthier et al., 1991; Kruppel et al., 2008) This allows E2 to regulate viral transcription. There is evidence of a complex interplay between E2 and cellular transcription factors within the LCR that indicates dosedependent regulation, i.e. at lower concentrations of E2, E6 and E7 viral transcription is stimulated from the p97 promoter and at higher levels of E2, transcription is repressed (Bouvard et al., 1994; Steger& Corbach, 1997). It is possible that at high concentrations, E2 sterically hinders the cellular transcription factors interaction at the viral promoter elements such as Sp1 binding sites and the TATA box (Cripe et al., 1987; Thierry and Yaniv, 1987). The areas within the transactivation domain required for transcriptional regulation are different from those required for replication. The E2 residues arginine 37 and isoleucine 73 within the N terminal section of the transactivation domain are important for transcriptional regulation (Sakai et al., 1995; Antson et al., 2000) (Figure 1.7). Mutations at these residues severely repress E2 transcriptional activation from E2 reporter plasmids. E2 has also been shown to regulate a number of cellular promoters. This allows the virus to express/downregulate cellular proteins that may be required during different stages of the virus life cycle. HPV18 E2 protein downregulates the cellular human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) by interacting with Sp1 (Lee et al., 2002). E2 interaction with Sp1 has been shown to transactivate p21 expression (Steger et al., 2002). HPV16 E2 transactivation domain can transactivate the alternative splicing factor/splicing factor 2 (ASF/ SF2) promoter (Mole at al., 2009).





Figure 1.7 Structure of the transactivation domain of E2. Stereo diagram showing the distribution of conserved residues within the HPV18 E2 monomer. Side chains of internal structural residues are shown in yellow, those in the interface between the two domains are shown in green and those exposed on the surface with are shown in aquamarine. The structure is overlaid with that of the backbone HPV18 E2 (blue). Highlighted are the residues essential for transcriptional activation (green circle) and E1 interaction (yellow circle). Image generated with BOBSCRIPT27 and Raster3D (modified from Anton, 2000).

At the basal layer of the epithelium, cell division results in one daughter cell remaining in the basal layer and one daughter cell migrating up to the suprabasal layers to begin the differentiating process. E2 ensures that viral episomes are distributed into both new daughter cells and therefore maintains a source of HPV DNA for persistent infection. To achieve this, E2 either interacts directly with the chromatin or indirectly through cellular factors that tether the viral genome to the cellular chromatin (Skiadopoulos and McBride, 1998; Zheng et al., 2005). E2 can bind to mitotic chromosomes through a direct proteinprotein interaction. The DNA binding domain binds to the E2BS within the viral LCR and tethers the viral genome to the condensed chromosomes via its transactivation domain (Bastien and McBride, 2000; Ilves et al., 1999).

The factors used by E2 to tether the viral chromatin during mitosis vary between papillomavirus type. For example HPV11 E2 has been shown to bind HPV origin plasmids directly to the mitotic spindle (Van Tine et al., 2004) (Dai et al, 2006). HPV8 E2 targets the short arms of acrocentric mitotic chromosomes, in particular the repeated ribosomal DNA genes (Poddar, 2009). Brd4 is a member of the BET family of double bromodomain proteins which interacts histones H3 and H4 and can bind to chromatin through mitosis (Florence and Faller, 2001; Dey et al., 2003). BPV1 E2 and HPV16 E2 have been shown to utilize Brd4 as an accessory factor in viral genome tethering and the complex on mitotic chromosomes (You et al 2004; Baxter et al 2005; Schweiger et al., 2006). Two highly conserved residues arginine 37 and isoleucine 73 in the N terminal section of the transactivation domain are critical for Brd4 binding (Baxter et al., 2005; McPhillips et al., 2006; Senechal et al., 2007). These residues are also essential for E2 transactivation function. The N terminal domains of the E2 dimer interact with two Brd4 peptides within the Brd4 C terminal (Abbate et al., 2006).

ChLR1, a DNA helicase that plays a role in sister chromatid cohesion, has been shown to interact with BPV E2 at early mitosis as a possible loading factor (Parish et al, 2006). E2 interacts with and co-localises with ChLR1, but only at early stages of mitosis. E2 protein that does not interact with ChLR1 cannot tether viral DNA to cellular chromatin. The viral genome is lost when ChLR1 expression is inhibited. Work carried out in this laboratory suggests that Topoisomerase binding protein 1 (TopBP1) could be the mitotic chromatin receptor for HPV16 E2 in late mitosis (Donaldson et al 2007). E2 was shown to associate with the mitotic spindle via co-localisation with TopBP1 suggesting that this protein could be the mitotic chromatin receptor for HPV16 E2. The E2 protein of HPV8 has been shown to interact with the pericentromeric region of mitotic chromosomes. The precise target is the ribosomal RNA gene loci that are situated on the short arms of acrocentric chromosomes (Oliveira et al., 2006; Poddar et al., 2008).

Asides from its roles in viral replication, viral genome partitioning at cell mitosis and regulation of viral gene expression, E2 also has a role in the regulation of cell proliferation and apoptosis. A characteristic of HPV-induced cervical cancer is the loss of episomal HPV DNA and integration of the HPV genome into that of the host cell (Cooper et al., 1991; Kristiansen et al., 1994; Alazawi et al., 2002; Peitsaro et al., 2002; Arias-Pulido et al., 2006; Pett et al., 2006). This integration often results in a loss of the E2 ORF leading to derepression of viral oncoprotein expression resulting in a growth advantage in the cells (Romanczuk et al., 1990; Romanczuk & Howley, 1992; Jeon et al., 1995). The E2 protein was first described as having apoptotic properties by an investigation of BPV1 E2 introduction into a range of cervical cancer cell lines. The presence of E2 was shown to inhibit cellular proliferation in HeLa (human epithelial carcinoma cell line containing HPV18 integrated DNA), C-4I (squamous cell carcinoma cell line of the cervix containing integrated HPV18 DNA), MS751 (squamous cell cervical carcinoma cell line containing HPV18 DNA) and HT-3 (HPV-negative p53 mutated cervical carcinoma cell line) (Hwang et al., 1992). Due to the use of HT-3 cells, this study also suggests that the E2 protein appears to exert a growth-inhibitory effect that is independent of its effects on HPV gene expression. A separate study has shown that cell lines containing episomal HPV31 DNA have a higher rate of apoptosis after long term interferon (IFN- β) treatment compared to HPV-negative cell lines. Induced E2 expression resulted in a significant increase in apoptotic cells compared to non-induced cells, therefore supporting evidence of E2 proapoptotic effects (Chang et al., 2002).

Other studies have been carried out investigating the effects of HR-HPV E2 on cell proliferation. Multiple studies by the Gaston group have focused on the role of HPV16 E2 and its pro-apoptotic properties (Sanchez-Perez et al., 1997; Webster et al., 2000; Parish

et al., 2006). Their work, focusing on p53 mediated apoptosis, shows that E2 induces apoptosis in both HPV-transformed and non HPV-transformed cell lines via two independent pathways. In non HPV-transformed cells, mutations in E2 that abrogate its interaction with p53 inhibit E2-induced apoptosis (Webster et al., 2000). In contrast, E2 mutants that do not interact with p53 do not inhibit E2 mediated cell apoptosis in HPV transformed cell lines (Parish et al., 2006). The results from HPV-transformed cell lines suggest that E2 regulates cell proliferation by interfering with the expression of the antiapoptotic viral proteins E6 and E7. The E6 and E7 proteins alter the cellular proliferation by negatively interfering with two regulatory proteins of the cell cycle, p53 and pRb (see Chapter 1.6.2.1 – 1.6.2.2). Investigations carried out in the Thierry lab on HPV18 show that E2 is able to cause apoptosis in Hela cells and has a negative effect of E6 and E7 transcription (Thierry & Howley, 1991; Desaintes el al., 1997; Desaintes et al., 1999). However, Saos-2 cells that are deficient in p53 function and are non HPV-transformed show that E2-mediated apoptosis is activated independently of viral functions, suggesting the use of the extrinsic apoptosis pathway (Demeret et al., 2003). Therefore the pathways with which E2 is able to activate apoptosis are still highly debatable and differences in results may be accountable to the type of papillomavirus used. Loss of E2 expression in cell lines containing integrated DNA most certainly contributes to cell immortality.

1.6.2 Oncoproteins

The association between HPV infection and cervical cancer was first reported three decades ago. It is widely accepted nowadays that HPVs are the causative agent of cervical cancer. Over 99% of cervical lesions and 40% of oral cancers are found to contain HPV DNA from 'high risk' strains of the virus (Walboomers et al., 1999; Parkin & Bray, 2006). The viral oncoproteins are well documented for their contribution in the development of cervical cancer. The E7 and E6 proteins support each other's function and have transforming capabilities. More recent work has also indicated a role for E5 protein in contributing towards cancer development.

1.6.2.1 E7

The 17kDa HPV16 E7 protein is located primarily in the nucleus. Within the amino terminal of E7, there is a conserved LXCXE motif. The motif is the site where E7 interacts with the Rb tumour suppressor protein and related family members p107 and p130 and targets them for degradation (Dyson et al., 1989; Munger et al., 1989). 'High risk' E7 proteins have been shown to bind with the Rb family members with much higher affinity than proteins from 'low risk' HPV's and this may contribute to their oncogenicity (Gage et al., 1990).

The Rb family of proteins control G₁-S phase transition of the cell cycle by regulating the activity of the E2F family of transcription factors (reviewed by Dyson, 1998). The eight members of the E2F family are involved in the regulation of transcription of genes involved in cell cycle progression, differentiation, mitosis and apoptosis. Therefore E2F binding sites are found in the promoters of genes involved in these functions. In non HPV infected cells, Rb proteins inhibit transcription of E2F dependent promoters by directly interacting with the E2F transactivation domain (reviewed by Harbour & Dean, 2000). In HPV infected cells however, the E7 protein disrupts Rb-E2F interaction by binding to Rb protein. This interaction results in the expression of E2F responsive genes such as cyclin A and cyclin E and consequently promotes premature S phase progression and DNA synthesis (Chellappan et al., 1992). The E7 and E2F-6 interaction therefore maintains an S phase environment that is required for amplificational replication in differentiating cells (McLaughlin-Drubin et al., 2008). The HR-HPV E7 also target Rb family members for degradation through ubiquitination (Boyer et al., 1996).

The expression of E7 has also been associated with abnormal chromosome numbers (Duensing & Münger, 2003a; Duensing & Münger, 2003b). E7 rapidly induces centrosome amplification by the formation of multiple immature centrioles from a single maternal centriole (Duensing et al., 2001; Duensing et al., 2007). Centrosome abnormalities have the potential to lead to genomic instability. Therefore E7 proteins from HR-HPVs, contribute to the development of cervical cancer through targeting members of the Rb

family for degradation, activating E2F transcription factors that drive the expression of S phase genes and inducing centrosome abnormalities in HPV infected cells.

1.6.2.2 E6

The previously described interaction between E7 and Rb family of proteins can lead to inhibited cell growth and apoptosis through the activation of p53 dependent pathways (Jones et al., 1997; Eichten et al., 2004). To counter this, HPV expresses the E6 protein. E6 interferes with p53 functions by multiple mechanisms. E6 recruits the E3-ubiquitin ligase E6 associated protein (E6AP) and results in ubiquitylation and consequential proteasomal degradation of p53 (Scheffner et al., 1993; Lechner & Laimins, 1994). E6 can also alter p53 function by decreasing its stability. The histone acetylases p300 and CREB binding protein (CBP) have been shown to increase p53 stability through acetylation. HPV16 E6 binds to p300 and CBP therefore inhibiting their ability to stabilise p53 (Patel et al., 1999; Zimmermann et al., 1999).

E6 contributes to cell immortalisation through the activation of telomerase. Telomerase enzyme is often activated in many cancers and is important for replicating the DNA sequences at the end of chromosomes. HPV16 E6 can activate the transcription of telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) and increases its protein levels by directly associating with the nuclear transcription factor X-123 (Katzenellenbogen et al., 2007).

E6 interferes with the effects of a number of growth inhibitory cytokines in order to regulate cellular proliferation. When the virus first enters the cell a potent inhibitor of keratinocyte proliferation, the tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α), is synthesised (Basile et al., 2001). Inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α activate the extrinsic apoptotic pathways such as those belonging to the TNF receptor family. Members of this family include TNFR-1, FAS and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL). HPV16 E6 inhibits TNF- α induced apoptosis by interacting with TNFR1 (Fillippova et al., 2002). This interaction inhibits the formation of the Death Inducing Cellular complex (DISC) resulting

in inhibition of apoptosis. HPV16 E6 also interacts with the Fas-associated death domain (FADD) and caspase-8, therefore protecting cells from Fas associated apoptosis (Fillippova et al., 2004; Garnett et al., 2006).

The human homologue of the *Drosophila* discs large tumour suppressor gene (hDlg) protein is a PDZ domain containing protein that is involved in the regulation of cell polarity and negative proliferation control. The HPV16 E6 protein has been shown to target hDlg for proteasomal degradation therefore enhancing morphological transformation of the cell (Gardiol et al. 1999; Watson et al., 2002). Prior to degradation mediated by E6, hDlg is phosphorylated by either Cdk1 or Cdk2 and a result of this is accumulation of hDlg in the cell nucleus. It is within the nucleus where hDlg encounters E6-induced degradation (Massimi et al., 2006; Narayan et al., 2009). E6 contributes to cell transformation through a number of mechanisms including targeting p53 and hDlg for degradation, activation of telomerase and preventing HPV induced cellular apoptosis.

1.6.2.3 E5

HPVs are known to cause long term persistent infections. Viral persistence is caused by a number of factors. The papillomavirus life cycle takes place exclusively in epithelial cells and therefore can go undetected by the immune cells of the dermis. Papillomavirus do not initiate an inflammatory response because they do not cause lysis of the host cell. Viral proteins inhibit activation of the host cell immune response. The hydrophobic membrane bound HPV E5 protein contributes to viral persistence by down-regulating the host cell immune defence. The Major Histocompatibility Complex class I (MHC class I) expression increases presentation of viral antigens to cytotoxic T cells. E5 protein down regulates MHC class I in HPV infected cells (Ashrafi et al., 2005; Campo et al., 2010). This is achieved by recruiting the MHC complex to the golgi apparatus as opposed to the cell surface where it would be recognised by CD8+ T cells (Ashrafi et al., 2006; Cortese et al., 2010). The accumulation of the MHC in the golgi is a consequence of E5 induced alkalinisation of the golgi membrane (Schapiro et al., 2000).

Malignant transformation by HPV can also be attributed to the E5 protein. The role of HPV16 E5 has been suggested mostly in early stage of cervical carcinogenesis. Evaluation of E5 expression levels by immunohistochemistry has shown that E5 is detectable in 80% of HPV infected low grade squamous intraepithelial lesions and that this percentage drops to around 60% in cervical carcinoma tissue (Chang et al., 2001). Further evidence supporting the role of E5 as a transforming protein is by its interaction with the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signalling pathway (Straight et al., 1993; Genther Williams et al., 2005; DiMaio & Mattoon, 2001). The downstream effects of EGFR are an increase in DNA synthesis and cell proliferation. Over expression of EGFR signalling has been correlated with a large number of cancers (reviewed in Zhang et al., 2007). E5 increases EGFR signalling by interfering with its degradation and by increasing the number of receptors expressed on the cell surface.

HPV16 E5 is capable of enhancing cell proliferation by interfering with tumour suppressor proteins p21 and p27. E5 proteins of HPV11 and HPV16 have been shown to repress p21 gene expression and this might be one of the mechanisms by which E5 stimulates cell proliferation (Tsao et al., 1996). The half life of p27 (Kip1) decreases in the presence of E5 favouring an S phase environment (Pedroza-Saavedra et al., 2010).

Resistance to apoptosis is a hallmark of many cancers. HPV16 E5 is reported to impair apoptotic pathways in HaCaT cells. E5 weakens FasL and TRAIL mediated apoptotic pathways by down regulating Fas expression involved in FasL signalling and altering the formation of the death-inducing signalling complex involved in TRAIL signalling (Kabsch & Alonso, 2002). Therefore, apart from its role in avoidance of the host immune surveillance, E5 is a potential oncogene through interaction with the EGFR, interfering with tumour suppressor protein expression and by inhibiting HPV activated apoptotic pathways.

28

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.6.3 Proteins expressed in the upper epithelial layers

1.6.3.1 E1^E4

The E4 protein is expressed from a spliced mRNA species as E1^E4. Spliced transcripts are formed between the N terminal of the E1 ORF and an almost complete E4 ORF (Nasseri et al., 1987). E1^E4 accumulates to high levels in the mid layers of the epithelium. The E1^E4 roles in the viral life cycle are a little unclear, however when this protein is lost it results in severe and adverse effects on viral genome amplification of HPV types 16, 18 and 31 (Nakahara et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2007). The cottontail rabbit papillomavirus, E1^E4 is essential for completion of the vegetative stage of the virus life cycle (Peh et al., 2004). Therefore one of the key roles for the E1^E4 protein in the upper epithelial layers appears to support vegetative replication.

E1^{E4} may be involved in vegetative replication by inhibiting mitotic progression and inducing DNA re-replication (Knight et al., 2004). Inhibiting cellular replication could allow for the recruitment of the cell replication factors to the viral origin of replication. In the presence of the replication licensing factor cdc6 the HPV1 E4 protein inhibits the initiation of cellular DNA replication. E4 blocks cellular replication by preventing the loading of Mcm2 and Mcm7 onto cellular chromatin (Roberts et al., 2008).

E1^{E4} has also been associated with having a fundamental role in viral egress. E1^{E4} diminishes the integrity of the keratinocyte by disrupting the keratin cytoskeleton and cornified envelope formation (Doorbar et al., 1991; Roberts et al., 1993; Bryan & Brown, 2000; McIntosh et al., 2010). E1^{E4} induces apoptosis through alteration of mitochondrial function (Raj et al., 2004). Therefore through breaking down the cell architecture, E1^{E4} expression in the upper layers of the epithelium is able to assist HPV capsid release.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.6.3.2 The capsid proteins: L1 & L2

The 55nm diameter HPV capsid is non-enveloped, has T=7 icosahedral symmetry and is formed from two HPV structural proteins, L1 and L2. Within the capsid is the 7.9kb circular genome that is associated with cellular histones to form chromatin like structures (Larsen et al., 1987; reviewed in Doorbar, 2005). There are 72 pentamers of L1 that make up the viral coat and they are associated with L2. The stoichiometry of L1:L2 in purified L1+L2 complexes is 5:1 indicating that a single molecule of L2 interacts with an L1 pentamer (Finnen et al., 2003) .The capsid proteins are essential for viral entry, and are only expressed in terminally differentiated keratinocytes demonstrating their role in capsid formation and egress (Barksdale & Baker, 1993).

The L1 protein is evolutionary conserved. Interaction between the viral capsid and the cell surface receptor relies primarily on L1. There has been speculation regarding what cell surface receptor L1 interacts with to fulfil capsid attachment to the cell. Glycosaminoglycans (GAG's) are the suggested initial attachment receptors, in particular heparin sulphate (Joyce et al. 1999; Giroglou et al., 2001; Combita et al., 2001; Drobni et al., 2003). Another potential candidate for L1 attachment is syndecan1. Heparin sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) are frequently located on cell surfaces and in the extracellular matrix. Syndecans are the predominant HSPG in epithelial cells. Syndecan1 may therefore serve as the primary attachment receptor due to its high expression level in epithelial cells (Sapp & Day, 2009; Shafti-Keramat et al., 2003).

L1 expressed alone is sufficient to produce synthetic papillomavirus particles. Formation of non-infectious viral like particles is highly immunogenic. This is why L1 is used as a preventive vaccination against HPV types. Two HPV vaccines are currently on the market: Gardasil and Cervarix (reviewed by Harper, 2009). Both vaccines protect against two HR-HPV types, 16 and 18. Gardasil also protects against the two LR-HPV types, 6 and 11.

HPV binding and entry into the host cell is complex and involves virus attachment to multiple receptors. The multifunctional L2 minor capsid protein is internally located within the capsid. Initial low specificity binding of the L1 major capsid with HSPG results in

a conformational change in the viral capsid and subsequent exposure of the L2 N terminal (Roden et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2003; Sapp & Day, 2009). L2 interacts with the C terminal domain of L1. Proteolytic cleavage of L2 N terminal domain by furin is essential for successful HPV infection (Day et al., 2008). The cleavage site is conserved amongst all papillomaviruses and it is otherwise inaccessible at the surface of the virion (Richards et al., 2006). The location of this essential cleavage site helps prevents an immune response against L2 (Sapp & Day, 2009). Furin cleavage of L2 results in an additional conformational change that exposes a site on L2 for a yet undetermined secondary receptor. Interaction with the secondary receptor facilitates the release of a L2/genome complex into the host cytosol via endocytosis.

Aside from its role in virion attachment and endocytosis, L2 is responsible for the nuclear import of the viral genome. L2 interacts with syntaxin 18 facilitating the movement of the viral genome to a perinuclear complex (Bossis et al., 2005; Richards et al., 2006). The amino terminal of L2 contains a nuclear localisation site (Fay et al., 2004; Bordeaux et al., 2006). L2 may therefore translocate the viral genome into the nucleus, exposing it to the cellular transcription and replication machinery. L2 also plays a role in viral DNA encapsidation using the HPV E2 proteins (Heino et al., 2000; Gu et al., 2004; Holmgren et al., 2005).

1.7 HPV episomal integration

Failure of the immune system to detect and clear high-risk HPV infections can result in the development of cancerous cells, a process that may take several decades. Episomal viral DNA can be detected in precancerous lesions. However DNA from the HR-HPV types 16 and 18 are frequently found integrated into host cell DNA in high grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (SIL) and squamous cell carcinomas (Cooper et al., 1991; Kristiansen et al., 1994; Alazawi et al., 2002; Peitsaro et al., 2002; Arias-Pulido et al., 2006; Pett et al., 2006). HPV integration often occurs in a naturally occurring region of genomic instability. Integration is an accidental but critical event in the development of carcinomas. In cervical malignancies, over half of HPV16-positive and nearly all of HPV18-positive malignancies contain integrated HPV genomes (reviewed in Pett & Coleman, 2007). There is also evidence of HPV16 integration in HPV-positive head and neck cancers. A study has found that 61% of head and neck cancers are HPV DNA positive. HPV16 was accountable for 84% of the malignancies and was found integrated in 50% of the samples (Koskinen et al., 2003). This supports evidence from other studies that have also detected integrated HPV DNA in HPV-positive head and neck cancer cells (Hafkamp et al., 2003). Other factors that must be taken into consideration are alcohol intake and whether the individual is a smoker, however this evidence suggests that head and neck cancers may also have viral integration aetiology.

In a HPV episomal infection, the E2 protein regulates the expression of the E6 and E7 oncoproteins. Viral integration normally results in loss of E2 expression and deregulated expression of the viral oncoproteins (Figure 1.8). Deregulated expression of E6 and E7 can contribute to cellular proliferation and transformation. Integration of HR-HPV DNA also correlates with a selective growth advantage of cells for clonal expansion (Jeon et al., 1995; Romanczuk & Howley, 1992; Romanczuk et al., 1990).



Figure 1.8 HPV episomal integration. In the course of cancer development the HPV episome frequently becomes integrated into host cell DNA. The episome is most often opened within the E2 ORF therefore the E2 gene is lost. E4, E5 and part of L2 ORF are often deleted after integration (partial genes are denoted by an asterisk). The E6 and E7 ORF are present and transcription is enhanced by flanking host-cell promoters (modified from zur Hausen, 2002).

Episomal HPV DNA is lost over time in HPV-integrated cells. However early on in malignant progression, episomal and integrated viral DNA exists within the host cell. It has been suggested that episomal E1 and E2 are able to stimulate viral replication from an integrated origin of replication. This would result in amplification of the integrated HPV origin and flanking sequences (Kadaja et al., 2009). A consequence of this replication may be local rearrangements within the DNA backbone (Figure 1.9). The theory of an 'onion skin' method of replication during S phase of the cell cycle would result in chromosomal abnormalities that could drive malignant progression. Replication of integrated HPV activates the DNA damage checkpoints which can cause chromosomal abnormalities through non homologous end joining (NHEJ) repair.

33

Figure 1.9



Figure 1.9 E1 and E2 expressed from episomal DNA can cause replication of integrated DNA. If the HPV episome is present in cells harbouring integrated HPV, DNA re-replication from the integrated HPV origin is initiated. The chromosomal abnormalities encountered may be further exasperated by 'onion skin' methods of replication (modified from Kadaja et al., 2009).

1.8 DNA replication and the cell cycle

The fundamental features and components of DNA replication are well conserved throughout evolution from viruses to mammals. Every cycling cell is required to duplicate its genome in a coordinated manner before it leaves the cell cycle and enters cytokinesis.

$1.8.1 \ G_1$

There are four stages of the cell cycle prior to cytokinesis. The G₁ phase is marked by synthesis of various enzymes that are required in S phase, mainly those needed for DNA replication. It is within this phase that the pre-replication complexes are formed (Figure 1.10). The DNA double helix must be opened to allow access of the components required to copy each strand. DNA is opened up at the origins of replication. The assembly of the prereplication complex (pre-RC) takes place at the origins (Kelly & Brown, 2000; Bell & Dutta, 2002). In eukaryotic cells the primary factor that initiates the formation of the pre-RC is the origin recognition complex (ORC) (reviewed in Méchali, 2010). The ORC is a heterohexamer with DNA dependent ATPase activity. The ORC then recruits cdc6 and CDT1. These proteins load the 'inactive' mini chromosome maintenance (MCM) complex onto the DNA strands (Cook et al., 2003). The MCM2-7 complex is a group of proteins that belong to the AAA+ ATPase family of proteins. Other members of this family include the HPV E1 protein and the SV40 Large T Antigen protein. The heterohexamer complex has DNA helicase activity and forms a ring around the origin. Once the helicase is bound to the DNA, the origin is deemed licensed for activation.

In order to activate origin firing, cellular factors including cdc45 protein, the GINS complex, Cdc7-DBf4, geminin and Cdk2 are recruited (Mailand & Diffley, 2005; Moyer et al., 2006; De Marco et al., 2009; Ilves et al., 2010; Balestrini et al., 2010) . The cdc6 and ORC become degraded. CDT1 is negatively regulated by Geminin in order to restrict origin firing to once per cell cycle. In the presence of geminin, CDT1 interaction with DNA is inhibited leading to the initiation of DNA replication.

35





Figure 1.10 Assembly of the pre-replication complex at DNA replication origins In eukaryotes, ORC directly recognizes an origin of replication. Cdc6 and CDT1 are then recruited to load the MCM2–7 complex onto the replication origin. Once the helicase is bound to the DNA, the origins are 'licensed' marking the end of pre-replication complex (preRC) assembly. CDT1 is a major regulator of this reaction, as it is negatively regulated by Geminin to restrict licensing to only once per cell cycle. The preRC is further activated by Cdc45, GINS complex, CDC7–DBF4 and Cdk2. As cells enter S phase, CDT1 is inactivated by both its release from the origin by Geminin and by its degradation. These events enable the association of the DNA polymerase machinery and MCM2–7 to travel ahead of the replication fork to open the double-stranded DNA and allow the synthesis of the complementary strand.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.8.2 S phase

The S phase of the cell cycle starts with the onset of DNA replication and continues until all chromosomes have been replicated. DNA replication takes place at an activated origin of replication. Replication of genomic DNA requires a number of factors (Figure 1.11). Briefly, the MCM2-7 complex unwinds the DNA double helix, the topoisomerase enzyme is recruited to remove DNA supercoiling ahead of the MCM2-7 helicase, RPA coats the single strands to prevent the DNA from re-annealing to itself and DNA primase synthesizes the short RNA primers for the initiation of complimentary DNA synthesis (Maniar et al., 1997; Iftode et al., 1999). Preventing the rebinding of the MCM complex to DNA is key to avoiding re-replication (Blow & Dutta, 2005). DNA polymerase delta and alpha (for the leading and lagging strand respectively) copy the DNA strands starting at the 3' end of the RNA primer and RNAse H degrades the RNA on the lagging strand. Okazaki fragments on the lagging are joined together by DNA ligase. At the core of the replication complex is the sliding clamp, PCNA (Sporbert et al., 2002; Sporbert et al., 2005). The clamp is loaded onto the separated DNA strands by the clamp loading complex, RFC. The sliding clamp helps hold this DNA polymerase onto the DNA as the DNA moves through the replication machinery





Figure 1.11 DNA replication fork. Two DNA polymerase molecules (delta and alpha) are active at the fork. Pol. δ produces the new DNA molecule on the leading strand, whereas Pol. α produces a series of short 'Okazaki DNA fragments' on the lagging strand. Both polymerases are anchored to their template by PCNA and RFC. MCM2-7 opens the DNA helix ahead of the replication fork. DNA topoisomerase aids DNA helix unwinding. Pol. α requires the action of a DNA primase. Single-stranded regions of DNA at the fork are coated with RPA that holds the DNA template strands open with their bases exposed (modified from Alberts, 2003).

1.8.3 G₂

 G_2 phase follows successful completion of chromosomal replication and is the last stage in interphase prior to cell entry into mitosis. Within this phase the cell undergoes a period of rapid growth and produces new proteins in preparation for mitosis. The G_2 phase can be considered as a safety gap during which the cell can ensure that the correct duplication of its DNA prior to entering mitosis.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.8.4 M phase

The completion of interphase allows the cell cycle to enter mitosis. M phase permits the equal segregation of the genome into two daughter cells. Mitosis occurs in different stages: prophase, prometaphase, metaphase, anaphase and telophase. As discussed previously, the E2 protein tethers the viral genome to the cell chromatin during mitosis.

1.8.5 Cytokinesis

The cytoplasm of a eukaryotic cell is divided to form two daughter cells. A contractile ring made up from myosin II and actin filaments forms in the middle of the cell at the cell cortex. Using the free energy released from ATP hydrolysis, myosin moves along the actin filaments (reviewed in Pollard & Wu, 2010). This causes the cell to pucker, a process called furrowing. The cleavage furrow begins to move inwards. Ingression continues until the process of abscission physically cleaves the cell into two and the process of cellular division is complete.

1.9 Regulation of the cell cycle

DNA checkpoint mechanisms have evolved that monitor the completion of cell cycle events. If DNA is damaged or DNA replication is blocked a signal transduction pathway is activated to maintain genome integrity. There are three regulatory checkpoints within interphase of the cell cycle: the G_1/S , intra-S and G_2/M (Abraham, 2001; Bartek & Lukas, 2003; Harper & Elledge, 2007). The G_1/S checkpoint determines whether the cell should divide, delay division, or enter a resting stage (G_0). The intra-S checkpoint will stall ongoing replication and initiation of late firing replication origins if DNA damage is detected during S phase. The G_2/M checkpoint ensures that DNA has been correctly duplicated prior to entry into mitosis. Signal transduction pathways consisting of many factors that are involved in checkpoint regulation (Harper & Elledge, 2007). These proteins include DNA damage sensors, amplifying mediators, transducers and effectors. Their ultimate goal is to arrest the cell cycle, activate transcription of the DNA repair machinery and repair the damaged DNA or activate apoptosis if damage is too severe (Table 1.2). In parallel to cell cycle arrest, checkpoint signalling mediates the recruitment of DNA repair proteins.

There are two major branches of the kinase signalling cascade that are vital to chromosome integrity. The ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) and ATM and Rad3-related (ATR) protein kinases are positioned at the apex of the DNA damage signal transduction pathway (Abraham, 2001; Harper & Elledge, 2007; Kastan & Bartek, 2004; Shiloh, 2003). Both of these proteins belong to a structurally unique family of serine-threonine kinases characterized by a C terminal catalytic motif containing a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase domain called PIKK proteins (phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-related kinase). The other member of this family is DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA-PK). Although ATM and ATR appear to phosphorylate many of the same cellular substrates, they are generally activated by distinct types of DNA damage.

Table 1.2

DNA Damage Response	Signal Transduction Protein
Sensors	RFC
	RPA
	PCNA
	9-1-1
	Pol alpha
	ТорВР1
Amplifying mediator	Rad9
	Claspin
Transducers	
Primary:	АТМ
	ATR
Secondary:	Chk2
	Chk1
Effector	Р53
	Cdc25
Targets	Cdks/cyclin complex

Table 1.2 Functional role of cellular factors involved in DNA damage signal transduction pathways.

1.9.1 ATM activation

The 370kDa ATM protein is activated in response to double strand DNA breaks. Activation requires the recruitment of the MRN (Mre11, Rad50, Nbs1) mediator complex and phosphorylated H2AX histone (Fernandez-Capetillo et al., 2004; Celeste et al., 2003). Together they act as a signal amplifier that can recruit other factors to the dsDNA lesion. Nbs1 of the MRN complex is responsible for ATM activation. Under normal cellular conditions ATM exists as a multimer. Upon DNA damage, the protein dissociates into

active monomers (Bakkenist et al., 2003). ATM activation is regulated by post translational modifications. ATM has been shown to be phosphorylated at S1981 in response to damage sourced from ionizing radiation (IR). Separate studies have also found that ATM is acetylated at lysine 3016 in response to IR and this is essential for its activation (Sun et al., 2005; Sun et al., 2007). Activated ATM phosphorylates the variant histone H2AX at S139 to synthesise γH2AX (Harper & Elledge, 2007; Fernandez-Capetillo et al., 2004). This phosphorylation facilitates γH2AX interaction with the BRCT motif of the mediator of DNA damage checkpoint 1 protein (MDC1). In return, ATM phosphorylates MDC1, promoting tighter binding of the MRN complex and ATM at the site of the double strand break.

1.9.2 ATR activation

The 317kDa ATR protein is a serine/threonine-specific kinase that is involved in sensing DNA damage and activating the DNA damage checkpoint resulting in a cell cycle arrest. ATR is activated in response to persistent single-stranded DNA. Single strand DNA breaks are commonly formed during DNA damage detection and repair. Should the replication fork stall during DNA synthesis, the MCM helicase continues to unwind the DNA template upstream of the replication fork. This exposes single stranded DNA (ssDNA) coated with RPA. RPA acts as a sensor to DNA damage (Byun et al., 2005). It recruits ATR to stalled replication forks through a direct interaction with ATR Interacting Protein (ATRIP) (Zou & Elledge, 2003). ATRIP regulates the localization of ATR to stretches of RPA coated ssDNA at stalled replication forks. ATRIP is also essential for ATR signalling (Cortez et al., 2001; Zou & Elledge, 2003; Ball & Cortez, 2005).

The precise method for ATR activation however involves not only ATR-ATRIP complex but also a DNA associated complex involving Rad9-Rad1-Hus1 (9-1-1) complex and TopBP1 (Kumangai et al., 2006; Majka et al., 2006; Mordes et al., 2008; Lee & Dunphy 2010). The 9-1-1 complex serves as a heterotrimeric clamp that encircles DNA in a similar manner to PCNA. The complex is loaded onto DNA by a clamp loader consisting of Rad17 and four subunits of RFC. TopBP1 is then recruited in a phosphorylation dependent manner (Parrilla-Castellar et al., 2004). As a result, the 9-1-1 complex facilitates the interaction between TopBP1 and the ATR-ATRIP complex. TopBP1 belongs to a family of evolutionary conserved proteins containing multiple BRCT domains which interact with phosphoproteins (Manke et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2003). TopBP1 contains a region between the sixth and seventh BRCT domains called the ATR Activation Domain (AAD). When TopBP1 interacts with ATR-ATRIP, it activates ATR kinase activity (Kumagai et al., 2006; Mordes et al., 2008).

The polymerase alpha protein also has a role in sensing stalled replication forks and activation of ATR (Muzi-Falconi et al., 2003; Michael et al., 2000). The DNA structure that the Rad17-RFC clamp recognises is an RPA coated 5'DNA single strand. Polymerase alpha can synthesis primers that produce the 5'DNA substrates and therefore may have a direct role in the recruitment of the 9-1-1 complex to stalled replication forks. Polymerase alpha has also been shown to accumulate on DNA at stalled replication forks to levels in excess over what is observed during normal DNA replication. TopBP1 depletion is shown to inhibit the hyper loading of polymerase alpha at these sites on the chromatin (Yan et al., 2009). Therefore TopBP1 may have a role in recruiting polymerase alpha to stalled replication forks.

ATM, ATR kinases belong to a series of primary transducers that can activate secondary kinases or directly target effector proteins. Two well known secondary signal transducer include Chk1 and Chk2.

1.9.3 Chk2

The checkpoint kinase 2 protein (Chk2) is a common target of ATM and DNA-PK. Chk2 exists as inactive monomers in unperturbed cells. Oligomerization of Chk2 during DNA damage is believed to increase the protein kinase activity (Ahn et al., 2004). In the presence of DNA damage, Chk2 undergoes multiple intermolecular phosphorylations. ATM phosphorylates Chk2 in a serine/threonine cluster at threonine 68 in response to IR treatment. Active Chk2 phosphorylates p53 at Serine20 and blocks p53-MDM2

interaction consequently stabilizing p53. Similarly, BRCA1 phosphorylates p53 efficiently at serine 15 after activation by ATM (Schwarz et al., 2003; Melchionna et al., 2000; Ahn et al., 2000).

1.9.4 Chk1

The Chk1 kinase is one of the best studied ATR substrates. Its activation by ATR-mediated phosphorylation requires the presence of the mediator protein claspin (Kumagai A, Dunphy, 2000; Kumagai et al., 2004; Liu, 2006). Phosphorylation of Chk1 by ATR takes place at serine residues 317 and 345 and results in a marked increase in kinase activity (Zhao & Piwnica-Worms, 2001).

1.9.5 Direct targets of ATR/ATM

The effector kinases are so named due to the effect they produce on the cell. These effects include DNA replication inhibition, recruitment of the DNA repair machinery or apoptosis. Active ATM phosphorylates downstream targets including p53, MDM2, BRCA1, and 53BP1. The p53 protein is stabilized and activated after being phosphorylated on multiple serine residues. Phosphorylation at serine 9 and serine 15 inhibits binding to MDM2. Phosphorylation at serine 20 and 46 has important consequences for apoptotic activity. ATM-mediated phosphorylation of MDM2, a negative regulator of the p53 tumour suppressor, increases MDM2 auto-ubiquitination. ATR has been implicated in the late phosphorylation of p53 at serine 15 after treatment with IR (Shiloh, 2001).

1.10 Cdc25 Phosphatases

The ATR/Chk1 and ATM/Chk2 pathways converge to inactivate members of the Cdc25 family of phosphatases (Donzelli & Draetta, 2003). The ability of cells to divide is mainly attributed to the presence of two classes of molecules, a family of serine/threonine kinases called the cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks) and their binding partners the cyclins.

Cdks are highly conserved and become activated once associated with their regulatory cyclin subunits (Nurse, 2000). Cdk-cyclin complexes vary and are activated at different stages within the cell cycle (Table 1.3)

Table 1.3

Cdk	Cyclin Partner	Activation Phase
Cdk3	cyclin C	G ₀ /G1
Cdk4	cyclin D	mid-late G1
Cdk2	cyclin E	
Cdk2	cyclin A	S phase
Cdk1	cyclin A	late G2-mitosis
Cdk2	cyclin B	

Table 1.3 Regulatory partners of Cdk kinases (Sherr, 2000; Sage, 2004).

Cdk activity during the cell cycle is tightly controlled in order to ensure the integrity of DNA sequence and coordination of mitotic events. The regulation of Cdks is, in part, controlled by a family of proteins called the cell-division cycle 25 (Cdc25). Cdc25 phosphatases are conserved amongst all eukaryotic cells. In mammalian cells there are three Cdc25 genes (Cdc25A/B/C) (Galaktionov & Beach, 1991; Sadhu et al., 1990; Nagata et al., 1991). In unperturbed cells, Cdc25B activates the Cdk1/cyclin B complex at the centrosome therefore initiating mitosis (Jackman et al., 2003). The G₁/S phase transition is predominantly controlled by Cdc25A. Cdc25A is activated prior to S phase initiation and a result of this is activation of the Cdk2/cyclin E complex (Jinno et al., 1994; Blomberg & Hoffmann, 1999). During S phase, Cdc25A also activates the Cdk2/cyclin A complex driving the synthesis of DNA replication.

In response to damaged DNA, Chk1 and Chk2 delay cell cycle progression by targeting and inhibiting the Cdc25 proteins (Donzelli M, Draetta, 2003). Cdc25A is a critical substrate for activated Chk1 and Chk2. Chk1 phosphorylates Cdc25A at serine 76,124,178,279,293 and threonine 507. Chk2 protein also phosphorylates Cdc25A at serine 124, 178,279 and 293

(reviewed in Kiyokawa & Ray, 2008). Chk1Phosphorylation of Cdc25A at serine 76 serves as an initiation event to promote subsequent Cdc25A phosphorylation at serines 82 and 88. This subsequent phosphorylation facilitates the recognition of β TrCP ubiquitin ligase complex (Busino et al., 2003). Polyubiquitnated Cdc25A is then recruited to the proteosome for degradation thus arresting the cell cycle (Jin et al., 2003).

Cdc25B and C also undergo similar phosphorylation by Chk1 and Chk2. During interphase of the cell cycle, Chk1 negatively regulates Cdc25B and therefore prevents mitotic entry (Kramer et al., 2004; Loffler et al., 2006). Chk2 phosphorylates Cdc25C at serine 216 and assists binding with the 14-3-3 complex. Interaction with the 14-3-3 complex consequently sequesters Cdc25C to the cytoplasm therefore hindering cell cycle progression (Kiyokawa & Ray, 2008).

1.11 DNA repair - double stranded breaks

Double-strand breaks are hazardous to the cell. If left unrepaired they can lead to a loss of heterozygosity, mutations, deletions, genomic rearrangements and chromosome loss. These factors contribute to cancer and genetic disease. Mechanisms exist to repair double-strand breaks (DSBs) including non-homologous end joining (NHEJ), and homologous recombination (HR).

1.11.1 Non homologous end joining

Non homologous end joining is referred to as "non-homologous" because the break ends are directly ligated without the need for a homologous template. In contrast, homologous recombination requires a homologous sequence to guide repair. A DSB within the DNA is recognized by the Ku dimer (Ku70–Ku80). The two DNA ends are brought together by DNA-PKcs. DNA-PKcs/MRN and Artemis are phosphorylated, and the DNA ends are processed by a protein complex consisting of XLF, XRCC4 and DNA ligase IV (reviewed in Lieber et al., 2010). The DNA ends are ligated by DNA ligase IV, and the DNA-repair factors dissociate (Figure 1.12). Major themes of NHEJ include flexibility in handling diverse DNA end configurations by the nuclease, polymerase, and ligase activities and also repetitive processing of each DNA end (Lieber et al., 2010).

HPV DNA integration into that of the host genome is believed to occur through HNEJ. Studies into the pathogenic role of genomic integration of HPV16, HPV18 and HPV31 genomes have analysed integration sites in anogenital precancerous and cancerous lesions. At many integration sites, a short overlap between HPV and genomic sequences is observed. These data suggests that the integration of HPV genomes is mediated by HNEJ (Ziegert et al., 2003).





Figure 1.12 DNA damage repair: NHEJ. A DSB is recognized by the Ku dimer (Ku70–Ku80) and DNA-PKcs. The two DNA ends are then bridged together. DNA-PKcs and Artemis become phosphorylated and this results in the formation of the ligase complex (XRCC4-like complex, XRCC4, DNA ligase IV and Artemis). Upon activation, the DNA ends are ligated by DNA ligase IV, and the DNA-repair factors dissociate (modified from Downs et al., 2007).

1.11.2 Homologous recombination

Homologous recombination (HR) repairs DNA breaks without loss of genetic information (reviewed in van den Bosch et al., 2002). Homologous recombination uses a homologous DNA template and is therefore highly accurate (whereas NHEJ rejoins the broken ends without using a template and is often accompanied by loss of some nucleotides).

1.12 DNA repair – single stranded breaks

When only one of the two strands of a double helix encounters a DNA break, the undamaged strand can be used as a template to guide the correction of the damaged strand. A number of excision repair mechanisms that remove the damaged nucleotide and replace it with an undamaged nucleotide complementary to that found in the undamaged DNA strand exist.

1.12.1 Mismatch repair

The main role of mismatch repair (MMR) is to remove base mismatches and small insertion/deletion loops (IDLs) that can sometimes occur during replication. Most knowledge of MMR stems from research carried out in Escherichia coli (*E.coli*) (reviewed in Kolodner, 1996). The main proteins involved in *E.coli* MMR are MutS, MutL and MutH (Modrich, 1991).

1.12.2 Nucleotide excision repair

Nucleotide excision repair (NER) is the most flexible of the DNA repair pathways due to the diversity of DNA lesions it acts upon. These include pyrimidine dimers, bulky chemical adducts, DNA intrastrand crosslinks and forms of oxidative damage. The NER process requires the action of damage recognition, opening of the DNA helicase around the lesion, dual incision of the damaged strand, gap repair synthesis, and strand ligation. There two distinct forms of NER. Global genomic NER (GG-NER) repairs damage at transcriptionaly silent parts of the genome and transcription coupled NER (TC-NER), repairs damage at transcriptionaly active genes (reviewed in Schuck et al., 2008).
1.12.3 Base excision repair

The base excision repair (BER) is the main cellular defence pathway against endogenous DNA damage. The rate of endogenous DNA damage is estimated to be at least 20,000 lesions per cell per day (Lindahl, 1993; Sung & Demple, 2006). The BER pathway is activated in response to damage including abasic sites, oxidative lesions, alkylated and alternative bases. There are two major BER repair pathways: short and long patch repair (Klungland & Lindahl, 1997; McCullough et al., 1999; Matsumotoet al., 1999).

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.13 Research Aims

DNA from the high risk HPVs 16/18 is frequently found integrated into host cell DNA in high grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (SIL) and squamous cell carcinomas (Cooper et al., 1991; Kristiansen et al., 1994; Alazawi et al., 2002; Peitsaro et al., 2002; Arias-Pulido et al., 2006; Pett et al., 2006). In cervical malignancies, over half of HPV16-positive and nearly all of HPV18-positive malignancies contain integrated HPV genomes (reviewed in Pett & Coleman, 2007). Factors that may promote integration include viral replication during DNA damage. Replication of the HPV episome will create substrates for NHEJ and this may promote HPV integration.

E2 is a multifunctional protein and it is involved in viral replication, transcription regulation and long term maintenance of the viral episome. Factors that promote E2's stability will affect the virus life cycle and may reveal antiviral therapeutic targets. The rate at which HPV DNA is replicated varies as part of the viral life cycle. Vegetative replication, where viral genomes are amplified to a high copy number, is triggered in differentiated epithelial cells. This may be due to an increase in the levels of the viral replication proteins. The levels of BPV1 E2 protein is greatly increased in BPV1 cells that undergo spontaneous amplification of the viral genome suggesting that increased E2 protein levels may account for amplificational replication (Burnett et al., 1990; Penrose and McBride, 2000). The E1 and E2 proteins are known to interact during the viral life cycle however the consequences of this interaction on E2 stability and function remains controversial.

The activation of DNA damage pathways is well described in the literature however the downstream target proteins at the replication fork are not as well defined. There is some evidence to suggest that the MCM2-7 cellular helicase is phosphorylated by the DNA damage response (Cortez et al., 2004; Ishimi et al., 2003a). SV40 DNA replication control mimics that of cellular DNA replication (Miao et al., 2003). The LTAg protein forms a dihexameric complex that is able to replicate the SV40 origin in a bidirectional manner

similar to the MCM2-7 and E1 helicase complexes. Therefore SV40 DNA replication is often used as a model for eukaryotic DNA replication.

Based on this knowledge, the following hypotheses were made:

- A factor that may promote HPV integration is the ability of HPV E1 and E2 mediated DNA replication to go unregulated by the DNA damage response pathways
- The SV40 LTAg viral helicase is targeted by an activated DNA damage response
- The interaction between the HPV E2 and E1 proteins will alter E2 protein stability and function.

This thesis has three main aims:

(i) To assess HPV E1/E2 mediated replication in the presence of DNA damage and an activated cellular DNA damage response.

This was investigated using transient *in vivo* replication assays. E1 and E2 expressed from transfected plasmids were used to study the replication of HPV origin plasmids in the presence and absence of DNA damaging agents.

(ii) To identify the downstream targets of the DNA damage response pathways.

This aim was investigated using the SV40 Large T Antigen viral helicase as a model for eukaryotic DNA replication. The phosphorylation of the viral helicase by ATR/ATM during DNA damage was studied using co-immunoprecipitation techniques. An antibody that detects phosphorylated targets of ATR and ATM was used to identify LTAg pulldown during an activated DNA damage response indicating that this protein is being targeted by the DNA damage response pathways. (iii) To assess the regulatory and functional consequences of the E1.E2 interaction.

This was examined using a plasmid that expressed wild type HPV16 E2 and a plasmid that expressed an E2 mutant that did not interact with E1. The stability of the E2 protein was measured by calculating protein half life in the presence and absence of an E1 expressing plasmid. The transcriptional function of E2 was also assessed in the presence and absence of an E1 expressing plasmid using an E2 responsive reporter plasmid containing six E2 binding sites. For all experiments the E2 wild type protein was compared to E2 mutant that did not interact with E1.

Chapter 2 – Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Antibodies

Abcam plc. (Cambridge, United Kingdom)

Rabbit polyclonal to ATR Catalogue Number: ab10312 Rabbit monoclonal to Chk1 Catalogue Number: ab40866

Covance Inc. (Princeton, USA)

HA.11 Clone 16B12 Monoclonal Antibody Catalogue Number: MMS-101R

Dr. Merilyn Hibma (University of Otago, New Zealand)

The TVG 261, Human Papilloma Virus-16 early protein 2 (HPV16-E2) Antibody was a kind gift from Dr. Merilyn Hibma (University of Otago)

Dr. Thomas Melendy (University of Buffalo, USA)

pAb101, SV40 Large T Antigen Monoclonal Antibody was a kind gift from Dr. Thomas Melendy (University of Buffalo). The pAb101 recognizes a C terminal epitope within the last 190 amino acids of LTAg.

pAb419, SV40 Large T Antigen Monoclonal Antibody was a kind gift from Dr. Thomas Melendy (University of Buffalo). The epitope is contained between amino acids 1 and 82 of LTAg.

New England Biolabs Ltd. (Herts, United Kingdom)

Phospho-Chk1/2 Antibody Sampler Kit Catalogue Number: 9931 Phospho-(Ser/Thr) ATM/ATR Substrate Antibody) Catalogue Number: 2851

Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd. (Dorset, United Kingdom)

Anti-Mouse IgG (whole molecule) - peroxidase antibody produced in goat Catalogue Number: A4416 Anti-Rabbit IgG (whole molecule) peroxidase developed in goat Catalogue Number: A6154 GTU-88, Monoclonal Anti-γ-Tubulin antibody produced in mouse Catalogue Number: T6557

TopBP1 Antibody

TopBP1 polyclonal antibody R1180 against amino acids 861-1287 was raised in a rabbit, method of preparation of the antibody and the preimmune have been described previously (Boner et al 2002).

2.1.2 Bacteriology

Bibby Sterlin Ltd (Staffordshire, United Kingdom)

90mm bacteriology petri dishes - Catalogue Number: 502014

Invitrogen Ltd. (Paisley, United Kingdom)

S.O.C. medium - Catalogue Number: 15544-034

Subcloning efficiency DH5α competent cells - Catalogue Number: 18265-017

Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd. (Dorset, United Kingdom)

Ampicillin - Catalogue Number: 10047

LB-Agar- Catalogue Number: L2897

LB-Broth -Catalogue Number: L3022

2.1.3 Cell lines

C33A cells are derived from a HPV negative cervical carcinoma and are defective for both p53 and Rb function.

Human Embryonic Kidney 293 (293) are a specific cell line originally derived from human embryonic kidney cells grown in tissue culture

Human Embryonic Kidney 293T (HEK293T) derived from the 293 cell line in which the SV40 T-antigen was inserted.

2.1.4 Chemicals

Amersham International PLC (Buckinghamshire, United Kingdom)

Enhanced chemiluminescence (ECLplus) detection substrate - Catalogue Number: PRPN2132 Hyperfilm X-ray film - Catalogue Number: 93184

Applied Biosystems (Warrington, United Kingdom)

Hi-Di[™] Formamide - Catalogue Number: 4336697

Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd. (Hertfordshire, United Kingdom)

Bio-Rad protein assay dye (Bradford) reagent concentrate (5X) – Catalogue Number: 500-0006

Merck Chemicals Ltd. (Nottingham, United Kingdom)

Carbobenzoxy-L-leucyl-L-leucyl-L-leucinal (MG-132) – Catalogue Number: 474791 3,8-Diamino-5-[3-(diethylmethylammonio)propyl]-6-phenylphenanthridiniumdiiodide (Propidium Iodide) – Catalogue Number: JA1654

Roche Biosystems (Basel, Switzerland)

Complete protease inhibitor cocktail tablets - Catalogue Number: 04 693 159 001

Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd. (Dorset, United Kingdom)

3,8-Diamino-5-[3-(diethylmethylammonio)propyl]-6-phenylphenanthridinium diiodide (Propidium Iodide) – Catalogue Number: 81845 3-Hydroxy-4-(2-sulfo-4-[4-sulfophenylazo] phenylazo)-2, 7-naphthalenedisulfonic acid sodium salt (Ponceau S) - Catalogue Number: P7170 4-(2-Hydroxyethyl) piperazine-1-ethanesulfonic acid (HEPES) - Catalogue Number: H4034 4'-Demethylepipodophyllotoxin 9-(4,6-O-ethylidene- β -D-glucopyranoside) (Etoposide) – Catalogue Number: E1383 Acetic acid sodium salt (Sodium acetate) - Catalogue Number: S2889 Aphidicolin – Catalogue Number: A0781 Bovine serum albumin protein standard - Catalogue Number: P0834 Caffeine 99% tissue culture grade - Catalogue Number: C8960 Calcium chloride solution, 1M - Catalogue Number: 21115 Camptothecin – Catalogue Number: C9911 Cycloheximide - Catalogue Number: C4859 D-(+)-Glucose (Dextrose) - Catalogue Number: G8270 Magnesium chloride (MgCl2) anhydrous beads - Catalogue Number: 449172 Nonident P-40 (NP40) - Catalogue Number: 18896 Phenol: chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) - Catalogue Number: P3803 Phosphate buffered saline - Catalogue Number: P4417 Potassium chloride - Catalogue Number: P3911 Propan-2-ol (Isopropanol) - Catalogue Number: 24137 Ribonuclease 3'- pyrimidinooligonucleotidohydrolase (Ribonuclease A) – Catalogue Number: R4642

Sodium chloride - Catalogue Number: S7653 Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) AnalaR[®] - Catalogue Number: L4509 Tris base (2-Amino-2-(hydroxymethyl)-1, 3-propanediol) - Catalogue Number: T6066 Tween 20 (polyoxethylene sorbitan nonolaurate) - Catalogue Number: P1379

University of Glasgow (University of Glasgow Stores)

Crude Ethanol Crude Methanol

VWR International Ltd. (Leicestershire, UK)

Absolute 99.7-100% AnalaR[®] ethanol - Catalogue Number: 10107EP Acetic acid AnalaR[®] - Catalogue Number: 10001CU Crystal Violet - Catalogue Number: 340245L Disodium hydrogen phosphate (Na₂HPO₄) AnalaR[®] - Catalogue Number: 102494C Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) - Catalogue Number: 8029122500 Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) AnalaR[®] - Catalogue Number: 100938B Hydrochloric acid - Catalogue Number: 101254H Methanol AnalaR[®] - Catalogue Number: 10158FK Sodium Hydroxide Pellets AnalaR - Catalogue Number: 102527R

2.1.5 Enzymes

New England Biolabs Ltd. (Herts, United Kingdom)

Dpnl – Catalogue Number: R0176L Exonuclease III (*E.coli*) - Catalogue Number: M0206L

2.1.6 Kits

Applied Biosystems (Warrington, United Kingdom)

ABI Prism[®] BigDye[®]Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kits – Catalogue Number: 4337436 DNA-*free*[™] - Catalogue Number: AM1906 RNaseZap - Catalogue Number: AM9780

Invitrogen Ltd. (Paisley, United Kingdom)

NuPAGE® 4-12% Bis-Tris 10 well 1.0 mm gels - Catalogue Number: NP0321 NuPAGE® 4-12% Bis-Tris 12 well 1.0 mm gels - Catalogue Number: NP0322 NuPAGE® Antioxidant - Catalogue Number: NP0005 NuPAGE® *LDS* Sample Buffer – Catalogue Number: NP0007 NuPAGE® MES SDS Running Buffer (20X) - Catalogue Number: NP0002 NuPAGE® Sample Reducing Agent (10X) - Catalogue Number: NP0009 NuPAGE® Transfer Buffer (20X) - Catalogue Number: NP0006-1 Purelink® plasmid maxiprep kit - Catalogue Number: K2100-07 SeeBlue Plus2 prestained standard - Catalogue Number: LC5925 SuperScript® III first-strand synthesis system for RT-PCR - Catalogue Number: 18080-051

Agilent Technologies UK Limited. (Cheshire, United Kingdom)

AffinityScript QPCR cDNA synthesis kit – Catalogue Number: 600559 Brilliant® QPCR master mix – Catalogue Number: 600549

© Merck KGaA (Darmstadt, Germany)

KOD Hot Start DNA polymerase – Catalogue Number: 71086

Promega UK Ltd. (Southampton, United Kingdom)

Luciferase assay substrate – Catalogue Number: E151A Reporter lysis buffer 5X – Catalogue Number: E397A

Qiagen Ltd. (West Sussex, United Kingdom)

RNeasy mini kit – Catalogue Number: 74104 QIAshredder – Catalogue Number: 79654

Sigma-Aldrich Company Ltd. (Dorset, United Kingdom)

Protein A-Sepharose[®] 4B, fast flow from *Staphylococcus aureus* – Catalogue Number: P9424 Protein G Sepharose[®], fast flow recombinant expressed in *Escherichia coli* – Catalogue Number: P3296

2.1.7 Cell culture

Corning Incorporated (Leicestershire, United Kingdom)

100mm x 20mm non-pyrogenic cell culture dishes - Catalogue Number: 430167 60mm x 15mm non-pyrogenic cell culture dishes - Catalogue Number: 430166 25ml disposable serological polystyrene pipettes - Catalogue Number: 4251 10ml disposable serological polystyrene pipettes - Catalogue Number: 4101 5ml disposable serological polystyrene pipettes - Catalogue Number: 4051 Cell scraper - Catalogue Number: 3010

Invitrogen Ltd. (Paisley, United Kingdom)

0.05% Trypsin-EDTA 1X – Catalogue Number: 25300 DMEM + GlutaMAX[™] Dulbeccos Modified Eagle Medium – Catalogue Number: 31966 Fetal calf serum – Catalogue Number: 16101 Lipofectamine[™] 2000 Transfection Reagent – Catalogue Number: 11668027 Opti-MEM[®] reduced serum media – Catalogue Number: 31985 Penicillin/streptomycin solution – Catalogue Number: 15140

Greiner Bio-One Ltd. (Gloucestershire)

15ml polypropylene centrifuge tubes - Catalogue Number: 188261 50ml polypropylene centrifuge tubes - Catalogue Number: 210201 Tissue culture flasks 175cm² – Catalogue Number: 660160 Tissue culture flasks 75cm² – Catalogue Number: 658170

© Merck KGaA (Darmstadt, Germany) GeneJuice[®] Transfection Reagent – Catalogue Number: 70967

2.1.8 Miscellaneous

BD Biosciences (Oxford, United Kingdom)

5ml falcon tube - Catalogue Number: 352052

Elkay International (Basingstoke, United Kingdom)

1.5ml microcentrifuge tubes with attached cap - Catalogue Number: MICR050 0.5ml microcentrifuge tubes with attached cap - Catalogue Number: MICR051 Plastic pasteur pipettes - Catalogue Number: P511

VWR International Ltd. (Leicestershire, United Kingdom)

Cuvet – Catalogue Number: 634-2501

STARLAB (UK), Ltd. (Milton Keynes, United Kingdom)

TipONE 1-20μL Bevelled Filter Tips - Catalogue Number: S1120-1810 TipONE 1-100μL Graduated Filter Tips - Catalogue Number: S1120-8810 TipONE 101-1000μL Extended Length Filter Tips - Catalogue Number: S1122-1834

Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. (Hertfordshire, United Kingdom)

0.5ml thermo PCR tube - Catalogue Number: AB-0350 Thermo fast 96 well PCR plate - Catalogue Number: AB-0600 Optical 8-cap strip - Catalogue Number: 4323032

Thermo Labsytems Corporation (Warwickshire, United Kingdom)

Luminoskan Acsent Luminometer and Ascent software (version 2.4.2)

Global Medical Instrumentation, Inc. MJ Research PTC-200 Thermo Cycler

Leica Microsystems (UK) Ltd. (Milton Keynes, UK)

Illumination Leica DM IL LED Microscope

Invitrogen Ltd. (Paisley, United Kingdom)

iBlot[®] Dry Blotting System

Wm Morrison Supermarkets plc (Anniesland, UK)

Marvel dried skimmed milk

Kimberley Clark (Brighton, United Kingdom)

Safeskin Disposable Purple Nitrile Exam Gloves - Catalogue Number: 014602

2.1.9 Plasmids

pGL3 control contains SV40 promoter and enhancer sequences driving the expression of firefly luciferase (Promega Ltd Southampton, United Kingdom).

pGL3 basic lacks SV40 promoter and enhancer sequences but contains the firefly luciferase (Promega Ltd Southampton, United Kingdom).

ptk6E2luc contains the thymidine kinase promoter from HSV-1 cloned into the pGL3 luciferase vector upstream of 6 HPV16 E2 binding sites (Vance *et al.* 1999).

pCMV-E2 contains the entire HPV16 E2 open reading frame. cloned into *Xbal-Smal* sites of the cytomegalovirus immediate-early promoter/enhancer-based expression vector pCMV4 (Sakai et al, 1995).

pCMV-E39A E39A contains HPV16 E2 ORF that had been mutated at amino acid position 39 by replacing a glutamic acid with alanine. The mutation was synthesised in the pCMV E2 vector.

pCMV-E1 (E1-Rep) was constructed by inserting the HPV16 DNA fragment (nt 865 to 2813), into *Xba*I-*Sma*I sites of pCMV4 (Sakai et al, 1995)

pMH1-16E1HA was constructed by inserting E1 ORFs from HPV -16 (83–2814 nt) into pMH1. The major splice donor site (AGGT) at the beginning of E1 ORFs was disrupted by inserting influenza hemagglutinin epitope tag (HA) in-frame into the E1 coding sequence. The inserted HA tag had no effect on the E1 protein activities (Kadaja et al 2007). This plasmid was a kind gift from Mart Ustav, University of Tartu.

pMH1-11E1HA was constructed as described above. Additional point mutation was introduced into the splicing acceptor site of HPV11 E1 ORF (2622 nt), (ACA \rightarrow ACC), and this did not change the coding capacity. This plasmid was a kind from Mart Ustav, University of Tartu.

pOri16M is a modified version of pOri16 described (Sakai et al., 1996). The HPV16 Ori (nt 7838–139) was PCR amplified from pOri16 with a primer containing a point mutation at nt 115 (C to T) of the HPV16 genome creating a *Dpn*I site (GATC). The PCR fragment was cloned as an *Eco*RI/*Bam*HI fragment into pSKII (–)

pLT contains the entire SV40 LTAg open reading frame.

pLTAg-S120A contains SV40 LTAg ORF that had been mutated at amino acid position 120 by replacing a serine amino acid with alanine. The mutation was synthesised in the pLT vector.

pLTAg-T517A contains SV40 LTAg ORF that had been mutated at amino acid position 517 by replacing a threonine amino acid with alanine. The mutation was synthesised in the pLT vector.

pLTAg-S639A contains SV40 LTAg ORF that had been mutated at amino acid position 639 by replacing a serine amino acid with alanine. The mutation was synthesised in the pLT vector.

pLTAg-S664,666A contains SV40 LTAg ORF that had been mutated at amino acid positions 664 and 666 by replacing a serine amino acid with alanine. The mutations were synthesised in the pLT vector.

pLTAg-S676A contains SV40 LTAg ORF that had been mutated at amino acid position 676 by replacing a serine amino acid with alanine. The mutation was synthesised in the pLT vector.

pcDNA 3.1 contains CMV promoter and was used as a carrier plasmid, Invitrogen Ltd. (Paisley, United Kingdom)

pCMV E2 (b) contains HPV16 E2 ORF and was a kind gift from Peter Howley.

pCMV R37A contains the HPV16 E2 ORF with mutation at amino acid position 37 by replacing an arginine for an alanine. This plasmid was a kind gift from Peter Howley.

pTM1-E1 contains the full length HPV11 E1 ORF inserted into pTM1. This plasmid was a kind gift from Jacques Archambault.

pCR3-E2 contains the full length HPV11 E2 ORF inserted into pCR. This plasmid was a kind gift from Jacques Archambault.

2.1.10 Oligonucleotides

2.1.10.1 Real-Time PCR analysis

Eurogentec Ltd. (Southampton, United Kingdom)

Table 2.1 Oligonucleotide for RT-PCR analysis

Oligonucleotide	Sequence Written 5' to 3'
Beta actin probe	ATTTCCCGCTCGGCCGTGGT
Beta actin FWD	AGCGCGGCTACAGCTTCA
Beta actin REV	CGTAGCACAGCTTCTCCTTAATGTC
HPV16 E1 probe	ATGATAATGATTATTTAACACAGGCAGAAACAGAGACAGC
HPV16 E1 FWD	CGAGAACGAAAATGAACAGTGATACA
HPV16 E1 REV	TTTTGGTTCCTGTGCAGTAAACA
HPV16 E2 probe	CAACCACCCGCCGCGA
HPV16 E2 FWD	CCTGAAATTATTAGGCAGCACTTG
HPV16 E2 REV	GCGACGGCTTTGGTATGG
HPV ori probe	ACCAAAAGAGAACTGCAATGTTTCAGGATCC
HPV ori FWD	ATCGGTTGAACCGAAACCG
HPV ori REV	TAACTTCTGGGTCGCTCCTG
Large T Antigen probe	AAGCAACTCCAGCCATCCATTCTTCTATGTC
Large T Antigen FWD	TTTGGGCAACAAACAGTGTAGC
Large T Antigen REV	AATGTTTGGTTCTACAGGCTCTGC
Luciferase probe	CACTGATCATGAACTCCTCTGGATCTACTGGTC
Luciferase FWD	TCCTTCGATAGGGACAAGACAATT
Luciferase REV	GGCAGAGCGACACCTTTAGG

2.1.10.2 Site directed mutagenesis

VH Bio Ltd. (Gateshead, United Kingdom)

Table 2.2 Oligonucleotides for site directed mutagenesis

Oligonucleotide	Sequence 5' to 3'
LTAg: S120A	
FWD	GATGAGGCTACTGCTGACGCTCAACATTCTACTCCTCCAAAAAAG
REV	CTTTTTTGGAGGAGTAGAATGTTGAGCGTCAGCAGTAGCCTCATC
LTAg: T517A	
FWD	AAACACCTAAATAAAAGAGCTCAAATATTTCCCCCTGGAATAG
REV	CTATTCCAGGGGGAAATATTTGAGCTCTTTTATTTAGGTGTTT
LTAg: S639A	
FWD	GATGATGATGATGAAGACGCCCAGGAAAATGCTGATAAAAATGAAG
REV	CTTCATTTTTATCAGCATTTTCCTGGGCGTCTTCATCATCATCATC
LTAg: \$664,666A	
FWD	GAAACAGGCATTGATGCACAGGCCCAAGGCTCATTTCAGGCC
REV	GGCCTGAAATGAGCCTTGGGCCTGTGCATCAATGCCTGTTTC
LTAg: S676A	
FWD	TTTCAGGCCCCTCAGTCCGCACAGTCTGTTCATGATCATAATC
REV	GATTATGATCATGAACAGACTGTGCGGACTGAGGGGCCTGAAA
E2: E39A	
FWD	TATTGGAAACACATGCGCCTAGCATGTGCTATTTATTACAAGGCC
REV	GGCCTTGTAATAAATAGCACATGCTAGGCGCATGTGTTTCCAATA

2.1.10.3 siRNA knockdown

Dharmacon Inc. (Leicestershire, United Kingdom)

Table 2.3 Oligonucleotides for siRNA knockdown

Oligonucleotide	Target Sequence
siATR	CCCGCGUUGGCGUGGUUGAdTdT
siLuciferase	CGUACGCGGAAUACUUCGAdTdT
siTopBP1	GUGGUUGUAACAGCGCAUCdTdT

2.1.10.4 Sequencing

VH Bio Ltd. (Gateshead, United Kingdom)

Table 2.4 Oligonucleotides for DNA sequencing

Oligonucleotide	Sequence 5' to 3'
LTAg S120A	GGAACTGATGAATGGGAG
LTAg T517A	GATTTGCCTTCAGGTCAG
LTAg S639A	GAGAGATTGGACAAAGAG
LTAg S664,666A	GAGAGATTGGACAAAGAG
LTAg S676A	GAGAGATTGGACAAAGAG
E2 E39A	CGTGGATCCGAGACTCTTTGC

2.2 Methods

The protocols used in this thesis are described in the following section. The manufacturer and distributor details for the materials used are given in the previous section.

2.2.1 Cell culture methodology

2.2.1.1 General growth

All cell culture experiments were carried out in a tissue culture laboratory and under strict aseptic conditions. All *cell culture* procedures were carried out in a Class II laminar flow hood (*BioMAT 2, MAT*, Derby, U.K.). The 293T, 293 and C33A cell lines were grown in DMEM+GlutaMAX with 10% (v/v) foetal calf serum and 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin mixture (Invitrogen) at 37 °C in a 5% CO2/95% air atmosphere (*LEEC* GA2000 Cell Culture *Research* Incubator, LEEC Ltd.). Cell lines were passaged at least twice a week. The cells were harvested by trypsonisation

2.2.1.2 Calcium phosphate transient transfection

Cells were transiently transfected using the calcium phosphate precipitation technique. Cells were counted and were plated out onto sterile plates with 5mls of media for 60mm² plates or 10ml of media for 100mm² plates and left over night in the incubator to adhere. The following day, the plasmid DNA of interest was mixed with distilled water to a final volume of 375µl. 125µl of 1M CaCl₂ was then added to the mix. This 500µl solution was then added drop wise to 2X HEPES buffered saline (50mM HEPES, 280mM NaCl, and 1.5mM Na₂HPO₄.2H₂O to pH 7.0). The solution was left at room temperature until the formation of an opaque precipitate could be seen. The precipitate was then added to approximately 16 hours. The cell monolayer was then washed twice with PBS and fresh medium was added before an additional 24 hour incubation.

2.2.1.3 GeneJuice transient transfection

293 cells were transfected with pLTAg mutated using the GeneJuice[®] method of transfection (Novagene). Briefly 1x10⁶ 293 cells were plated out in normal growth media onto 100mm dishes (so as to achieve around 80% confluence at harvest) and incubated at 37°C (5% CO₂) overnight. For each dish to be transfected, 800µl of Opti-MEM[®] was placed into a sterile tube. GeneJuice[®] was then added drop wise to the serum free media and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. The volume of GeneJuice[®] used was 2µl per µg of plasmid DNA being transfected. (i.e. 2µg of pLTAg^{mutated} with 4µl of GeneJuice[®]). After incubating, the plasmid DNA was added to the mix and gently mixed by pippeting. The GeneJuice/DNA mixture was incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. The volume of 15 minutes. The volume of GeneJuice/DNA mixture was added dropwise to the dish whilst gently rocking motion to ensure equal distribution. Cells were incubated for 24-48 hours and harvested for protein extraction.

2.2.1.4 Lipofectamine 2000[™] transfection

For siRNA knockdown experiments, siRNA oligonucleotides against ATR, TopBP1 and luciferase were designed (Dharmacon). Two transfections solutions were prepared; firstly 2.5µl of a 75µM stock of the desired oligonucleotide was added to 497.5µl Opti-MEM[®] (Invitrogen), and secondly 15µl Lipofectamine 2000[™] was added to 485µl Opti-MEM[®]. These two separate cocktails were incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes before being mixed and incubated for a further 20 minutes at room temperature. Following the incubation 0.5 x 10^6 293T cells were added to the Lipofectamine/oligo solution and plated out onto a 60mm tissue culture plate incubated at 37°C (5% CO₂) (v/v). The

following day, media was replaced with fresh media and cells were harvested 24 hours later.

2.2.1.5 Cell count assay

 $2x10^{6}$ 293T cells were plated onto 100mm plates. The following day the cells were transfected with oligonucleotides for siATR/siTopBP1/siLuciferase using the Lipofectamine 2000 protocol (2.2.1.4). Forty eight hours post transfection, cell were harvested as normal with trypsin, washed and counted. $2x10^{5}$ cells were plated onto 60mm plates (in triplicate). The remaining unused cells were checked for successful knockdown using the western blot technique. Every 2-3 days, the cells were harvested and recounted and $2x10^{5}$ cells were replated onto 60mm plates (in triplicate). A running cell total is calculated for data analysis.

2.2.1.6 Colony survival assay

 3×10^5 293T cells per 100mm culture dish were plated out in 7ml DMEM (containing 10% foetal calf serum and penicillin), and siRNA treated with siATR/TopBP1/Luciferase as described (2.2.1.4). 48 hours later the cells were trypsinised, counted and 2000 cells per 100mm culture dish were plated out in 7ml DMEM (containing 10% foetal calf serum and penicillin). 12 days later the medium was removed and the cells washed twice with 5ml PBS. The surviving colonies were visualised by staining with 2mls 0.5% crystal violet solution (25% methanol, ddH₂O) for 20 minutes at room temperature with gentle shaking. The plates were washed with tap water until the solution ran clear, dried overnight at room temperature before the colonies were counted.

2.2.1.7 Luciferase assay

2.5x10⁵ cells were plated onto 60mm^2 plates and transfected using the calcium phosphate precipitation protocol as described (2.2.1.2). The total volume of the calcium phosphate (CaPO₄) mixture was 1ml but it contained plasmid DNA for two reactions. At transfection therefore, 500µl of CaPO₄ and DNA mixture was transfected onto each plate. Twenty four hours later the plates were removed from incubation and the medium removed. The tissue culture dishes were gently washed twice with 4ml of PBS. At the final wash all excess PBS was removed by pipetting. 300µl of 1x Reporter Lysis Buffer (Promega) was added to each plate and left to incubate for 15 minutes at room temperature. The cell lysate was scraped using a sterile plate scraper into a clean microcentrifuge tube. The samples were centrifuged at 14000g for 10 minutes at 4°C. To measure luciferase activity, 80µl of each sample was added into a 96 well plate. The luminescence was measured using the Luciferase Assay System (Promega) at a 1 in 3 dilution and a Luminoskan Ascent plate reader (Thermo Labsystems).

2.2.1.8 Drug treatments

Prior to drug treatment the media was removed from the plates and any excess was removed by a pipette. A master mix of drug and medium was made up separately so that each plate received the same concentration of drug. The following concentration of each drug was used, unless otherwise stated; etoposide (50μ M), aphidicolin (2.5μ g/ml) MG132 (30μ M), cycloheximide (100μ M) hydroxyurea (3mM) and camptothecin (10μ M). Treatment times are indicated in the results section.

2.2.1.9 Preparation of protein extract

Cells were grown and transfected so as to achieve around 80% confluence at harvest. The medium was removed and the cells were washed once with PBS. 1ml trypsin was added

to each plate and incubated at 37°C until the cells detached from the plate. Medium was then added to the mix (at least 3mls). The cells were then transferred to a 15ml centrifuge tube and centrifuged at 1000g for 5 minutes. The resultant cell pellet was washed in 5ml PBS and centrifuged for a second time. After the PBS was removed by pippeting, the cell pellet was lysed in NP40 lysis buffer (0.5% NP40, 150mM NaCl, 50mM Tris pH 8.0 (containing 1 in 10 volume protease inhibitor cocktail tablet), and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The lysate was then centrifuged at 14000g for 30 minutes at 4°C. The protein extract was stored at -80°C until required.

2.2.2 Molecular methods

2.2.2.1 DNA purification using phenol chloroform

DNA samples were purified using phenol:chloroform to remove all residual contaminants. Sample volumes were typically completed to 500μ l prior to extraction. An equal volume of phenol: chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (24:25:1 v/v/v) was added to each sample. After a thorough vortex the samples were centrifuged at 14000g for 10 minutes at room temperature. The top aqueous layer was gently removed and put into fresh microcentrifuge tube. The procedure was repeated for a second time.

2.2.2.2 Ethanol precipitation

Following purification of DNA samples using phenol:chloroform (2.2.2.1) DNA was precipitated using ethanol precipitation. 1/10th of the sample volume of 3M sodium acetate, pH 5.2 and 2x the sample volume 100% ethanol, was added to the sample. The samples were vortexed and left to incubate at -20° C for 1-24 hours. The samples were centrifuged at 14000g at 4°C for 30 minutes. The ethanol was removed gently. 1x sample volume of 70% ethanol was used to wash the resulting DNA pellet. The samples were centrifuged at 14,000g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The ethanol was carefully removed with a pipette. The pellet was dried either by the use of a heating block or at room temperature until no ethanol remained. The precipitated DNA was then resuspended in distilled H₂0.

2.2.2.3 Oligonucleotide synthesis

Oligonucleotides used as primers in RT PCR reactions were synthesised by Eurogentec Inc. Each oligonucleotide probe was dual labelled (5'FAM, 3'TAMRA) and purified using Reversed Phase High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC-RP). The primers were purified using SePOP (Selective Precipitation Optimized Process). SePOP desalting is based on a differential precipitation process. It increases the purity level of the deprotected and desalted Oligonucleotides from 15 to 80 bases. All purification was done by Eurogentec. The oligonucleotides arrived lyophilised and were re-suspended in ddH_2O to a concentration of 100µM and stored at -20°C until required.

Oligonucleotides used as primers for site directed mutagenesis and sequencing protocols were synthesised by VH Bio Ltd. The primers were purified by RP-Column at VH Bio and arrived lyophilised. The oligos were resuspended in water so as to achieve a stock concentration of 100µM and stored at -20°C until required.

RNA oligonucleotides used during siRNA experiments were synthesised by Dharmacon. The siRNA duplex is provided in the 2'-deprotected and desalted form. Upon arrival, the lyophilised form was resuspended in siRNA Buffer (20mM KCl, 6mM HEPES-KOH pH 7.5, 0.2mM MgCl₂) to make a stock of 75μM and stored at -20°C until required.

2.2.2.4 Real-Time PCR detection for transient DNA replication assay

A description of each probe and primer set is described in Table 2.1. For HPV E1 and E2 mediated replication, the primer set chosen amplifies a 99bp region of the HPV16 origin which has been cloned into pOriM. For SV40 Large T antigen mediated replication, the primer set chosen amplifies the luciferase gene found in pGL3 plasmids. To differentiate between replicated and input plasmid DNA, 25µl of each sample was digested with Dpn1 overnight followed by 1 hour digest with Exonuclease III (ExoIII). ExoIII was heat inactivated by heating each sample for 30 minutes at 70°C.

 5μ l of each sample was analysed in triplicate using real time PCR. Quantification was performed using a standard curve from pOri16M (HPV replication) or pGL3-Control/Basic (SV40 replication) dilutions of 100pg to 10^{-5} pg. Standard curves were prepared in

duplicate. A non DNA control (ddH2O) was prepared in quadruplicate. Five microlitres of each sample was prepared in a solution containing 12.5µl of Mastermix (Stratagene), 900nM of each primer, 100nM of probe, 0.5µl of reference dye (supplied with Mastermix) and 6µl of ddH2O so that the final volume was 25µl. Triplicates were prepared in a single tube to eliminate a source of variability. 25µl was pipetted into each well in a 96-well real-time PCR plate. To measure the quantity of pOri16M or pGL3-Control, DNA was detected by assaying the real-time PCR plate on an ABI Prism 7500 using the universal real-time PCR conditions (95°C 10 minutes 'hot-start', 95°C for 30 seconds and 60°C for 1 minute in 40 cycles). Data was analysed using the 7500 System Software. This calculates the standard curve and the quantity of DNA for each individual sample well. The average signal for each sample was calculated from the sample repeats. The undigested pOri16M/pGL3-C represents the freshly replicated molecules.

2.2.2.5 In vitro DNA replication assay

Viral *in vitro* DNA replication assays were performed by John Fisk at the University of Buffalo. Thirty nanograms of template DNA containing the SV40 or HPV origins of replication (pSV011 or p7974-99) was incubated with 200ng of SV40 TAg or 40ng of HPV11 E1 and 20 ng of HPV11 E2, replication buffer (30mM HEPES (pH 7.5), 40mM creatine phosphate, 7mM MgCl2, 0.5mM DTT, 4mM ATP, 200µM CTP, 200µM UTP, 200µM GTP, 100µM dGTP, 100µM dTTP, 25µM dATP, 0.1mg/ml acetylated BSA, 0.625µg creatine phosphokinase (Sigma), 1µCi α^{32} P dATP, and 30–50ng of HEK 293 cell extract in 10µl reactions. Reactions were carried out for one hour at 37 °C and were terminated by addition of stop buffer (20mM Tris (pH 7.5), 10mM EDTA (pH 8.0), 0.1%SDS, 1µg/µl proteinase K) for twenty minutes at 37 °C. Replication was evaluated by resolution of replication products on 0.8% agarose gels followed by phosphorimager autoradiography.

2.2.2.6 In vitro checkpoint kinase assay

In vitro checkpoint kinase assays were carried out by John Fisk at the University of Buffalo. To determine the effect of the kinase inhibitors wortmannin, NU7026, and KU55933, either dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) or the inhibitor dissolved in DMSO was first incubated with cellular extracts for 5 minutes on ice prior to assembly of the replication reaction. Non-template plasmid added to the reactions (pUC19) was isolated using standard protocols, and then either added directly or first digested with the restriction enzyme Rsal to completion, and then phenol:chloroform extracted and precipitated prior to addition. Several restrictions enzymes, with varying termini (3' overhand, 5' overhang, and blunt ended) were also used and all types of ends produced very similar results (data not shown). Quantification of DNA replication activity was by phosphorimager analysis; incorporation of isotope from the top of the replication intermediates all the way through Form I DNA was quantified, background from an unused lane was subtracted, and the results were compared to the DMSO only positive control lane (set to 100%).

2.2.2.7 Bradford assay

Prior to western blotting and immunoprecipitation, protein extracts were analysed for protein concentration so as to ensure that equal amounts of protein were used in each experiment. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) protein standard solutions were made up at the following concentrations from a stock of 2mg/ml (Invitrogen); 2, 1, 0.4, 0.2, 0.1mg/ml. 5µl of each protein extract was added to 995µl of Bio-Rad Protein Assay Dye (Bradford) Reagent Concentrate (5X) in a cuvet. The Bradford reagent was diluted to a concentration of 1x with distilled water. Samples were shaken to mix and absorbance was measured on a spectrophotometer (O.D 595). The absorbance readings for the BSA standards were used to derive a standard curve, from which the sample concentrations were calculated.

2.2.2.8 Immunoprecipitation

In preparation for immunoprecipitation (IP) experiments, protein A/G sepharose beads were washed 5 times in lysis buffer (0.5% NP40, 150mM NaCl, 50mM Tris pH 8.0)and were resuspended after the final wash at a bead:slurry ratio 1:1 (v/v).The concentration of protein lysate used for coimmunprecipitation was 300µg.

For IPs involving the phospho - (Ser/Thr) ATM/ATR substrate antibody, protein lysate and antibody (1/20) were incubated in a 1.5ml eppendorf tube on a spinning rotor overnight at 4 °C. The following morning $20\mu l$ of protein G sepharose beads were added to the lysate and incubated for 1 h at 4 °C on the rotor.

For IPs involving the HA antibody, protein lysate and antibody (1/200) were incubated in a 1.5ml eppendorf tube on a spinning rotor overnight at 4 °C. The following day 20μ l of protein A sepharose beads was added to each sample in a post-clearing step. The incubation was for 1-2 hours on a spinning rotor at 4°C. The eppendorf tube was centrifuged briefly at 3000g and the lysate was transferred to a fresh eppendorf tube. 20μ l of protein A sepharose was added to the samples for a second overnight incubation.

For IPs involving the LTAg antibody; pAb419, protein lysate and antibody (1/100) were incubated in a 1.5ml eppendorf tube whilst spinning at 4°C for 1-2hours. Protein A sepharose beads (20µl) were added to the mixture for 1 hour under the same conditions. The complexes containing the antibody-protein A/G sepharose-cell lysate were pelleted by centrifugation and washed five times with 500µl of lysis buffer. The beads were boiled in 15µl of LDS buffer (Invitrogen) and 5µl of sample reducing agent (Invitrogen) for 10minutes at 70°C. Protein inputs (10%) were mixed with 5 µl of LDS buffer and 2 µl of sample reducing agent and boiled under the same conditions. Both the beads and supernatant were electrophoresed using SDS-PAGE system and subjected to western blot.

2.2.2.9 Western blotting

Protein concentrations were determined using a Bradford assay as described in chapter 2.2.2.7. Equal amounts of protein (20-30ng) were added to 2µl NuPage[®] sample reducing agent (10X) and 5μ l NuPAGE sample buffer (4x) (Invitrogen) and heated to 70°C for 10 minutes. The pre-cast gels (either 10/12 well) were placed into the gel tank filled with 1xMES running buffer. 500µl 10X antioxidant was added to the running buffer before loading the sample. 10µl See-Blue® kDa marker (Invitrogen) was also loaded as marker using fine pipette tips. SDS-Page gels were electrophoresed for 1 hour at 200V. The buffer was discarded and the gel cast was carefully cracked open and the top plate peeled off to leave the gel in place. The gel was soaked in transfer buffer NuPAGE[®] (1X) for 10 minutes prior to transfer. The wells were removed and the gel was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane using the dry Invitrogen i-blot transfer system following the manufacturer's instructions. Following transfer the nitrocellulose membrane was incubated with 5% milk PBS-T (1 x PBS 0.1% Tween) on a mechanical shaker for either 1 hour at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. Following blocking, the membrane was incubated with the primary antibody in 5% milk PBS-T using the following concentrations: ATR (1:1000), Chk1 (1:1000), HA.11 (1:2000), TVG 261 (1:250), pAb101 (1:1000), pAb419 (1:1000), phospho-Chk1/2 antibodies (1:1000). For 1-2 hour incubations the membranes were gently shaken at room temperature. For overnight incubations, the membranes were gently shaken in a 4°C cold room. The antibody was then removed and the membrane was washed in PBS-T for 3 x 5 minutes at room temperature with gentle agitation. The secondary antibody was then added diluted in 5% milk PBS-T and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour with gentle agitation. The secondary antibodies were used at the following concentrations: anti-rabbit IgG (1:10000), anti-mouse IgG (1:10000) and GTU-88 (1:10000). The antibody was then removed and the wash steps repeated. The proteins were detected using ECLplus (GE Healthcare) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly 1ml detection reagent A and 25µl detection reagent B was mixed and added to the membrane and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. The excess was removed and the membrane placed into a cassette and developed with X-ray Hyperfilm (Amersham).

2.2.2.10 Stripping of nitrocellulose membrane

Membranes were washed in PBS-T for 3x 5 minutes whilst gently shaking therefore removing any excess ECL reagent. Membranes were incubated on the shaker in 0.1M NaOH for 10-15 minutes. The NaOH was removed and membrane washing steps were performed (3 x 5 minutes in PBS-T whilst gently shaking). The membranes were then blocked with 5% milk PBS-T for 1 hour at room temperature in preparation for incubation with the primary antibody.

2.2.2.11 Site directed mutagenesis

The site directed point mutagenesis was carried out using KOD Hot Start Polymerase kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. The primers used to generate point mutations in SV40 large T antigen and HPV16 E2 are described in Table 2.2. Primers were designed to be around 25-45 nucleotides long and have a melting temperature (Tm) value >65°C. The Tm of each primer was calculated using the formula: Tm (°C) = $2(N_A + N_T) +$ $4(N_{G} + N_{C})$. For each mutation generated 1ul pLTAg/E2 (100ng/µl) was mixed with 5ul 10x KOD buffer, 15µl of 2mM dNTPs, 4µl of 25mM MgCl2, 1µl DMSO, 1µl of 10µM Primer 1, 1µl of 10µM Primer 2, 1µl KOD polymerase and 31µl ddH2O. PCR amplification was carried out using an MJ Research PTC-200 Thermo Cycler. Samples were heated to 94°C for 5 minutes (polymerase activation), 94°C for 15 seconds (denature), lowest primer Tm for 30 seconds (annealing) and 72°C for 20 seconds/kb (extension). The cycle of denaturing, annealing and extension was repeated another 17 times. To finish, the samples remained at 72°C for 5 minutes then were cooled to 4°C. Non mutated template DNA was then digested using 1µl of DpnI for 1 hour at 37°C. The mutated plasmids were cleaned up using phenol chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation techniques. The mutated plasmid DNA was transformed into DH5 α cells and grown up for DNA miniprep. The DNA was then sequenced to check for mutations.

2.2.2.12 DNA sequencing

To check plasmids for mutation they were sequenced using an Applied Biosystems 3100 automated sequencer. The region of interest was sequenced using a primer complementary to the appropriate region (Table 2.4). Reactions were carried out in 0.5ml PCR tubes and contained around 250ng/µl of plasmid DNA, 2µl of 5x Big Dye buffer, 3.2pmol primer, 4µl of Big Dye Terminator Reaction mix made up to 20µl with ddH2O. Samples were heated to 96°C for 10 seconds, 50°C for 5 seconds, and 60°C for 4 minutes. This cycle was repeated 25 times and the sequencing reaction held at 4°C till required. PCR reactions were purified using phenol:chloroform ethanol precipitation (as described in 2.2.2.1). Following purification the reactions were resuspended in 25µl Hi-Di formamide and analysed using an ABI Prism 300 automatic sequencer.

2.2.2.13 DNA/RNA concentration determination

The concentration of plasmid DNA was measured using an absorbance measurement at 260nm (Biotech spectrophotometer -model UV1101). An optical density reading (OD) of 1 is equivalent to 50μ g/ml of double stranded DNA. RNA concentration was determined similarly and OD of 1 is equivalent to 40μ g/ml RNA. A 260nm/280nm absorbance ratio was measured for all plasmid preparations, a reading of between 1.8 and 2.1 being indicative of a pure sample.

2.2.2.14 Transformation of chemically competent bacterial cells

Transformation of DH5 α competent bacterial cells took placed prior to large scale preparation of DNA. 10ng of plasmid DNA was added to 50 μ l DH5 α cells and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. Cells were immediately heat shocked at 42°C for 45 seconds and placed back on ice for 2 minutes. Each sample was gently mixed with 100 μ l SOC medium (25ml bactotryptone, 0.5% yeast extract, 10mM NaCl, 2.5mM KCl, 10mM MgCl₂, 10mM MgSO₄ and 20mM glucose). The samples were incubated at 37°C whilst shaking (225rpm) for 1 hour. The samples were aseptically plated out on to Ampicillin containing agar plates. The plates were then left inverted and incubated overnight at 37°C. Colonies were picked the following day and grown in 5ml L-broth, 50mg/ml Ampicillin, overnight at 37°C with shaking (225rpm) prior to both small and large scale preparations of plasmid DNA.

2.2.2.15 RNA extraction

RNA was extracted from cells using the Qiagen RNeasy kit. Cells were washed twice with PBS and trypsinised and pelleted into a 1.5ml Eppendorf tube. Pellets were lysed in 750µl of RTL buffer. The lysate was transferred into a QIAshredder spin column then centrifuged to homogenise the sample. An equal volume of 70% ethanol was added to the lysate and the sample was transferred to an RNeasy mini column by centrifugation. The flow through was discarded and the column was washed with 700µl RW1 once, and twice with 500 µl of RPE buffer by centrifugation. Purified RNA was eluted from the column by 100µl of RNase-free H₂O. RNA concentration was measured as described (2.2.2.12).

2.2.2.16 DNase treatment

Following RNA extraction, 0.1 volume 10X DNase I buffer and 1µL rDNase I (Applied Biosystems) were added to the RNA, and mixed gently. The sample was incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes. DNase Inactivation Reagent (typically 0.1 volume) was added to each reaction and mixed well. The reaction was incubated for 2 minutes at room temperature mixing occasionally. The samples were then centrifuged at 10000g for 1.5 minutes and the RNA was transferred to a fresh tube for cDNA synthesis.

2.2.2.17 Synthesis of complementary DNA

RNA was converted to cDNA using the SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase kit from Invitrogen. In sterile 0.2µl PCR tubes, 1-500ng of RNA, 50–250ng of random primers, 1µl of 10mM dNTP Mix (10mM each dATP, dGTP, dCTP and dTTP at neutral pH) and sterile ddH₂O (to 13 µl) were mixed, incubated at 65°C for 5 minutes and then were placed on ice for 1 minute. Prior to PCR, 4 µl of First Strand Buffer (5X), 1 µl of 0.1M DTT and 1 µl of the SuperScript III enzyme were added to the reaction. First strand cDNA synthesis was carried out using a MJ Research PTC-200 gradient cycler. Samples were incubated at 25°C for 5 minutes, heated to 50°C for 1 hour and terminated at 70°C for 5 minutes. The samples were stored at -20°C until required.

2.2.2.18 Large scale preparation of plasmid DNA (maxiprep)

1ml of a 5ml overnight bacterial culture was used to inoculate 500ml of L-broth containing antibiotic. The culture was incubated overnight in a 2L conical flask with vigorous shaking. The following day, the culture was poured into 50ml tubes and cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 3500g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded. The bacterial pellet was resuspended in 10ml resuspension buffer (50mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 10mM EDTA, 100µg/ml RNase A) by vortexing and pipetting. 10ml of lysis buffer (200mM NaOH, 1% SDS) was added by gentle inversion 5 times. The lysed pellets were incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. 10ml of precipitation buffer (3.0M potassium acetate pH 5.0) was then added and mixed gently to homogenize the sample. The precipitated sample was centrifuged at 3500g for 10 minutes at 4°C. To prepare the extraction columns for the sample, 15ml of equilibration buffer (750mM NaCl, 50mM MOPS, pH 7.0, 15% isopropanol (v/v) and 0.15% Triton r X-100 (v/v)) was added directly into the top. The buffer was allowed to drain through.

Following centrifugation the supernatant was filtered to remove the precipitate and the clear lysate was added to the extraction column. The lysate was left to drain by gravity

flow. 60ml of wash buffer (1.0M NaCl, 50mM MOPS pH 7.0, 15% isopropanol) was added and left to drain by gravity flow. The DNA was eluted by adding 15ml elution buffer (1.25M NaCl, 50mM Tris-Cl (pH 8.5) and 15% isopropanol), and collected into 50ml centrifuge tubes. 10.5ml of isopropanol was then added to the eluted DNA. The sample was centrifuged at 3500g at 4°C for 1 hour. The resulting supernatant was removed and the DNA pellet was washed in 10ml 70% ethanol before centrifugation at 3500g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The pellets were allowed to air dry before being resuspended in 300µl of TE Buffer, and stored at –20°C until required.

2.2.2.19 Propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry analysis

Cells were plated out in duplicate onto 100mm plates so as to achieve a confluence of 80% at harvest. Forty eight hours post transfection, cells were harvested, and washed twice with ice cold PBS (centrifuged at 1000 rpm, for 10 minutes at 4°C between each wash). After the final wash, the pellet was resuspended in 0.5ml of residual PBS. Samples were kept cool on ice. On a vortex at a low speed, 4.5ml of ice cold 70% ethanol was added dropwise to each sample. If the samples were being used straight away, they were left on ice for 30 minutes. If samples were being stored to use on a separate day, they were stored at -20°C. Each sample was washed twice in ice cold PBS following the same conditions prior to fixing. Each pellet was resuspended in 0.5ml of fresh PBS, 10µg/ml of Propidium lodide and 1µl of ribonuclease A. The staining was carried out for at least 3h at 4 °C. The samples were analysed using the EXPO32ADCXL4 Colour program on a Beckman Coulter Epics XL-MCL machine.

2.2.2.20 Salt extraction

Cells were lysed in CSK buffer (10nM PIPES pH6.8, 100mM NaCl, 300mM sucrose, 3mM MgCl₂, 1mM EGTA) containing 0.5% Triton X-100, and the insoluble material was pelleted by centrifugation. The pellet was then serially extracted with increasing concentrations of

NaCl in CSK (0.15/0.2/0.4/0.6/0.8/1.0M salt). The first extraction (0.15M) was incubated on ice for 15 minutes then centrifuged at 14000g for 30 minutes at 4 °C. For the following extractions (0.2-1.0M), the pellet was incubated on ice for 20 minutes before being centrifuged at 14000g for 30 minutes at 4 °C. Lysates were then prepared for western blot analysis.

2.2.2.21 DNA plasmid miniprep using alkaline lysis

Three to five mls of *E.coli* culture containing the plasmid were grown overnight. The culture was centrifuged in a 1.5ml Eppendorf tube at 14000g. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was resuspended in 300µl of buffer 1 (50mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 10mM EDTA, 100µg/ml RNase A). Buffer 1 is stored at 4°C. To lyse the pellet, 300µl of buffer 2 (200mM NaOH 1% SDS) was added and the eppendorf tube was inverted 5 times and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. 300µl of ice cold buffer 3 (3.0 M potassium acetate pH 5.5) was added and the tube inverted 5 times. The sample was then incubated on ice for at least 5 minutes and then centrifuged at 14000g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was transferred to a new tube, phenol:chloroform extracted and centrifuged at 14000g for 5 minutes. The aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh eppendorf tube. 0.7 volumes of Isopropanol was added, mixed by inversion and centrifuged at 14000g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was washed by ethanol precipitation and resuspended in TE buffer.

2.2.2.22 Harvesting low molecular weight DNA

Low molecular weight DNA was harvested for real time PCR analysis as part of the *in vivo* transient replication assays. 3×10^5 293T cells were counted, plated onto 100mm^2 cell culture dishes and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C in a 5% CO2/95% air atmosphere. Calcium phosphate transfections of HPV replication plasmids (pCMV-E2, pCMV-E1 and pOri16M / pTM1-E1, pCR3-E2 and pOri16M) or SV40 replication plasmids (pGL3 control /
pGL3 basic) took place the following day. Sixteen hours post transfection the calcium phosphate and medium was removed, the cells were washed twice with PBS and incubated in fresh medium for a further 48 hour. The cells were then washed once with PBS and excess PBS was removed by a pasteur pipette. Cell were lysed in 800µl of Hirt solution (10mM EDTA pH???, 0.5% SDS) and scraped into a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube. 200µl of 5M NaCl was added and the samples were left at 4°C overnight. Samples were centrifuged at 5000g for 30 minutes at 4°C, extracted twice with phenol: chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (2.2.2.1) and precipitated with ethanol (2.2.2.2). The DNA pellet was dried and resuspended in 100µl of ddH2O and the samples were analysed by real time PCR (2.2.2.4).

2.2.3 Statistics

2.2.3.1 Mean and standard error of the mean

The mean \pm the standard error of the mean (SEM) are shown in several experiments as a control for experimental reproducibility. The standard error of the mean (SEM) gives a measure of the precision of the mean giving a representation of the spread of the data, indicating how far the mean of a sample is from the true mean. The SEM is calculated by dividing the standard deviation by the square root of the total number of samples used. This is calculated in Microsoft Excel using = STDEV/SQRT (COUNT(X,-Y)).

Where STDEV (σ) =

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{\sum [x - \overline{x}]^2}{n}}$$

$$\sigma = \text{ standard deviation}$$

$$\sum = \text{ sum of}$$

$$\mathbf{x} = \text{ each value in the data set}$$

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}} = \text{ mean of all values in the data set}$$

$$\mathbf{n} = \text{ number of value in the data set}$$

SEM = <u>Standard Deviation</u>

2.2.3.2 Statistical Significance

Statistical significance for the data presented in this thesis was typically calculated using a Students-T-test to give a significance value (p). This was carried out using Microsoft Excel (T-TEST function). The cut off for all experiments was taken as 0.05, therefore if two sets of data return a p value of <0.05 there is a less than 5% chance that the result observed is due to chance, and the two groups are therefore statistically significantly different.

Chapter 3 – Results

3.1 HPV E1-E2 mediated DNA replication is not arrested by DNA damage.

The DNA from the high risk HPVs is often found integrated into the host cell DNA in high grade squamous cell carcinomas specimens (Cooper et al., 1991; Kristiansen et al., 1994; Alazawi et al., 2002; Peitsaro et al., 2002; Arias-Pulido et al., 2006; Pett et al., 2006.) Viral integration has been shown to be a factor in cell transformation from studies carried out in HPV positive cervical cancer specimens and in vitro model systems (Wentzensen et al., 2004; Dall et al., 2008.). Integration results in the unregulated expression of the oncogenes E6 and E7 which can lead to the development of cancer. Factors that may promote viral integration include replication of the viral genome during cellular DNA damage. This would promote double stranded breaks in the viral and cellular DNA and increase the chance of integration through a DNA repair mechanism such as NHEJ (Ziegert et al., 2003). It has been suggested that replication of integrated viral DNA by E1 and E2 may also cause genomic damage and this could lead to further integration events (Kadaja et al., 2007; Kadaja et al., 2009). Another dsDNA virus that has controversial findings regarding its replication status during an activated DNA damage response is the SV40 virus. Some reports suggest that SV480 infection requires an activated DNA damage response for a productive life cycle (Shi et al., 2005). Whereas there is evidence to suggest that an activated DNA damage response inhibits SV40 replication (Miao et al., 2003).

The regulation of DNA replication is well described in the literature however the precise targets at the replication fork that respond to DNA damage pathways have not been clearly defined. There is evidence that the components of the cellular MCM2-7 helicase is targeted for phosphorylation by ATR/ATM in response to DNA damage (Cortez et al., 2004; Ishimi et al., 2003a; Ishimi et al., 2003b). Therefore targeting of the helicase by DNA

damage pathways may inhibit DNA replication in the presence of DNA damage. E1, LT and MCM2-7 are all ATPases Associated with a variety of cellular Activities (AAA+) domain containing helicases. The 200-250 amino acid AAA+ domain contains conserved ATPase sequences that use the energy released from ATP hydrolysis to alter the structure of DNA during replication (White & Lauring, 2007).

The large T antigen (LT) of SV40 initiates viral replication in a similar manner to HPV E1. Both proteins share structural homology in both the DNA binding and helicase domains and functional similarities (Luo et al., 1996; Enemark et al., 2000; Li et al., 2003; Meinke et al., 2006; Enemark & Joshua-Tor, 2006). LT is a viral origin binding protein that forms double hexameric rings encircling the viral DNA. Similarly to E1 it distorts DNA and initiates replication bidirectionally (Valle et al., 2000). The major mechanistic difference between E1 and LT is that LT does not require a viral loading factor to bind to the viral origin.

In this study the replication of the papillomavirus origin replication was compared to SV40 origin replication. The hypothesis is that HPV is able to replicate in the presence of DNA damage. To determine this hypothesis, the replication of HPV and SV40 origin containing plasmids by E1:E2 or LT is first examined using *in vivo* and *in vitro* replication assays. Both viruses contain double stranded circular DNA and replicate in a similar manner using host cell replication proteins to undertake their own replication. Therefore SV40 origin replication was used as a control to identify any differences between HPV and SV40 replication that may help understand factors that can lead to HPV integration. Low risk and high risk (HPV11 and HPV16 respectively) replication was also compared. The low risk HPV11 can cause genital warts whereas the high risk HPV16 can cause cervical cancer. The high risk types can cause oncogenesis when the viral DNA becomes integrated and the E6 and E7 protein expression becomes unregulated. Comparing replication of HPV11 and HPV16 may help to understand why some strains of papillomavirus can cause cancer and why some strains do not.

3.1.1 HPV11 E1-E2 mediated replication *in vivo* is not arrested by DNA damaging agents.

To investigate whether HPV11 E1–E2 mediated DNA replication is arrested following DNA damage, transient DNA replication assays were carried out in 293T cells using the realtime PCR protocol developed in previously in our laboratory (Taylor and Morgan, 2003; Morgan and Taylor, 2005). Initially this protocol was used with C33A and U2OS cells however the combination of calcium phosphate transfection and drug treatment resulted in high amounts of cell death. Although 293T cells are not a cervical epithelial cell line they were chosen due to their high transfectability of the viral protein expressing plasmids and ability to withstand subsequent drug treatment. Briefly, plasmids containing HPV11 E1, HPV11 E2 and the HPV16 origin of replication were transfected into 293T cells using the calcium phosphate method of transfection (2.2.1.2). In these experiments, the pOri-16M (designed for HPV16 replication) can be used to investigate HPV11 E1-E2mediated replication because the origin sequences are well conserved in mucosal HPVs. Cells were then treated with a DNA damaging agent or aphidicolin. In separate experiments etoposide and camptothecin were used as DNA damaging agents. Etoposide inhibits topoisomerase IIa, resulting in double strand DNA (dsDNA) breaks during the S phase of the cell cycle. To create DNA damage a relatively high concentration of etoposide was used (50µM). This concentration has been shown to produce dsDNA breaks in 293T cells (Abramson et al., 2010). Camptothecin inhibits the DNA enzyme topoisomerase I and creates dsDNA breaks. It was used at 10µM as this concentration has previously been shown to cause dsDNA breaks and is tolerated by 293T (Reinhardt et al., 2007; Fu et al., 2007). Cells were also treated with Aphidicolin (2.5µg/ml) as a control. Aphidicolin inhibits the replicative DNA polymerase (alpha/delta/epsilon) inhibitor (Ikegami et al, 1978). Therefore aphidicolin treatment should arrest both cellular and viral (HPV and SV40) DNA replication. A previous publication had used aphidicolin at a concentration of 5µg/ml to arrest U2OS cells that stabley express HPV16 E2 (Johansson et al., 2009). Concentrations slightly above and below this value were tested and it was found that 2.5µg/ml could arrest HPV replication therefore this was the concentration used in these assays. Forty eight hours later the cells were lysed and DNA extracted using HIRT extraction (2.2.2.22). DNA was purified by phenol.chloroform extraction (2.2.2.1) and ethanol precipitation (2.2.2.2). Digesting DNA with DpnI and ExoIII resulted in freshly replicated origin plasmid DNA. The *E.coli* strains used for propagation of viral plasmid DNA cause methylation of the plasmid DNA using DAM methyltransferase. The Dpn1 digests DAM-methylated (non-replicated) DNA and ExoIII digests single stranded DNA overhangs. The amount of freshly replicated DNA which was then measured using Real Time PCR (2.2.2.4).

The results obtained with HPV11 E1 and E2 replication *in vivo* are shown in Figure 3.3.1. In Figure 3.1.1.(a), origin plasmid replication is not detected in the non-transfected cells (lane 1), HPV origin plasmid transfected alone (lane 2) and HPV origin plasmid with E1 expression plasmid (lane 3). Replication of the origin plasmid is detected when the E1 and E2 expression plasmid are co-transfected (lane 4). After treatment with the DNA polymerase inhibitor aphidicolin, this replication signal is greatly reduced. The small level of replication detected may be a result of origin plasmid replication prior to drug treatment (lane 6). There is a statistical difference between untreated and aphidicolin treated cells. When etoposide is added to the HPV plasmid transfected cells, there is an apparent increase in origin plasmid DNA replication (lane 5). However, there is no significant difference between HPV11 ori replication with and without etoposide treatment. In Figure 3.1.1 (b) again no DNA replication signal is detected in nontransfected cells or when a plasmid containing the HPV origin is transfected alone or with an E1 expression plasmid (lanes 1–3). DNA replication is detected when the E2 expression plasmid is also co transfected (lane 4). When the cells are treated with aphidicolin following transfection there is a minimal level of replicated origin plasmid (lane 6). As p<0.05, there is a statistical difference between untreated HPV11 E1-E2-ori transfected and aphidicolin treated cells When the transfected cells are treated with camptothecin HPV11 E1-E2 mediated replication of the origin is not inhibited (lane 5). As p>0.05, there is no statistical difference between HPV11 E1-E2-ori transfected untreated and camptothecin treated cells. This result may be ascribed to one of the repeats showing an exceptionally large increase in origin replication when treated with camptothecin.

Figure 3.1.1 HPV11 E1-E2 mediated replication *in vivo* is not arrested by DNA damaging agents.



(a) HPV11 origin replication assay with etoposide treatment



(b) HPV11 origin replication assay with camptothecin treatment

Figure3.1.1 (a) HPV11 E1-E2 mediated replication is not arrested by etoposide *in vivo.* 293T cells were transfected with 100pg of pOriM (lanes 2–6), 5µg of pCMV11-E1 (lanes 3–6) and 2µg of pCMV11-E2 (lanes 4–6). 16 hours after transfection, cells were left untreated (lanes 1–4) or treated with 50µM of etoposide (lane 5) or 2.5 µg/ml of aphidicolin (lane 6). Forty-eight hours later low molecular weight DNA was harvested from the cells for transient replication assays. The results shown represent the summary of three experiments with mean and standard error of the mean shown. Results are shown as a fold difference (F.D) to lane 4 (ori, E1 &E2 with no drug treatment). Statistical significance by Student's *t*-test is indicated as * (p < 0.05). (b) HPV11 E1-E2 mediated replication is not arrested by camptothecin *in vivo.* The replication assay was carried out as described in figure 3.1.1(a). 16 hours after transfection cells were treated with 10 µM of camptothecin (lane 5) instead of etoposide. The results shown represent the summary of three experiments with mean and standard error of the mean shown. Lane 4 is standardised to 1 and the results shown are a fold difference of this value. Statistical significance by Student's *t*-test is indicated as * (p < 0.05).

3.1.2 SV40 virus LT mediated replication *in vivo* is arrested by etoposide.

It was feasible that HPV replication during treatment with DNA damaging agents might be explained by a lack of DNA damage response in the 293T cells. Therefore another DNA virus was used to confirm that HPV replication during DNA damage was simply not a result of the 293T cells failing to sense and activate a DNA damage response pathway. The LT-mediated SV40 origin DNA replication was used to assess this *in vivo* (Figure 3.1.2). 293T cells stably express SV40 LT therefore only the SV40 origin containing plasmid was required to be transfected into the cells. In 293T cells only, there is no replication signal detected (lane 1). A control plasmid that contains the luciferase gene but does not contain the sequence for the SV40 origin (p-SV40 ori) does not produce a replication signal (lane 2). Transfection of a plasmid containing the SV40 origin sequence (p+SV40 ori) produces a replication signal in lane 3. In lane 5 the 293T cells have been transfected with p+SV40 ori and aphidicolin. In a similar trend to HPV E1 and E2 mediated replication, aphidicolin arrests LT mediated replication. The p value is calculated to be 5×10^{-7} . As p<0.05 there is a significant difference between p+SV40 ori replication with and without aphidicolin treatment. In a direct contrast to HPV E1-E2 mediated replication, etoposide treatment of p+SV40 transfected cells results in an arrest in LT mediated SV40 origin plasmid replication (lane 4). The p value is calculated to be 0.005. As p<0.05 then there is a significant difference between p+SV40 ori with and without etoposide treatment.



Figure 3.1.2 SV40 virus LT mediated replication *in vivo* is arrested by etoposide.

Figure3.1.2 SV40 virus LT mediated replication *in vivo* is arrested by etoposide. 293T cells were transfected with 1ng of luciferase gene containing plasmid DNA (lanes 2–5). In lane 2, the plasmid contained no SV40 origin of replication in lanes 3–5 the plasmid contained an SV40 origin of replication. One day post transfection, drug treatments were added in lane 4 (50µM of etoposide) and lane 5 (2.5 µg/ml of aphidicolin). The other lanes are all untreated (lanes 1-3). Forty-eight hours later low molecular weight DNA was harvested. The results shown represent three independent experiments and are standardised to LT mediated p+SV40 replication without any drug treatment (lane 3). Statistical significance by Student's *t*-test is indicated as * (p < 0.05).

3.1.3 HPV16 E1-E2 mediated replication *in vivo* is not arrested by etoposide.

The ability of a HR-HPV to replicate during DNA damage was investigated. Replication during DNA damage of a HR-HPV could be a factor promoting viral integration that is often detected with cancer causing HPVs. Integration of the HPV16 genome into the host cell chromosome is a key event in the pathway to cervical cancer as it results in unregulated expression of the viral oncoproteins E6 and E7 (Jeon et al., 1996; Romanczuk & Howley, 1992; Romanczuk et al., 1990). The low risk types do not cause cancer because they do not express oncoproteins. To investigate whether HPV16 E1-E2 mediated replication of the ori plasmid is arrested by DNA damage caused by etoposide transient DNA replication assays in 293T cells using the real-time PCR protocol as described in 3.1.1 were carried out. Fig. 3.1.3 represents the results obtained with HPV16 E1 and E2 mediated replication in vivo. In lane 1 no DNA replication is detected in the untransfected cells. No replication is detected when a plasmid containing the HPV origin (pOri-16M) is transfected with or without an E1 expression plasmid (lanes 2–3). As anticipated, DNA replication is detectable when the E2 expression plasmid is co-transfected with pOri-16M and E1 (lane 4). When the cells are treated with aphidicolin following transfection E1-E2 replication of the origin plasmid is inhibited (lane 6). The p value is calculated to be 4x10⁻⁷. As p<0.05 there is a significant difference between E1-E2 mediated replication of pOri-16M with and without aphidicolin treatment. HPV16 E1 and E2 replicate the origin plasmid in the presence of etoposide treatment (lane 5). The p value is calculated to be 0.85. As p>0.05 there is no significant difference between E1-E2 mediated replication of pOri-16M with and without etoposide treatment.

These data suggest that the HR-HPV16 E1-E2 can replicate the origin plasmid during etoposide treatment. However to definitively prove whether replication is a factor that may contribute to viral integration, the type of DNA damage caused by etoposide treatment should be assessed. A comet electrophoresis assay could be used to visualize and quantify double strand DNA breaks (Singh et al., 1988). Prior to electrophoresis the DNA is situated within the comet 'head'. During electrophoresis undamaged DNA is too large to migrate and does not leave the "head". However damaged DNA migrates towards the anode creating a 'tail' which can be clearly seen using a fluorescent

microscope. Image analysis of the fluorescence intensity can be compared between the 'head' and 'tail' to detect dsDNA breaks. To further validate the presence of dsDNA breaks during etoposide treatment, H2AX phosphorylation could be examined in these samples. H2AX is phosphorylated on serine 139 in response to DNA double stranded breaks (Fernandez-Capetillo et al., 2004; Harper & Elledge, 2007). A simple western blot using a phospho-H2AX Ser 139 antibody may detect differences in DNA damage/repair in etoposide-untreated and treated cell lines.



Figure 3.1.3 HPV16 E1-E2 mediated replication *in vivo* is not arrested by etoposide.

Figure 3.1.3 HPV16 E1-E2 mediated replication *in vivo* is not arrested by etoposide. 293T cells were transfected with 100pg of pOri-16M (lanes 2–6), 5µg of pCMV16-E1 (lanes 3–6) and 2µg of pCMV16-E2 (lanes 4–6). The day after transfection, cells were left untreated (lanes 1–4) or treated with 50µM of etoposide (lane 5) or 2.5 µg/ml of aphidicolin (lane 6). Forty-eight hours later low molecular weight DNA was harvested from the cells for replication assays. The results shown represent the summary of three experiments and are standardised to E1+E2 without treatment (lane 4) equalling 1. Statistical significance by Student's *t*-test is indicated as * (p < 0.05).

3.1.4 *In vitro* results show that LT replication arrest is inhibited via a checkpoint response, while E1–E2 replication is not

In Figures 3.1.1-3, LT-mediated replication of the SV40 origin plasmid is inhibited in response to etoposide treatment whereas HPV11 and HPV16 E1 and E2-mediated replication of the HPV16 origin replication plasmid is not. To address whether these differences are a result of an activated DNA damage checkpoint response, the role of the DNA checkpoint kinases (ATR/ATM/DNA-PK) in replication control was investigated. Previous studies have shown that MCM2-7 helicase is targeted for phosphorylation by ATR/ATM in response to DNA damage (Cortez et al., 2004). It was therefore feasible that a checkpoint kinase may specifically target SV40 LT for phosphorylation and this may explain why replication of SV40 origin is inhibited during etoposide treatment. *in vivo* experiments such as those in Figures 3.1.1-3, using either knockdown of DNA checkpoint kinases in 293T cells or the use of checkpoint kinases inhibitors were attempted. However the combination of siRNA oligonucleotides/checkpoint inhibitors with etoposide treatment was highly toxic to the cells meaning that this approach was not feasible..

To address this problem, in vitro viral DNA replication assays were utilized and carried out by John Fisk at the University of Buffalo. The protocol for studying in vitro HPV and LT replication has been previously established for HPV11, BPV1 and SV40 origin replication in 293 cell extracts (Melendy et al., 1995; Narahari et al., 2006). This protocol was adapted in order to study HPV/LT origin replication during an activated checkpoint response (2.2.2.5). The pUC19 plasmid DNA was digested with RsaI enzyme. This produced linear DNA strands which mimic dsDNA breaks. The undigested or digested plasmid was added to the 293 cell extract to determine differences in HPV and SV40 origin replication in the presence of undamaged or damaged DNA. Checkpoint kinase inhibitors were used to establish whether an activated DNA damage response can regulate LT or E1 mediated replication in vitro (2.2.2.6). As a control, the same amount of undigested plasmid DNA was added. This DNA did not contain blunt DNA ends and therefore did not mimic DNA damage. The addition of undigested circular DNA did not modify the DNA replication capabilities of LT or E1. Figure 3.1.4 (a) represents LT replication in vitro. When 50ng of undigested supercoiled pUC19 is added to the cell extract, it has no effect on LT origin replication. Replication intermediates or Cairns structures are formed during the

100

bidirectional replication of circular DNA molecules (Tapper & DePamphilis, 1977). There is no change in replication intermediate products between lanes 1 and 2. When 50ng of linearised DNA (mimics dsDNA breaks) is added in lane 4, there is a significant reduction in the production of LT replication intermediates. Form I and II DNA are the replicated progeny of replication intermediates. Form I DNA exists as supercoiled circular DNA and form II exists as circular DNA which has a nick in one of the strands. There appears to be a reduction in the quantity of form I and II DNA in lane 4 compared to the lanes that contain supercoiled uncut pUC19 DNA (lanes 2 and 3). DNA ends can therefore induce an arrest of LT mediated replication *in vitro*.

Wortmannin inhibits the phosphoinositide 3-kinase related kinase (PIKK) family of proteins. ATR, ATM and DNA-PK are checkpoint kinases that belong to this family of proteins. To determine whether the arrest in LT mediated SV40 origin replication was a result of an activated checkpoint response, wortmannin was included in the assay. Wortmannin in the presence of super coiled DNA does not affect LT mediated replication (compare lane 3 to lane 2). On the contrary, wortmannin in the presence of DNA ends does effect LT mediated replication. In lane 4, linearised pUC19 DNA inhibits LT mediated replication was evident in the presence of linearised DNA and wortmannin (lane 5). Therefore wortmannin can relieve arrest in LT-mediated replication in the presence DNA ends suggesting that a PIKK protein is responsible for regulating LT mediated replication during the presence of DNA ends.

To determine whether HPV replication was inhibited by the addition of DNA ends, identical experiments were carried out comparing the SV40 LT with HPV11 E1 *in vitro* (Figure 3.1.4 (b)). Similarly to the previous experiment, the addition of 50 and 100ng of digested pUC19 reduces the quantity of replication intermediates and replicated DNA suggesting that LT mediated replication is inhibited by DNA ends (lanes 2 and 3). However, the addition of linearised DNA does not inhibit HPV11 E1 mediated DNA replication as can be seen by presence of replication intermediates after 100ng of digested pUC19 was added (lane 5). These *in vitro* results imitate the *in vivo* DNA damage replication assay results. Therefore LT mediated replication is sensitive to checkpoint kinase signalling via a PIKK pathway whereas E1 mediated replication is not.

101

By using PIKK inhibitors that prevent either ATM or DNA-PK activation, it was possible to investigate which of the kinases was responsible for the inhibition of LT induced DNA replication *in vitro*. As there is no specific ATR inhibitor, a process of elimination using the ATM and DNA-PK inhibitors could determine whether ATR was responsible (Figure 3.1.4 (c)). As was seen previously in Figures 3.1.4 (a) and (b), the addition of Rsal digested pUC19 DNA resulted in a decrease in LT replication (down to around 38% compared to the control DMSO treatment) in lane 2. The addition of wortmannin in lane 3 results in LT mediated replication in the presence of DNA ends. When NU7026, a DNA-PK checkpoint inhibitor, or KU55933, an ATM specific checkpoint inhibitor, are added individually or together, replication remains low at levels similar to that seen with the addition of digested pUC19 DNA (lanes 4,5,6 respectively). Therefore, through a process of elimination, it can be hypothesised that ATR checkpoint kinase is responsible for regulating LT mediated replication in the presence of DNA ends in vitro and this may serve as a model for LT mediated replication *in vivo*. In addition, the inhibitors for DNA-PK and ATM were tested in order to confirm their functional activity in these experiments. The Promega DNA-PK assay kit (DNA-PK inhibition) and NBS1 hyper-phosphorylation detection (ATM inhibition) were used to verify inhibition (data with Melendy laboratory, University of Buffalo).

Figure 3.1.4 *In vitro* results show that LT replication arrest is inhibited via a checkpoint response, while E1–E2 replication is not.



Figure 3.1.4 *In vitro* results show that LT replication arrest is inhibited via a checkpoint response, while E1–E2 replication is not. a) *In vitro* SV40 DNA replication as described in 2.2.2.5 was carried out in the presence of 0.1% DMSO (lane 1). Undigested pUC19 DNA (50ng) was added to the 293 cell extract prior to the assembly of replication reaction, either in the absence (lane 2) or presence of 20μ M wortmannin (lane 3). Restriction-enzyme digested pUC19 (50ng) was added to the 293 cell extract prior to the assembly of SV40 replication reaction either in the absence (lane 4) or presence of 20μ M wortmannin (lane 5). b) Left panel: SV40 replication reactions were carried out in a similar method to (a). 0, 50 or 100ng of restriction enzyme digested pUC19 DNA replication reactions were carried out as described in 2.2.2.5

using the same extract and reaction buffer as in the left panel. The only variant is the replication template DNA and the use of HPV11 E1 in place of SV40 LT. Zero or 100ng of restriction enzyme digested pUC19 DNA was added as indicated. c) The PIKK inhibitors (DNA-PKi=NU7026; ATMi=KU55933) were added to the 293 extracts on ice, 5 minute prior to addition of template and replication reaction components (concentrations of the inhibitors given are final concentration in the reaction). LT replication levels were quantified as described in chapter 2.2.2.6. Results shown represent four independent experiments; error bars indicate the standard deviation.

3.1.5 LT is a substrate for DNA checkpoint kinases in vivo.

During an activated DNA damage response, DNA replication is inhibited to prevent replication of a mutated genome. It has been suggested that the cellular MCM2-7 helicase is targeted by checkpoint kinases in response to DNA damage and this may result in the inhibition of DNA replication (Cortez et al., 2004; Ishimi et al., 2003a; Ishimi et al., 2003b). The results in Figure 3.1.6 also suggest that ATR is the checkpoint kinase that regulates LT mediated replication in vitro. It was therefore possible that the checkpoint kinases were responsible for the inhibition of LT-mediated replication of the origin plasmid by targeting the SV40 LT helicase during DNA damage. Similarly to HPV replication, SV40 replication requires many of the same cellular replication proteins to initiate replication from the SV40 origin such as DNA pol α/δ and RFA (Replication factor A) (Muller et al., 1994; Melendy et al., 1995). Therefore an obvious difference between SV40 and HPV replication is the viral helicase. LT is the only viral protein that is required for SV40 replication whereas E1 in combination with E2 are the viral proteins required to carry out HPV origin replication. A previous study has shown that LT is phosphorylated at Ser120 by ATM in response to ionizing radiation treatment (Shi et al., 2005). Therefore, similar to phosphorylation of the MCM-2-7 helicase complex, the checkpoint kinases may target LT (and not E1) for phosphorylation and this may explain the differences in viral replication during DNA damage.

To investigate whether the DNA damaging agent etoposide is able to activate a checkpoint kinase pathway the phosphorylation of a downstream target protein, Chk2 was investigated in 293T cells. The phosphorylation of Chk2 protein is an indication of an activated DNA damage response (Matsuoka et al., 1998; Chaturvedi et al., 1999). In Figure 3.1.5(a) 293T cells were treated with a range of concentrations of etoposide for two hours. The phosphorylation of Chk2 is evident at 10 and 50µM of etoposide (lanes 2 and 3) but not in untreated 293T cells (lane 1)). Therefore phosphorylation of Chk2 protein demonstrates the activation of a checkpoint kinase pathway.

To investigate whether LT is phosphorylated in a similar manner to MCM2-7 in response to checkpoint kinase activation, LT protein co-immunoprecipitation pull down with the protein kinases ATR and ATM in response to etoposide treatment was investigated (2.2.2.8). 293T cells that stably express the LT protein were untreated or treated with 50μM of etoposide. Cells were harvested and protein extracts were immunoprecipitated with a phospho-(Ser/Thr)-glutamine ATR/ATM substrate antibody (pS/Q antibody). This antibody pulls down proteins that have been phosphorylated on serine/threonine residues by the protein kinases ATR/ATM. The samples were subjected to immunoblotting for LT (Figure 3.1.5 (b)). In the input lanes, 3 and 4, it is evident that the LT protein is not degraded by 30 minutes of etoposide treatment therefore ruling out the possibility of protein degradation. The pS/Q antibody co-precipitates a significant amount of LT protein after etoposide treatment (lane 2) whereas LT shows no pull down with the pS/Q antibody in untreated 293T cells (lane 1). This result suggests that, similar to MCM2-7, the LT helicase is phosphorylated by either ATR or ATM in response to an activated DNA damage response *in vivo*.







extracts were prepared for western blot analysis using a phospho-Chk2 Threonine-68 antibody to confirm ATR/ATM checkpoint activation. (b) Cells were left untreated (-) or treated with 50μ M of etoposide (+) for 30 minutes and protein extracts were prepared. A fraction of the protein extract was then immunoprecipitated with an S/Q antibody (lanes 1 and 2). The precipitate was probed with LT antibody (pAb101).

3.1.6 E1 is not a substrate for DNA checkpoint kinases in vivo.

Having established ATR activation with etoposide treatment and shown that LT is a substrate for ATR phosphorylation in vivo, it was hypothesised that E1 may not be targeted for phosphorylation by ATR/ATM in vivo in the presence of an activated DNA damage response. To investigate this HPV11 and HPV16 E1 protein was used in a similar experiment to Figure 3.1.5. 293T cells were transfected with an HA-tagged E1 plasmid (pMH1-11E1HA/pMH1-16E1HA), expressing either HPV11 or HPV16 E1 respectively and were then treated with 50μ M of etoposide. Protein extracts were immunoprecipitated with the phospho-(Ser/Thr)-glutamine ATR/ATM substrate antibody (pS/Q antibody). These extracts were then subjected to immunoblotting for E1 protein pull down. In Figure 3.1.6 (a), cells were calcium phosphate transfected with $1\mu g$ of HPV11 HA-tagged E1 or an empty control plasmid of the same concentration. Forty eight hours post transfection, samples were left untreated or treated with 50µM of etoposide for 30 minutes prior to harvest and protein preparation. A fraction of the protein extract was incubated with the pS/Q antibody and extracts were then prepared for western blotting. The membranes were probed against E1 (HA). In lanes 1, 2, 5 and 6, there is no E1 present in these samples therefore they act as negative controls. There appears to be phosphorylation of E1 in the absence of DNA damage (lane 3). However, the pS/Q antibody fails to pull down E1 in the presence of DNA damage (lane 4). In lanes 7 and 8, the HA-tagged E1 plasmid is detectable in the input lanes. In lane 8, E1 is not degraded as a consequence of etoposide treatment and this therefore rules out any suggestions that E1 is simply not coimmunoprecipitated with the pS/Q antibody because it has been degraded. Studies on BPV E1 protein suggest that E1 is phosphorylated and this may regulate BPV replication (Lentz et al., 1993; Zanardi et al., 1997; Lentz et al., 2002). Therefore the phosphorylation of HPV11 E1 in undamaged cells may be a consequence of E1 regulation. A recent paper has also suggested that BPV1 E1 may contain an ATR phosphorylation site (Lentz et al., 2006). Further evidence is required to confirm this hypothesis however the result in Figure 3.1.6 (a) suggests that either ATR or ATM phosphorylates HPV11 E1 in untreated cells, suggesting a regulatory role for the protein kinases.

Figure 3.1.6 (b) shows the results obtained with HA-tagged HPV16 E1. This experiment was carried out in an identical manner to the experiment in 3.1.6 (a) with the exception

of transfection of a HPV16 HA-tagged E1 instead of HPV11. Lanes 1 and 3 serve as negative controls as they have not been transfected with E1. Unlike HPV11 E1 the pS/Q antibody appears not to pull down E1 in the absence of etoposide treatment (lanes 2). Similarly to HPV11, HPV16 E1 does not appear to be phosphorylated by ATR/ATM in response to etoposide treatment (lane 4). E1 is detected in the input lanes (5 and 6). Therefore the results from our checkpoint activated co-immunoprecipitation assays demonstrate that the E1 protein of HPV11 and HPV16 is not targeted for phosphorylation by the ATR/ATM checkpoint kinases in response to DNA damage.



Figure 3.1.6 E1 is not a substrate for DNA checkpoint kinases *in vivo*.

Figure 3.1.6 E1 is not a substrate for DNA checkpoint kinases *in vivo*. (a) Cells were transfected with 1µg of HPV11 HA-E1 (lanes 3, 4 and 7, 8) or 1µg of empty control vector (lanes 1, 2 and 5, 6). Twenty-four hours later the cells were treated with 50µM of etoposide for 30 minutes (+) or left untreated (-) as indicated and protein extracts prepared. A fraction of the protein extract was then immunoprecipitated with an S/Q antibody (lanes 1–4) and the resultant precipitate probed with an HA antibody to detect any immunoprecipitated E1 b) 293T cells were transfected with 1µg of HPV16 HA-E1 (lanes 2, 4 and 5, 6) or 1µg of empty control vector (lanes 1, 3). Twenty-four hours later the cells were treated with 50µM of etoposide for 30 minutes (+) or left untreated (-) as indicated and protein extracts were treated with 50µM of etoposide for 30 minutes (+) or left untreated (-) as indicated and protein extracts prepared. A fraction of the protein extracts were treated with 50µM of etoposide for 30 minutes (+) or left untreated (-) as indicated and protein extracts prepared. A fraction of the protein extracts prepared to the cells were treated with 50µM of etoposide for 30 minutes (+) or left untreated (-) as indicated and protein extracts prepared. A fraction of the protein extract was then

immunoprecipitated with an S/Q antibody (lanes 1-4) and the resultant precipitate probed with an HA antibody.

3.1.7 LT protein levels are reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment

The DNA replication assay results in Figures 3.1.1-3.1.3 are extended over a 48 hour period following etoposide treatment. To investigate the levels of the LT protein following extended etoposide treatment, a time course of etoposide treatment followed by LT western blotting was carried out and the results are shown in Figure 3.1.7 (a). The level of LT protein begins to drastically decrease after 8 hours of etoposide exposure. After 24 hours there is a significant reduction in the LT proteins levels as it is barely detectable by western blotting. To confirm that etoposide had activated an ATR DNA damage response, a phospho-Chk1 antibody was probed against these extracts. Etoposide treatment clearly phosphorylates Chk1. Chk1 is a substrate for activated ATR/ATM (Zhao and Piwnica-Worms, 2001). Chk1 phosphorylation persists over the 24 hour period of the experiment. Gamma-tubulin levels are shown as a loading control.

LT RNA levels were also analysed to investigate whether LT protein reduction after prolonged etoposide treatment was a post translational event, and not simply due to a reduction in LT mRNA levels (Figure 3.1.7 (b)). Although LT mRNA levels decreased by 24 hours to around 36% of RNA levels without treatment (100%) this was not representative of the protein levels detected by western blot (2.2.1.15). Therefore LT mRNA reduction is not fully responsible for the reduction of protein levels after prolonged etoposide treatment. In addition, the *in vitro* experiments in Figure 3.1.4 demonstrate that the regulation of LT mediated DNA replication by DNA damaging agents is due to a direct regulation of the LT protein. Therefore although there is a reduction in LT RNA levels following etoposide treatment, this is unlikely to fully account for the inhibition of DNA replication function. When aphidicolin is used, an immediate arrest of LT replication occurs (Figure 3.1.2). The replication signals after etoposide and aphidicolin treatment are very similar in Figure 3.1.2, suggesting an immediate arrest of LT mediated DNA replication by etoposide.

To determine whether part of the reduction of LT protein is due to proteosome mediated degradation, the proteasomal inhibitor MG132 was used in the LT-etoposide experiments. The result of this experiment is shown in Figure 3.1.7 (c). In lane 1, LT

protein is detected in untreated 293T cells. Following treatment with etoposide, protein levels decrease (lane 2). LT protein levels appear to decrease slightly in response to MG132 treatment (lane 3). The LT protein can be easily detected by western blot when treated in combination with etoposide and MG132. The results from three identical experiments were quantified using Image J software and graphed in Figure 3.1.7 (d). The addition of etoposide to 293T cells drastically reduces LT protein levels to around 5% of that detected in untreated 293T cells. Treatment with MG132 also reduces LT levels to around 30% less than the untreated cells. MG132 is dissolved in DMSO. DMSO has been reported to affect protein stability therefore this may explain the reduction in LT protein levels (Tjernberg et al., 2006). 293T cells treated with etoposide and MG132 have around 60% less LT protein than untreated cells. These results suggest that LT protein levels are reduced by long term etoposide treatment because of a decrease in LT RNA levels, possibly due the health of the cells beginning to deteriorate, and by degradation of LT via the proteasome.



3.1.7 LT protein levels are reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment



(d) LT protein levels following etoposide and MG132 treatment.

Figure 3.1.7 LT protein levels are reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment. a) 293T cells were treated with 50 μ M of etoposide for the time periods shown and then protein extracts prepared. These extracts were then western blotted for the proteins indicated. Chk1 S317 serves as a control to confirm activation of the DNA damage response and gamma-tubulin as a loading control. b) 293T cells were treated with 50 μ M of etoposide for 24 hours. RNA extracted from the cells was converted to cDNA and levels of LT were detected using real-time PCR. The graph represents 3 experiments with results normalised to β -actin. c) LT protein levels are reduced via the proteosome following etoposide treatment. 293T cells were treated with 50 μ M etoposide (lanes 2 and 4) and/or 100 μ M MG132 as indicated and protein extracts prepared 24 hours later. Western blotting was then carried out for LT and gamma-tubulin as a loading control. (d) Three replicates from 3.1.7 (c) were quantified using Image J software and gamma tubulin as a loading control. The results displayed show the mean and standard error of the mean.

3.1.8 HPV16 E1 protein levels are not reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment.

Previously it was shown that ATR targets LT for phosphorylation as a result of DNA damage, and a consequence of long term exposure to DNA damage is a large reduction in LT protein levels (Figures 3.1.4 and 3.1.7 respectively). Therefore it was hypothesised that the ability of HPV E1 protein to avoid phosphorylation by the ATR checkpoint kinase would result in unchanged protein levels after long term etoposide exposure. The protein levels of the HPV16 E1 helicase were investigated following long term exposure to etoposide. In Figure 3.1.8 (a), 293T cells were calcium phosphate transfected with 1µg of HPV16 HA-tagged E1 plasmid. The following day cells were treated with etoposide for the time points indicated, and harvested for western blot analysis against E1 (HA), phospho-Chk1 S317 (to show DNA damage checkpoint activation) and gamma tubulin (loading control). Lane 1 does not contain any transfected E1 plasmid and serves as a negative control. E1 is detected when transfected in lane 2. Figure 3.1.8 also demonstrates that calcium phosphate transfection does not activate a DNA damage response because no phosphorylated Chk1 is detected by western blot. Short term exposure (0.5 hours) with etoposide does not alter E1 protein levels during the activation of a DNA damage response (lane 3). In contrast to the LT helicase, E1 protein levels do not appear to decrease after 24 hours of etoposide treatment. Results from three experiments were quantified using Image J software and gamma tubulin as a loading control (Figure 3.1.8 (b)). Treatment with etoposide results in a doubling of E1 protein levels after 24 hours. E1 protein levels appear to remain high after long term etoposide treatment. Treatment with etoposide may arrest the 293T cells in the S phase of the cell cycle (Chow & Ross, 1987). E2 protein has been shown to be stabilised in S phase of the cell cycle and there may be a similar mechanism for E1 stabilisation (Johansson et al., 2009). E1 associates with cyclin E/Cdk2 and prevents E1 degradation via the proteosome (Cueille et al., 1998; Ma et al., 1999). Cyclin E/Cdk2 is a key regulator that initiates progression into the S phase of the cell cycle and therefore it is feasible that E1 may also be stabilised during s phase.



3.1.8 E1 protein levels are not reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment.

(b)



Figure 3.1.8 E1 protein levels are not reduced following prolonged etoposide treatment. (a) 293T cells were transfected with $1\mu g$ of HPV16 HA-E1 plasmid and the following day

cells left untreated (–) or treated with 50μ M of etoposide (+) for 0.5 hours (lane 3) and 24 hours (lane 4). Protein extracts were then prepared and western blotted for the proteins

indicated. Phospho-Chk1 S317 serves as a control to confirm activation of the DNA damage response and gamma-tubulin is used as a loading control. (b) Three similar experiments were quantified after 24 hours of etoposide treatment using Image J software and gamma tubulin as a loading control. The results show the mean and standard error of the mean from three independent experiments.

3.1.9 Site directed mutagenesis of LT phosphorylation sites.

LT is phosphorylated on serine and threonine sites by ATR in response to DNA damage (Figure 3.1.5). ATR is known to target serine/threonine sites that are followed by a glutamine (SQ/TQ sites) (Traven & Heierhorst 2005). Activities of LT are differentially regulated by phosphorylation of serine and threonine residues (Shi et al., 2005). Site directed mutagenesis of LT at known S/Q or T/Q sites was carried out. The aim was to find the specific S/Q site that is phosphorylated by ATR in response to DNA damage. Mutations were made in the LT plasmid using the site directed mutagenesis protocol (2.2.2.11 & 2.2.2.12). The serine or threonine were mutated and replaced with an alanine (Figure 3.1.9).





Figure 3.1.9 Site Directed Mutagenesis of known LT phosphorylation sites. Image showing the known S/Q and T/Q sites on LT. The sites highlighted were chosen to be mutated in wild type pLT using site directed mutagenesis.

3.1.10 LT mutated plasmids are recognised by LT antibodies.

To ensure that the LT epitope recognition site for the LT antibodies, pAb101 and pAb419 was retained following mutation of the LT plasmid a simple co-immunoprecipitation was carried out in 293 cells. Using the GeneJuice method of transfection, either wild type LT plasmid DNA, or one of the mutant plasmid (pLTAg S120A, Q517A, S639A, S664/666A, S676A) were transfected into cells. Two days post transfection, cells were harvested and a fraction of the extract was immunoprecipitated with the LT antibody, pAb419. Samples were then prepared for western blot analysis and probed against the LT antibody pAb101 (Figure 3.1.10). Unlike 293T cells, 293 cells do not stably express the wild type LT protein (lane 1). Wild-type (wt) LT was detected in the pull down (Lane 2). All but one of the mutants (pLTAg S664/666A) were pulled down with the wild type LT antibody. This mutant contained a double mutation due to the close proximity of the S/Q sites. It was therefore possible that this mutation was detrimental to the correct LT protein folding as the antibody could not recognise the epitope of the mutated plasmid. The mutants that were capable of pull down with wild type LT antibody demonstrate that the epitope recognition site for the antibodies pAb101/419 on the mutated LT protein is maintained despite site directed mutagenesis.

Figure 3.1.10 LT mutated plasmids are recognised by LT antibodies.



Figure 3.1.10 LT mutated plasmids are recognised by LT antibodies 293 cells were transfected with 2µg of pLT or with 2µg of one of the mutants; pLTAg S120A, Q517A, S639A, S664/666A, S676A. Forty eight hours post transfection, cells were harvested for immunoprecipitation. Protein extracts were immunoprecipitated with pAb419 (LT) and samples were prepared for western blot analysis probing against pAb101 (LT).

3.1.11 ATR targets LT SQ/TQ mutants for phosphorylation after etoposide treatment.

To determine if ATR/ATM phosphorylates a specific LT SQ/TQ site during an activated DNA damage response, co-immunoprecipitation was carried out using the LT mutated plasmids. The mutant and wild type LT plasmids were transfected into 293 cells using the GeneJuice method of transfection (2.2.1.3). Two days later, cells were treated with 50µM etoposide for 6 hours. Cells were treated for 6 hours because previous results indicated that LT protein levels do not substantially decrease after this time and phosphorylation of Chk1, indicative of an activated checkpoint response is still detected (Figure 3.1.7). Cells were then harvested and protein extracts were made. A fraction of the extract was then immunoprecipitated with the phospho-S/Q antibody that had been used previously (Figure 3.1.5 (b)). The extracts were then prepared for western blot analysis and the membranes were probed with the LT antibody (pAb101). If a LT mutant that had previously shown pull down with the wild type LT but failed to co-immunoprecipitate with the pS/Q antibody, it would reveal a specific site on LT that is phosphorylated by ATR/ATM in response to DNA damage. In Figure 3.1.11 wild type LT is phosphorylated by ATR/ATM in response to etoposide treatment (lane 2). The pLTAg S664/666A mutant was not detected by co-immunoprecipitation (lane 6). This mutant previously failed to coimmunoprecipitate with wild type LT and it was not detected in the input lanes therefore this mutation has resulted in loss of confirmation of the antibody recognition site. The remaining LT mutants all pull down with the pS/Q antibody. Therefore none of the potential ATR/ATM target residues are individually responsible for phosphorylation of LT following DNA damage. At this point it was decided that proteomic studies would be more effective at determining the phosphorylation of LT following DNA damage. Proteomic studies would allow for the identification of post translational modification of phosphorylation sites on the LT protein after etoposide treatment.


Figure 3.1.11 ATR targets LT SQ/TQ mutants for phosphorylation after etoposide treatment.

Figure 3.1.11 ATR targets SQ/TQ LT mutants for phosphorylation after etoposide treatment. 293 cells were transfected with 2µg of pLT or a pLTAg mutant. Two days post transfection cells were treated with 50µM of etoposide for 6 hours. Cells were harvested and protein extracts prepared. A fraction of the extract was immunoprecipitated with the phospho-S/Q antibody and prepared for western blot analysis against pAb101. Input extracts are also shown and gamma tubulin represents a loading control.

3.2 *In vitro* cell extract preparation of ATR and TopBP1 deficient cell extracts

In Chapter 3.1 replication assays showed that replication of the SV4O origin by the SV4O helicase LT is inhibited *in vivo* after treatment with etoposide and *in vitro* by linear digested DNA plasmid. Further to this, *in vitro* data suggested that the ATR kinases are responsible for the activation of the checkpoint pathway that regulates replication by LT. Co-immunoprecipitation using an antibody that binds to proteins that have been phosphorylated by ATR/ATM suggested that LT is targeted by these proteins in response to etoposide treatment *in vivo*. Chapter 3.2 focuses on determining whether the ATR kinase is indeed responsible for the regulation of LT-mediated SV4O origin plasmid replication.

3.2.1 ATR and TopBP1 are essential for activation of Chk1 protein kinase.

The in vitro results in Figure 3.1.4 suggest that ATR is responsible for regulating LT replication. This result was extended in the *in vivo* co-immunoprecipitation assay where LT was shown to be targeted for phosphorylation by ATR/ATM in response to etoposide treatment (Figure 3.1.5). Attempts were made to generate protein extracts lacking in ATR activity. The ATR deficient extract could then be used during *in vitro* replication studies to investigate LT-mediated replication during DNA damage without ATR activation. This would validate the hypothesis that ATR is the protein kinase that regulates LT mediated replication. Two proteins that were targeted for knockdown were ATR and TopBP1. TopBP1 plays the role of a sensor protein in the DNA damage response that is essential for ATR activation (Kumagai et al., 2006). TopBP1 coordinates activation of the DNA damage checkpoint response by coupling the interaction of the 9-1-1 checkpoint clamp at sites of ssDNA. In return this activates the ATR-ATRIP checkpoint kinase complex (Chapter 1.9.2). The activation of ATR triggers a cascade of phosphorylation events which ultimately leads to cell cycle arrest. Owing to the fact that previous studies have demonstrated the essential nature of ATR (making it unlikely to generate sufficient amounts of ATR depleted cell extract for replication assays) the dual approach of TopBP1

and ATR knockdown offered a greater chance of success. The phenotype of TopBP1 depleted cells is well defined.

Oligonucleotides were designed against ATR and TopBP1 (siATR and siTopBP1). The siRNA oligonucleotides were transfected using the Lipofectamine 2000 protocol (2.2.1.4) into 293T cells that were harvested forty eight hours later for western blot analysis (Figure 3.2.1 (a)). Levels of knockdown were measured by probing the membranes for ATR and TopBP1. In lane 1 and 4, 293T cells were mock transfected. A control oligonucleotide (siLuciferase) was transfected into the cells in order to control for any protein knockdown due to the presence of an oligonucleotide targeting a non essential gene (lanes 2 and 3). In lane 3, ATR protein levels have greatly reduced confirming the knockdown by the siATR oligonucleotide. TopBP1 protein levels are also significantly reduced after transfection with siTopBP1 (lane 6). Transfecting siRNA oligonucleotides into cells can cause off target effects such as the silencing of non specific target genes and reduced protein levels (Jackson et al., 2003; Snove & Holen, 2004; Jackson & Linsley, 2004). Studies have demonstrated that the knock down of TopBP1 reduces the activation of ATR (Kumagai et al., 2006; Pedram et al., 2009). However due to the off target effects or siRNA oligonucleotides, ATR and TopBP1 protein levels should have been determined after knockdown of TopBP1 and ATR (respectively). This would have been useful to determine whether knock down of TopBP1 could reduce DNA damage signalling independently from ATR.

The effect of ATR and TopBP1 knockdown on the activation of the DNA damage response was investigated by examining Chk1 phosphorylation. TopBP1 was knocked down as described above. Twenty four hours later cells were treated with hydroxyurea (HU) (Figure 3.2.1 (b)). Hydroxyurea has previously been shown to activate ATR DNA damage pathways (Hammond et al., 2003). After HU treatment, the cells were harvested for western blot analysis. In lanes 1 and 2, cells were mock treated. In lane 2 Chk1 is phosphorylated at S317 in response to HU treatment, indicating an activated checkpoint response. In lanes 3 and 4, cells were transfected with the control oligonucleotide, siLuciferase. In lane 4, Chk1 is phosphorylated when cells are treated with HU. In lanes 5 and 6 the cells were transfected with siTopBP1. Levels of phosphorylated Chk1 protein are activated upon HU treatment in lane 6, however these levels are much lower than

124

those seen in lanes 2 and 4. This may be a result of a partial knockdown of TopBP1. A pan-Chk1 antibody that detects the total amount of Chk1 in each protein extraction was used as a control for Chk1 levels, and gamma tubulin antibody was used as a loading control. These results indicate that TopBP1 knock down in 293T cells results in reduced Chk1 phosphorylation. ATR was knocked down and cells treated with hydroxyurea in a similar way to TopBP1 (Figure 3.2.1 (c)). In lane 1 and 2, cells were mock treated. In lane 2 Chk1 is phosphorylated at S317 in response to HU treatment. In lanes 3 and 4, cells were transfected with the control oligo, siLuciferase. In lane 4, Chk1 is phosphorylated in response to HU treatment. In lanes 5 and 6 the cells were transfected with siATR. In lane 6, siATR transfected-HU treated cells do not appear to contain any phosphorylated Chk1 protein. A pan-Chk1 antibody that detects the total amount of Chk1 is each extraction was used as a control for Chk1 levels, and gamma tubulin antibody was used as a loading control. These results indicate that when ATR or TopBP1 are knocked down, DNA damage signalling through Chk1 kinase is significantly inhibited indicating a reduction in DNA damage signalling.



(a)





siATR (lanes 5 and 6). Lanes 2, 4, and 6 are samples that were treated with 3mM of HU for 4 hours. Cells were then harvested and analysed for western blotting for antibodies against phospho-Chk1 S317, pan-Chk1 and gamma tubulin. (c) cells were mock transfected (lanes 1 and 2), transfected with siLuciferase (lanes 3 and 4) or siTopBP1 (lanes 5 and 6). Lanes 2, 4, and 6 are samples that were treated with 3mM of HU for 4 hours. Cells were then harvested and analysed by western blotting for antibodies against phospho-Chk1 S317, pan-Chk1 and gamma tubulin.

3.2.2 Cell survival is diminished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked down

Having established that siATR and siTopBP1 treatment of 293T cells inhibited DNA damage response signalling, the next step was to investigate the effects of ATR and TopBP1 knockdown on cell growth. This would determine whether it was possible to generate enough TopBP1/ATR knockdown extract for use in the *in vitro* DNA replication assays. TopBP1 knockdown in 293T cells has previously been shown to result in no aberrant changes in cell growth (Wright, 2007). This result was validated using the siTopBP1 oligonucleotide and cell growth during ATR knockdown was also investigated. A simple cell count assay was completed to investigate whether cells could replicate and grow in the absence of ATR/TopBP1 siRNA. HEK 293T cells were transfected with lipids, siLuciferase, siATR or siTopBP1 using the Lipofectamine2000 protocol. Two days after transfection cells were harvested, counted and 2×10^5 cells were replated in triplicate for each transfection. Every 2-3 days, cells were harvested, counted and replated (Figure 3.2.2). These experiments were carried out in triplicate, with the standard error bars shown. In contrast to the findings from Wright, 2007 TopBP1 appears to be essential for normal 293T cell growth because transfected cells were unable to replicate efficiently. ATR is also essential for cellular replication. Since TopBP1 and ATR appear to be essential for normal cell growth in vivo, it would be very difficult to generate cell extracts depleted of ATR activity for in vitro replication assays.



Figure 3.2.2 Cell survival is diminished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked down



3.2.3 Long term cell survival is abolished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked down

To validate previous findings that TopBP1 and ATR are essential to cell survival crystal violet colony survival assays were carried out over fourteen days (2.2.1.6). In these assays TopBP1 or ATR were knocked down using TopBP1/ATR targeted siRNA and similarly to the previous cell count assays; siLuciferase and mock (lipofectamine only) controls were also used. The results for the colony survival assay are shown in Figure 3.2.3. This experiment was carried out three times in triplicate; this figure is representative of the triplicate plates from the same repeat experiment. It is visually very clear that knocking down TopBP1 or ATR expression has a profound effect on 293T cell growth over long periods of time. The results are clear that TopBP1 and ATR deficient 293T cells are unable to grow, ruling out the possibility of generating enough knocked down lysate for *in vitro* replication assays.

3.2.3 Long term cell survival is abolished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked down



Figure 3.2.3 Long term cell survival is abolished when ATR and TopBP1 are knocked down. Photographs from 293T colony survival assay. These experiments were carried out three times in triplicate. The plates shown here are representative of those obtained for the three experiments. 293T cells were plated out and mock transfected, siLuciferase transfected, siATR transfected or siTopBP1 transfected. All colonies were visualized fourteen days following siRNA treatment using a 0.5% crystal violet solution.

3.3 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1 and etoposide

In Figure 3.1.8, HPV16 E1 protein levels appear to increase in the presence of etoposide although the mechanism used to explain this observation was not investigated. The E1 and E2 proteins interact during the virus life cycle at the viral origin therefore it was feasible that E2 protein levels may also increase during etoposide treatment. E2 is a multifunctional protein and any changes in protein levels would affect many stages of the virus life cycle such replication and regulation of transcription. Changes in E2 protein levels will affect levels of virus replication therefore the levels of E2 protein in the presence of E1 was also investigated.

3.3.1. HPV16 E2 is stabilised by prolonged etoposide treatment

In Figure 3.1.2, the HPV viral helicase E1 avoids phosphorylation by ATR during an activated DNA damage response. This result may explain why E1 protein levels were shown to increase after long term exposure to etoposide (Figure 3.1.8). The E2 protein is also required to initiate HPV replication therefore the consequences of prolonged etoposide treatment on E2 protein levels was also investigated. 293T cells were calcium phosphate transfected with HPV16 E2. Two days post transfection cells were untreated or treated with etoposide for 2/4/6/8/16 and 24 hours. Cells were then harvested and prepared for western blot analysis. In a similar trend to E1, there appears to be an increase in E2 protein levels following long term etoposide exposure (Figure 3.3.1(a)). This result suggests a stabilisation of E2 following etoposide treatment. To determine whether the increase in E2 protein levels is a post translational event or simply due to increased E2 RNA levels, E2 RNA was measured after 24 hours of etoposide treatment. E2 transfected 293T cells were untreated or treated with 50μ M of etoposide. Cells were harvested and RNA was extracted using Qiagen RNeasy kit and contaminating DNA removed using the DNA-free kit (2.2.2.15 & 2.2.2.16). Complimentary DNA was synthesised using SuperScript III reverse transcriptase kit (2.2.2.17). E2 levels were detected using real time PCR and standardised with a beta actin control (Figure 3.4.2. (b)). In the presence of etoposide, E2 RNA levels increase to approximately 5 fold more, than untreated E2 transfected cells (p

value >0.05). Therefore although there is an increase increase in E2 mRNA levels after prolonged etoposide treatment it is not a significant difference.





(b)





Figure 3.3.1 E2 is stabilised by prolonged etoposide treatment (a) 293T cells were transfected with 2µg of HPV16 E2 plasmid. 48 hours later cells left untreated (–) or treated with 50µM of etoposide (+) for the times indicated. Cells were harvested and prepared for western blot analysis and probed for E2 (TVG261) and gamma tubulin. Phosphorylated Chk1 S317 serves as a control to confirm activation of the DNA damage response. (b) 293T cells were transfected with 2µg of HPV16 E2 plasmid and untreated or treated with 50µM of etoposide for 16 hours. RNA extracted from the cells was converted to cDNA and levels of E2 were detected using real-time PCR. The graph represents 3 experiments with results normalised to beta actin. The values shown are representative of fold difference where E2 is equal to 1.

3.3.2 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1 through post translational modifications.

The consequence of E1 and etoposide on E2 protein levels was next investigated. 293T cells were transfected with HPV16 E2, and either the HPV16 HA tagged E1 or an empty vector plasmid. Two days post transfection the cells were treated with 50μ M etoposide for 24 hours or were left untreated. The treated cells were then harvested and prepared for western blot analysis probing with antibodies against E2 (TVG261), E1 (HA) and gamma tubulin (Figure 3.3.2 (a)). E2 protein is detectable when transfected by itself (lane 3). When co-transfected with the HA tagged E1 plasmid, E2 protein levels increase (lane 4). In the presence of etoposide, E2 protein levels again increase. There appears to be an additive effect on E2 protein levels when both E1 and etoposide treatment are present (lane 6). The increase seen in E2 protein levels in etoposide treated cells is attributed to a rise in E2 mRNA (Figure 3.3.1). To investigate whether the changes in E2 protein levels in the presence of E1 is a result of additional E2 mRNA or due to post translational modifications, E2 RNA levels were analysed (Figure 3.3.2 (b)). There is an increase in E2 RNA in the presence of E1 by around two fold however this is not significantly different as the p value is >0.05.







Figure 3.3.2 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1 through post translational modifications. (a) Cells were transfected with 2µg of HPV16 E2 (+), 100ng HPV16 E1 HA tagged (+) and left untreated (-) or treated with 50µM etoposide (+) for 16 hours. Cells were then harvested and prepared for western blot analysis by probing for E2 (TVG261), E1 (HA) and gamma tubulin as the loading control. (b) 293T cells were transfected with 2µg of HPV16 E2 plasmid with or without 1µg of HPV16 E1 HA tagged. RNA extracted from the cells was converted to cDNA and levels of E2 were detected using real-time PCR. The graph represents 3 experiments with results normalised to beta actin.

3.3.3 Etoposide arrests HPV16 E1 and E2 transfected 293T cells at the G_2/M checkpoint

Etoposide inhibits the cell cycle by creating double stranded DNA breaks. It has been shown that HPV16 E2 is stabilised in the S phase of the cell cycle in E2 stably expressing U2OS cells (Johansson et al., 2009). It was possible that the stabilisation of E2 observed with long term etoposide exposure and E1 co-transfection could be a consequence of an S phase arrest. Flow cytometry analysis was carried out to determine the cell cycle profile of E2 and E1 transfected 293T cells that were either untreated or treated with etoposide. Briefly, 293T cells were mock calcium phosphate transfected or transfected with HPV16 E2 (with and without HA tagged E1). Two days post transfection the cells were treated with etoposide for 16 hours and prepared for flow cytometry analysis. The profiles in the top row are untreated and the bottom row is the profiles of cells treated with etoposide (Figure 3.3.3). Mock transfected 293T cells treated with etoposide arrest the cells at the G₂/M checkpoint (bottom row, left panel). Cells transfected with E2 have a normal cycle profile (top row, middle panel). When treated with etoposide these cells also arrest at the G_2/M checkpoint (bottom row, middle panel). E2 and E1 co-transfected cells have a normal profile (top row, right panel). After etoposide treatment the cells arrest at the In G₂ phase (bottom row, right panel). Etoposide arrests E1 and E2 transfected 293T cells predominantly at the G₂ phase of the cell cycle. Etoposide and E1 do not arrest cells in S phase and therefore E1 does not increase E2 protein levels by arresting the cell cycle in S phase. Therefore the mechanisms by which E1 increases E2 protein levels were investigated further.



Figure 3.3.3 Etopsoide arrests HPV16 E1 and E2 transfected 293T cells at the G_2/M checkpoint

Figure 3.3.3 Etopsoide arrests HPV16 E1 and E2 transfected 293T cells at the G_2/M checkpoint. 293T cells were either mock calcium phosphate transfected, transfected with 2µg of HPV16 E2 or co transfected with E2 and 1µg of HA-tagged HPV16 E1. Forty eight hours later cells were left untreated or treated to 50µM of etoposide for 16 hours. Cells were then harvested and prepared by propidium iodide staining for flow cytometry analysis.

3.4 HPV16 E2 has increased stability and function due to a direct interaction with the viral helicase E1.

The results in Chapter 3.3 indicated that HPV16 E1 increases E2 protein levels through post translational mechanisms. E2 RNA analysis showed that there was an increase in RNA by E1 to around 2 fold higher, however this was not significantly different (Figure 3.3.2 (b)). Cell cycle analysis revealed that E1 transfected cells were not arrested in S phase ruling out this mechanism to explain E2 stabilisation (Figure 3.3.3). This chapter investigates the E1.E2 interaction, the effects it has on E2 protein stability and possible mechanisms that E1 uses to alter the levels of E2 protein within the cell. E2 is a multifunctional protein within the virus life cycle and therefore the functional consequences of this interaction were also investigated.

3.4.1 HPV16 E1 increases E2 protein levels.

It became obvious that E2 protein levels were higher in the presence of E1 whilst investigating the effect that etoposide had on both proteins stabilisation (Figure 3.3.2(a)). In the western blot, E2 protein levels increased in the presence of the HA-tagged E1 expression vector. As further evidence of stronger E2 expression in the presence of E1 a different E1 expressing vector was used in Figure 3.4.1. HPV16 E2 (pCMV-E2) and the alternative HPV16 E1 plasmid (pCMV-E1) were calcium phosphate transfected into 293T cells. Forty eight hours post transfection, cells were harvested, and protein was extracted and prepared for western blot analysis. There is no antibody for HPV16 E1 however the E1 protein expressed from this plasmid is functional as it is able to replicate HPV16 origin plasmid in the presence of an E2 expressing plasmid (King et al., 2010). E2 protein bands appear to be stronger in the presence of the alternative E1 plasmid. This result supports previous evidence that E1 can increase E2 protein levels.



Figure 3.4.1 HPV16 E1 increases E2 protein levels.

Figure 3.4.1 HPV16 E1 increases E2 protein levels. 293T cells were transfected with $2\mu g$ of E2 and either $0/5/10\mu g$ of the alternative E1 plasmid. Forty eight hours later the cells were harvested and prepared for western blot analysis to probe for E2 and gamma tubulin. There is no available antibody available for the alternative HPV16 E1 plasmid.

3.4.2 HPV16 E1 can alter E2 chromatin affinity

HPV16 E2 that interacts with chromatin is more stabilised than E2 that does not have a high affinity for chromatin (Donaldson et al., 2007). During salt extraction assays, E2 is shown to be detectable in soluble cell extracts with a high salt concentration more than low salt concentration extracts. From this previous work it was hypothesised that E1 may increase E2 protein levels by shifting E2 onto chromatin. Salt extractions were carried out in 293T cells to investigate this hypothesis. HPV16 E2 and HPV16 E1 tagged with HA were co-transfected into the cells and forty eight hours post transfection the cell lysate was serially extracted in increasing concentrations of NaCl in CSK (0.15/0.2/0.4/0.6/0.8/1.0M salt) (2.2.2.20). The extractions were prepared for western blot analysis and probed with antibodies against E1 (HA) and E2 (TVG261) (Figure 3.4.2(a)). The results from Figure 3.4.2 (a) are representative of three independent experiments. Visually there appears to be a slight shift in E2 towards the 1.0M salt extraction whilst in the presence of E1. To confirm this by densitometry the blots were quantified using Image J software and graphed showing a percentage of the total amount of E2 from all the extractions (Figure 3.4.2 (b)). There is a significant difference between E2 at 1M in the absence or presence of E1. The remaining extracts (0.15-0.8) did not show a significant difference between E2 levels with and without E1 (p>0.05).



(a)



(b)

E1 causes association of E2 with less-soluble biochemical fractions



Figure 3.4.2 HPV16 E1 can alter E2 chromatin affinity. $2\mu g$ of HPV16 E2 with or without $1\mu g$ of HPV16 E1HA were transfected into 293T cells. Proteins were serially extracted using Triton-X lysis buffer with salt concentration ranging from 0.15 to 1M. The E2 and E1 proteins were detected using western blot analysis using the TVG261 antibody for E2 detection and HA antibody for E1 detection. Statistical significance by Students *t*-test is indicated as * (p<0.05). (b) Three repeats were quantified using Image J software. The graph displays the mean and the standard error of the mean for each extraction. The value for E2 was calculated as a percentage of the total amount of E2 for all the extractions (0.15-1.0M).

3.4.3. HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1.

E2 protein levels increase in the presence of E1. E1 may therefore increase the half-life of E2 by increasing the stability of the protein. Cycloheximide (CHX) drug treatment was used to investigate whether E1 extends E2 protein stability as this drug is known to inhibit protein biosynthesis. HPV16 E2 was transfected in 293T cells with and without HA tagged E1 expression plasmid. The transfected cells were treated with $100\mu M$ of the protein synthesis CHX for either 0/1/2/3/4 or 6 hours. The cells were then harvested and protein was extracted for western blot analysis using antibodies against E1 (HA) and E2 (TVG-261). In Figure 3.4.3(a) E2 protein levels are reduced as a result of CHX treatment. This reduction is less obvious when E1 is co-transfected with E2. Three repeats were quantified using Image J software using gamma tubulin as a loading control (Figure 3.4.3 (b)). The graph shows the mean and the standard error of the mean from three independent experiments. E2 protein half life was calculated using the Microsoft Excel programme. This programme predicted the best fit line for each data set and the equation of this line was used to calculate the half life at 50% of E2 protein level without CHX treatment. The half life of E2 alone was calculated to be 2.6 hours and in the presence of E1 it increases to 3.5 hours.

Figure 3.4.3 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1.

(a)



(b)



Figure 3.4.3 HPV16 E2 is stabilised by E1. (a) 293T cells were transfected with 50ng of E1-HA and 1 μ g of E2. Forty eight hours post transfection the cells were treated with 100 μ M CHX for the time points indicated and cells were then harvested for western blot analysis for E2 (TVG261) and E1 (HA). (b) Protein bands were quantified using E2 levels relative to pre-CHX treatment and the gamma tubulin signal was used for normalisation of each band. The graph represents the mean and standard error of the mean for three independent experiments. Image J software was used for quantification of the protein bands and therefore made it possible to estimate the half life of E2.

3.4.4 HPV16 E2 E39A mutant does not interact with HA-tagged E1

E1 and E2 have been shown to interact at glutamic acid 39 on HPV16 E2. A mutant E2 expression plasmid harbouring a glutamic acid to alanine substitution at amino acid position 39 is unable to support HPV replication but does not loose its transactivation function (Sakai et al 1996). This mutation was synthesised into the HPV16 E2 expression plasmid used throughout this thesis by Mary Donaldson using site directed mutagenesis (2.2.2.11 & 2.2.2.12).. The mutated E2 expressing plasmid was then utilized to investigate whether E1 stabilisation of E2 is a result of a direct interaction between both proteins. To test whether E2 expressed from the mutated plasmid had lost its ability to interact with E1 protein, co-immunoprecipitation experiments were carried out in 293T cells. The E39A E2 mutant or E2 wild type expressing plasmids were co-transfected with 0/0.1/1/10/100ng of E1-HA expression plasmid. Two days post transfection the cells were harvested and proteins were extracted. Protein lysates were incubated with an antibody against HA to detect E1 (Figure 3.4.4). E2 wild type and E39A mutant pull down was determined using the E2 antibody, TVG261. The western blot shows that the E2 wild type co-immunoprecipitates with E1. No pull down was detected with the E39A mutant. Input lanes also show that wild type E2 protein bands appear to increase in intensity with increasing amounts of transfected E1. On the contrary E39A mutant show no change. This result suggests the E39A mutant may not be stabilised by E1. Future work was focused on testing this theory.



3.4.4 HPV16 E2 E39A mutant does not interact with HA-tagged E1

3.4.4 HPV16 E2 E39A mutant does not interact with HA-tagged E1. 293T cells were transfected with a concentration range of E1-HA plasmid (0.1/1/10/100ng) and either 2µg of E2 wild type or 2µg of E39A E2 mutant. Cell lysates were harvested forty eight hours later and protein extracted. To detect E2/E39A interaction with E1, lysates were immunoprecipitated with the anti-HA antibody. Samples were then prepared for western blot analysis and immunoblotted with antibodies against E2 (TVG 261), E1 (HA) and gamma tubulin as a loading control. The image shown is representative of three independent experiments.

3.4.5 HPV16 E2 stabilisation by E1 is a result of a direct E1.E2 interaction

E1 and E2 interact during the virus life cycle to mediate replication from the viral origin. Therefore E1 may stabilise E2 to enhance viral replication during the viral life cycle. This may be important during viral vegetative replication in the differentiating epithelial cells. E1 may increase the stability of E2 as a result of the proteins interacting directly. Therefore the ability of E1 to stabilise the E2 E39A mutant was assessed next (Figure. 3.4.5 (a)). This figure is representative of three independent experiments. E2 E39A and E1 transfected 293T cells were treated with 100µM of the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide (CHX) for the indicated time points. The cells were then harvested and prepared for western blot analysis and probed for E2 (TVG 261) and E1 (HA). The E2 E39A protein bands appear to lose intensity after 2 hours of CHX treatment. In the presence of E1, E39A protein levels show only a slight increase in intensity compared to E39A alone at 2 hours. The actual E39A half life was calculated from three independent experiments using ImageJ software (Figure 3.4.5 (b)). This figure represents the quantified results with associated mean and standard errors of the mean. The half life of E39A was calculated as 2.8 hours. In the presence of E1, the half life was marginally increased to 2.9 hours. This result suggests that the E1.E2 interaction is essential for the increase in E2 stability by the E1 protein.

Figure 3.4.5 HPV16 E2 stabilisation by E1 is a result of a direct E1.E2 interaction

(a)



(b) The E39A E2 mutant does not show increased stabilisation by E1



Figure 3.4.5 HPV16 E2 stabilisation by E1 is a result of a direct E1.E2 interaction a) 293T cells were calcium phosphate transfected with 2μg of E39A plasmid and 50ng of either E1-HA or an empty vector plasmid DNA. Two days post transfection, cells were treated with CHX (100μM) for the time points indicated and harvested for western blot analysis. E39A was detected using the TVG261 antibody. E1 was detected using the HA antibody. (b) E39A half life in the absence and presence of E1 was calculated using densitometry. Protein bands were quantified using E39A levels relative to pre-CHX treatment and the gamma tubulin signal was used for normalisation of each band. The graph represents the mean and standard error of the mean from three independent experiments. Image J software was used for quantification of the protein bands and therefore made it possible to estimate the half life of E39A.

3.4.6 HPV16 E1 enhances E2 functional activity as a result of the E1.E2 interaction.

Studies have demonstrated that chromatin adaptor protein, Brd4, can alter E2 protein stability and functional activity therefore it was hypothesised that a consequence of the direct interaction between E1 and E2 would be a change in E2 transcriptional activity (Schweiger et al., 2006; Lee & Chiang, 2009; Gagnon et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2009). To investigate any changes that E1 may influence on E2 transcriptional activity, transcriptional assays were undertaken that use the tk6E2 plasmid containing six HPV16 E2 binding sites, a downstream thymidine kinase promoter and a luciferase reporter gene (Vance, 1999). The HPV16 E2 expression plasmid (1/10/100ng) and tk6E2 plasmid was transfected into 293T cells with and without HPV16 E1-HA (Figure 3.4.6 (a)). Luciferase activity was normalised using the tk6E2 plasmid only (normalised to 1) and the values shown are represented as fold differences (*n*-fold). At all concentrations of E2, luciferase expression increased with increasing amounts of E2 and there was no trans-repression at the highest amount of E2 used (blue bars). The effect of an E1-E2 interaction was investigated by co-transfection of the HA-tagged E1 with HPV16 E2 plasmids (red bars). There is an approximate 8 fold increase in transcriptional activation in the presence of E1 compared to E2 alone when 1ng of E2 plasmid is co-transfected with HA-tagged E1 (p value < 0.05). There is an approximate 9 fold increase when 10ng of E2 plasmid is transfected with E1 expression plasmid (p value < 0.05). E1 results in an approximate 4 fold increase with 100ng of E2 plasmid. However because the p value is 0.007, there is no significant difference between these data sets. Compared to 1ng and 10ng of E2, E1 enhancement of E2 transcriptional activation at 100ng of E2 is reduced. This may be attributed to E2 binding site saturation.

The increase in E2 transcription by the presence of E1 may be attributed to a direct interaction between these proteins. To test this hypothesis, the E2 mutant plasmid that has reduced interaction with E1 was used in a similar experiment to Figure 3.4.6 (a). The only deviation between the experiments was the use of E2 E39A mutant in place of E2 wild type expression plasmid, all plasmid concentrations were kept the same (Figure 3.4.6 (b)). At the concentrations 1/10/100ng, luciferase expression of E2 E39A mutant is higher than with the reporter plasmid alone, demonstrating that this mutant retains

transcriptional functions comparable to wild type E2. The transcriptional activity of wild type E2 and E2 E39A expression plasmids are very similar. For all concentrations of E39A (1/10/100ng) there is only a small rise detected in E2 transcriptional activation when E1 is present (red bars). The 2 fold increase in E2 transcription and small increase in E2 E39A protein half life seen previously in the presence of E1 (Figure 3.3.3) may be a result of a weak E1 and E2 interaction that was not detected by western blot (Figure 3.4.4). In Figure 3.3.2 (b) E2 RNA is increased by almost two fold when co-transfected with HA-E1 plasmid. The E2 and E39A ORFs are cloned into the same plasmid so contain the same promoter and enhancer sequences. Therefore any increase in transcription or half life may reflect the increase in RNA levels seen previously. The data presented shows evidence that a direct interaction between E1 and E2 is accountable for an increase in E2 functional activity.

Figure 3.4.6 HPV16 E1 enhances E2 functional activity as a result of the E1.E2 interaction.



(a) Transcriptional function of E2 is enhanced by E1





Figure 3.4.6 HPV16 E1 enhances E2 functional activity as a result of the E1.E2 interaction. (a) One microgram of the tk6E2 reporter plasmid was co-transfected with

increasing amounts of HPV16 E2 in the absence (blue bars) or presence (red bars) of 50ng HPV16 E1HA. Cells were harvested 48 hours post transfection and assayed for luciferase activity (Promega). Luciferase activity for the lysate containing tk6E2 only (black bar) is normalized to 1 and other activities are calculated as a fold difference (*n* fold). The results shown are an average of three independent experiments with mean and standard error of the mean bars displayed. Statistical significance by Students *t*-test is indicated as * (p<0.05). (b) One microgram of the tk6E2 reporter plasmid was co-transfected with increasing amounts of HPV16 E39A mutant in the absence (blue bars) or presence (red bars) of 50ng of HPV16 E1. Cells were harvested 48 hours post transfection and assayed for luciferase activity. Luciferase activity for the lysate containing tk6E2 only (black bar) is normalized to 1 and other activities are calculated as a difference (*n* fold). The results shown are an average of three independent experiments showing the mean. Standard error of the mean are also displayed.

3.4.7 Functional activity of the transcriptionally defective HPV16 R37A E2 mutant in the presence of E1

Previous work has shown that a mutated E2 (R37A) was able to bind to E1, retained reasonable replication function but had greatly reduced transactivation function (Sakai et al., 1996). It was later discovered by the same group that this mutation severely impeded E2 and Brd4 interaction (Schweiger et al 2006). The Brd4-E2 interaction was therefore deemed essential for mediating E2 transcriptional function. It was considered whether E1 could stimulate E2 R37A mutant transcriptional activity and therefore whether E1 contributes directly to transcriptional activation. 293T cells were transfected with the tk6E2 reporter plasmid, with increasing amount of E2/R37A in the presence or absence of HA tagged E1. The R37A mutant was constructed in the E2 plasmid that is used in this particular experiment, by Peter Howley's group (Harvard, Boston). Both wild type and mutant plasmids are identical with the exception of the arginine to alanine mutation at amino acid position 37.

Forty eight hours post transfection duplicate samples were harvested and prepared for a transcription assay. Luciferase activity for the tk6E2 plasmid was normalised to 1, and activities from other samples were calculated as a fold difference (*n*-fold). The values shown represent an average of three independent experiments. As can be seen in Figure 3.4.7 (a), the new E2 plasmid mimicked our previous results in shown in Figure 3.4.6. As E2 concentration is increased, the luciferase signal from tk6E2 activation increases (blue bars). This demonstrates that the E2 expression plasmid shows expression of increasing E2. When E1 is present, again an enhancement of E2 function is observed (red bars). At 10ng of E2, E1 increases activation by approximately 2 fold, at 100ng of E2 this enhancement increases to around 10 fold and at 1µg of E2, E2 activity increases by approximately 4 fold. These results are similar to the previous observations of E1 stimulated E2 functional activity however the p values for each concentration where >0.05 so it cannot be said that there is a significant difference.

The ability of E1 to increase the R37A mutant transcriptional activity was investigated in Figure 3.4.7 (b). Preparation of the transcription assay was carried out in a similar fashion to Figure 3.4.7(a) with the only variation being the transfection of R37A and not wild type

E2. Previous work with R37A mutant has demonstrated severely diminished transcriptional functions of this plasmid compared to wild type E2. Our results are not reflective of this observation. R37A appears to be transcriptionaly active with the tk6E2 reporter plasmid. At 10ng of R37A, the signal is 3 fold higher compared to tk6E2 alone, at 100ng this signal is 5 fold higher and at 1µg of R37A this signal is 10 times higher. Therefore the R37A mutant is functionally active with the tk6E2 reporter plasmid. The disparities in the results may be a consequence of differences in reporter plasmids. The previous study used chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) reporter plasmids and this study used luciferase reporter plasmids.

Figure 3.4.7 Functional activity of the transcriptionaly defective HPV16 R37A E2 mutant in the presence of E1



(a) HPV16 E2 transcription in the presence of E1



(b) HPV16 E2 R37A mutant transcription in the presence of E1

Figure 3.4.7 Functional activity of the transcriptionaly defective R37A E2 mutant in the presence of E1 (a) One microgram of the tk6E2 reporter plasmid was co-transfected with increasing amounts of HPV16 E2 in the absence (blue bars) or presence (red bars) of 50ng of HPV16 E1HA. Cells were harvested 48 hours post transfection and assayed for luciferase activity (Promega). Luciferase activity of lysate containing tk6E2 only (black bar) is normalized to 1 and other activities are calculated as a difference (*n* fold). The results shown are an average of three independent experiments with standard error of the mean displayed. (b) One microgram of the tk6E2 reporter plasmid was co-transfected with increasing amounts of HPV16 R37A mutant in the absence (blue bars) or presence (red bars) of 50ng of HPV16 E1HA. Cells were harvested 48 hours post transfection and assayed for luciferase activity. Luciferase activity of lysates containing tk6E2 only (black bar) is normalized to 1 and other activities are calculated as a difference (*n* fold). The results shown are an average of three independent experiments with standard error of the mean displayed. (b) One microgram of the tk6E2 reporter plasmid was co-transfected with increasing amounts of HPV16 R37A mutant in the absence (blue bars) or presence (red bars) of 50ng of HPV16 E1HA. Cells were harvested 48 hours post transfection and assayed for luciferase activity. Luciferase activity of lysates containing tk6E2 only (black bar) is normalized to 1 and other activities are calculated as a difference (*n* fold). The results shown are an average of three independent experiments with standard error of the mean displayed.

3.4.8 HPV16 E1 increases E2 stability in a cervical cancer cell line.

The data shown in Chapter 3.4 has been carried out in the HEK 293T cell line. The biggest threat to human health caused by HPV16 is its ability to cause cancer in cervical epithelial cells. Similar experiments were therefore carried out in a cell line that mimicked the oncogenic environment that HPV may encounter during tumourigenesis in the cervix. The C33A cell line is a HPV-negative, human cervical carcinoma cell line. This cell line was used to investigate the consequences of the E1 and E2 interaction. Protein half life experiments were completed using cycloheximide as an inhibitor of protein synthesis to investigate whether E1 can increase E2 stability in a cervical cancer cell line. HPV16 E2 was transfected with or without HPV16 E1 HA tagged plasmid. The cells were treated with CHX two days after transfection for the time points indicated (Figure 3.4.8 (a)). C33A cells were then harvested for western blot analysis to detect E2 (TVG261), E1 (HA) and gamma tubulin (loading control). The image is representative of three independent experiments. At 1 hour of CHX treatment, the intensity of the E2 protein band appears significantly less with E2 alone, compared to E2 in the presence of E1. Densitometry is used in Figure 3.4.8 (b) to estimate the half life of E2 in C33A cells. The quantitated results show the average of three independent experiments with associated means and standard error of the mean. Using the Microsoft Excel programme to calculate the equation of the best fit line for each data set the half life was calculated. E2 has a calculated half life of 3.6 hours in C33A cells. The half life increases substantially to 5.7 hours in the presence of E1. Therefore in a cervical carcinoma cell line, E1 is able to increase E2 stability by increasing the protein's half life.


Figure 3.4.8 HPV16 E1 increases E2 stability in a cervical cancer cell line.

(b)

(a)





Figure 3.4.8 HPV16 E1 increases E2 stability in a cervical cancer cell line. (a) C33A cells were transfected with 2µg HPV16 E2 with or without 2µg E1-HA. Two days post transfection, cells were treated with 100µM of CHX for the time points indicated and harvested for western blot analysis using TVG261 (E2) HA antibody (E1) and gamma tubulin as a loading control. (b) E2 half life in the absence and presence of E1 was calculated using densitometry. Protein bands were quantified using E2 levels relative to pre-CHX treatment and the gamma tubulin signal was used for normalisation of each band. The graph represents the average percentage of protein with standard error of the mean of three independent experiments. Image J software was used for quantification of the protein bands and therefore made it possible to estimate the half life of E2 in C33A cells.

3.4.9 E2 transcriptional activity in a cervical cancer cell line.

A previous observation in the 293T cell line demonstrated that E2 stability is improved by a direct interaction with E1 and a functional consequence of this interaction is increased E2 transcriptional activity (Figure 3.4.6). Therefore the effect E1 has on E2 transcriptional activity was also investigated using the C33A cell line. Figure 3.4.9 (a) shows the results of the E2 transcription assay in C33A cells. Luciferase expression from the tk6E2 reporter plasmid increases with increasing amounts of transfected E2 (blue bars). There was no signal repression at the highest amount of E2 used. All signals were stronger than the tk6E2 plasmid alone (black bar) and this demonstrates that E2 is capable of activating the tk promoter in C33A cells. The effect of E1-E2 interaction was investigated by cotransfection of 50ng of E1 and 10/100/1000ng of E2 (red bars). At 1ng E2, there is an approximate 12 fold increase in transcriptional activation in the presence of E1 compared to E2 alone. At 10ng E2 there is an approximate 6 fold increase and at 100ng E2, there is an approximate 3.5 fold increase. However these increases are not significantly different because the p value was greater than 0.05 at each concentration of E2 used.

To determine whether the increase in E2 transcription function is a consequence of an E1-E2 interaction the E39A mutant was used in place of wild type E2 (Figure 3.4.9 (b)). The values and standard errors shown are an average of three independent experiments. At all concentrations of E39A (blue bars) used, luciferase expression was higher than the tk6E2 reporter plasmid (black bar), demonstrating that this mutant retained normal E2 transcriptional functions in C33A cells. Luciferase expression increases from 1ng to 100ng E39A (blue bars). The red bars represent samples where E39A and E1 have been co transfected. At 1ng E39A, there is an approximate 3 fold increase in transcriptional activation in the presence of E1 compared to E39A alone. At 10ng E39A there is an approximate 2 fold increase and at 100ng E39A, there is an approximate 1.2 fold increase in the presence of E1. The p values was greater than 0.05 at each concentration of E39A therefore there is no significant difference between E39A mutant with and without E1. This result may reflect some residual binding between E1 and the E39A mutant or an increase in E39A RNA levels as mentioned previously. The enhancement of E39A mediated transcription in the presence of E1 is much smaller compared to E2 wild type.

Figure 3.4.9 E2 transcriptional activity in a cervical cancer cell line.



(a) HPV16 E2 transcriptional activity in the presence of E1







harvested 48 hours post transfection and assayed for luciferase activity. Luciferase activity of lysates containing tk6E2 only is normalized to 1 and other activities ware calculated as a fold difference (*n* fold). The values and standard errors of the mean are shown and are an average of three independent experiments. (d) One microgram of the tk6E2 reporter plasmid was transfected alone (black bar) or with increasing amounts (1/10/100ng) of the E39A mutant in the absence (blue bars) or presence of 50ng E1HA (red bars). C33A were harvested 48 hours post transfection and assayed for luciferase activity. Luciferase activity of lysate containing tk6E2 plasmid only is normalized to 1 and other activities are calculated as a fold difference (*n* fold). The values and standard error of the mean are shown and are an average of three independent experiments.

3.5 Summary of Chapter 3

The data presented in this chapter shows the ability of E1 and E2 to replicate the HPV origin in the presence of DNA damage despite the activation of checkpoint kinases. In contrast, SV40 LT mediated replication is arrested in response to treatment with DNA damaging agents. Evidence from *in vitro* replication assays suggest that it is ATR that targets LT and prevents replication during DNA damage. Further evidence supporting this hypothesis was hampered because ATR/TopBP1 knock down cells were unable to grow.

In vivo, ATR/ATM phosphorylates LT in response to DNA damage and a consequence is LT degradation by the proteosome. Mutational work of predicted ATR/ATM targeted sites in LT failed to indicate an individual site responsible for phosphorylation. In comparison activated ATR/ATM does not target E1 for phosphorylation *in vivo* and this may explain the differences between HPV E1-E2 and SV40 LT mediated replication.

Analysis of the E1.E2 interaction in 293T and C33A has shown that E1 stabilises E2 through post translational modifications. E1 does not alter the cell cycle but does alter E2 affinity for chromatin. E2 shows a higher affinity for chromatin in the presence of E1. Functional analysis using a reporter plasmid that contains six E2 binding sites has demonstrated the ability of E1 to significantly enhance E2 transcriptional functions in the 293T cell line. These results will be discussed in detail in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4- Discussion

4.1 E1-E2 mediated HPV origin replication is not inhibited in response to DNA damage

HPV is the causative agent of cervical cancer and the integration of viral DNA into the host genome can enhance malignant transformation (Pett & Coleman, 2007). Deletions in both E1 and E2 genes are often observed during integration with the maximum number of losses observed within the E2 gene region (zur Hausen, 2002). Loss of E2 expression results in unregulated transcription of the E6 and E7 oncogenes, predisposing the cell to genomic instability.

Factors promoting HPV integration may include the ability of the virus to replicate at the same time as DNA breaks in the cell genome. Figures 3.1.1 & 3.1.3 demonstrate the ability of the replication proteins E1 and E2 to replicate the HPV origin of replication under conditions of DNA double strand breaks therefore increasing the chances of viral integration. Etoposide and camptothecin cause DNA damage however other factors that may promote naturally occurring DNA breaks are endogenous factors such as the female hormone estrogen. Estrogen is an important issue in cervical cancer research because many women take the estrogen-containing contraceptive pill. Some studies have shown that woman who use estrogen as a contraceptive pill have higher rates of cervical dysplasia than those who do not (Moulten & Le, 1991; Moreno et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2003; McFarlane-Anderson et al., 2008; Vanakankovit & Taneepanichskul, 2008). Data from one multicentre study showed that use of the oral contraceptive increased the risk of developing cervical cancer in a duration-dependent manner compared to women who did not use the pill. The risk increased by 2.72 fold for women using the contraceptive for 5-9 years. Women that used the contraceptive pill for ten or more years had a 4.48 fold increase in cervical cancer rates (Moreno et al., 2002). A separate study of 12531 cases of cervical cancer also showed an increase in cervical cancer rates with increasing

Chapter 4: Discussion

contraceptive pill duration (reviewed in Smith et al., 2003). Women who tested positive for HPV DNA and used the contraceptive pill for 5-9 years had increased rates by 1.3 fold and for 10 years or more of use showed increased rates of 2.5 fold compared to woman who did not take contraceptive pill. The same study also suggests that the incidence rate of cervical cancer decreased after the oral contraceptive stopped being used. Later studies have also linked long term use of the oral contraceptive with increased rates of cervical cancer (McFarlane-Anderson et al., 2008; Vanakankovit & Taneepanichskul, 2008). Estrogen has also been shown to contribute to the onset, persistence and malignant progression of cervical cancer in HPV-transgenic mouse models) and cause resistance to apoptosis in cervical cancer cells (Arbeit et al., 1996; Brake and Lambert, 2004; Chen et al., 2004).

Further to this, several estrogen metabolites can cause DNA damage through redox cycling processes that produce reactive radical species (Yager & Liehr, 1996). Redox cycling of estrogen quinone in cells generates free radicals, which induce DNA single strand breaks in estrogen-sensitive breast cancer cells (Nutter et al., 1991; Nutter et al., 1994). ATR is the predominant Ser/Thr kinase that is activated in response to single strand breaks. 17-βestradiol substantially blocks ATR by reducing the enhanced association of ATR and TopBP1 proteins that follows after DNA damage (Pedram et al., 2009). This study showed that 17-βestradiol inhibits ATR activation through rapid PI3K/AKT signalling in breast cancer cells. AKT phosphorylates TopBP1 thereby preventing the enhanced interaction of ATR with TopBP1 after DNA damage. 17-βestradiol also inhibited claspin and Chk1 protein association therefore preventing Chk1 signalling to the G₂/M checkpoint (Pedram et al., 2009). Inactivation of ATR signalling could result in HPV replication in the presence of DNA breaks therefore increasing the risk of viral integration.

Taken together with our findings a hypothetical model can be built. HPV replicates in estrogen-sensitive cervical cells. The presence of estrogen potentially results in DNA

damage. As HPV replication is not inhibited by DNA damage pathways, the virus replicates in the presence of DNA breaks and this increases the chances of viral integration into the host genome. Recurrence rates after treatment for CIN I are estimated to be around 10% (Flannelly et al., 1997). Part of this recurrence may be attributed to estrogen. Future work should focus on studying integration rates of HPV DNA in the presence and absence of estrogen and to consider the effects of anti-estrogen therapy in combination with current treatments to reduce HPV recurrence ultimately to reduce cervical cancer rates.

4.2 SV40 LT is targeted for phosphorylation by activated ATR

HPV E1-E2 mediated replication is not inhibited despite the activation of a DNA damage response, whereas SV40 LT mediated origin replication was (compare Figures 3.1.1 and 3.1.3 with 3.1.2). The findings in this thesis suggest that ATR is the protein kinase responsible for this inhibition in vitro and after etoposide treatment ATR/ATM was also shown to target LT for phosphorylation *in vivo* (Figure 3.1.4 & 3.1.5 respectively). Previous studies on SV40 infection have demonstrated that the DNA damage response is activated in the infected cells and that the replication functions of LT are regulated by consequent phosphorylation. In particular, phosphorylation of serine 120 results in a stimulation of LT mediated replication (Shi et al., 2005). SV40 infected cells alter the host DNA damage response by targeting the MRN complex for degradation via the proteosome (Digweed et al., 2002; Zhao et al., 2008). Large T Antigen interacts with the Nbs1 component of the MRN complex to disrupt DNA replication control and therefore enhancing SV40 replication (Wu et al., 2004). Therefore the host cell DNA damage response is re-programmed by SV40 infection to promote viral DNA replication. 293T cells used in this study retain the ability to signal via the DNA damage signalling kinases despite stably expressing LT (Shirata et al., 2005). In contrast, DNA damage signals can suppress SV40 DNA replication in mammalian cells via activation of the DNA damage signalling kinases (Miao et al., 2003). The replication functions of LT are regulated by phosphorylation, where low levels of phosphorylation appear to promote LT origin binding and replication, and high levels of phosphorylation inhibit replication (Wang et al., 1993).

The results described in this thesis agree with the previous studies demonstrating arrest of LT-mediated DNA replication following DNA damage (Miao et al., 2003). It appears that treatment with DNA damaging agents (which activate damage signalling pathways but suppress replication) may be related to differential modification of LT in different circumstances. Phosphorylation of serine 120 results in stimulation of LT replication function following viral infection and it is possible that following exposure to DNA damaging agents LT is differentially modified resulting in replication repression (Shi et al., 2005). The LT mutation studies of hypothesised ATR phosphorylation target sites did not reveal a single SQ/TQ site that was responsible for ATR phosphorylation (Figure 3.1.11). Future work should focus on proteomic studies as it is possible that the ATR kinase targets multiple sites on LT for phosphorylation in response to exogenous DNA damage. A suggestion as to how the proteomic studies could be carried out is to use the pS/Q antibody to enrich for LT sequences that have been phosphorylated by ATM/ATR after etoposide treatment. Alterations in the LT amino acid sequence indicative of post translational modification could be identified using sequencing of the known LT SQ/TQ sites and by mass spectrometry.

Upon activation of the DNA damage response DNA replication is stalled (Abraham, 2001; Bartek & Lukas, 2003; Harper & Elledge, 2007). Protein kinase activation and signal transduction pathways have been clearly defined, however what is not clear is which targets at the replication fork result in the inhibition of DNA replication. Previous work has demonstrated that following DNA damage SV40 DNA replication control mimics that of cellular DNA replication (Miao et al., 2003). The results presented in this thesis support the hypothesis that the replicative helicase is a direct target for phosphorylation by the DNA damaging signalling kinases. The cellular replicative helicase complex consisting of the MCM2-7 proteins becomes phosphorylated in response to DNA damage (Cortez et al., 2004; Ishimi et al., 2003a, b). Phosphorylation of the helicase proteins appears fundamental in the arrest of DNA replication following DNA damage. Future work should focus on determining what sites of LT are targeted for phosphorylation by ATR upon activation of DNA damage kinases as this will be a useful model for studying eukaryotic DNA replication. LT plasmids could be synthesised harbouring mutations in the known ATR target sites. The mutated plasmids could then been utilized in checkpoint kinase transient replication assays. The results will support evidence that activated ATR directly targets the DNA helicase for phosphorylation therefore inhibiting replication during DNA damage.

4.3 E1 is not a substrate for ATR kinase in response to DNA damage.

An important result to consider is that neither HPV11 nor HPV16 E1 proteins are substrates for DNA damage kinases upon activation of ATR (Figure 3.1.6). Similar to SV40, recent work has demonstrated that HPV can activate DNA damage signalling kinases during their life cycle (Moody and Laimins., 2009). However in contrast to SV40, HPV E1-E2 mediated replication does not arrest in response to DNA damage (King *et al.*, 2010). The findings from this thesis suggest for the first time that in the presence of DNA damage the E1 helicase is not targeted for phosphorylation despite the activation of ATR, whereas the LT helicase (model for MCM complex) is. Therefore the difference in the DNA replication of LT and E1–E2 is likely related to either the differential phosphorylation of LT and E1 following DNA damage or to differential interactions of the viral helicases with cellular factors phosphorylated by DNA damage response pathways.

The consequences of this in relation to the virus life cycle should be taken into consideration. Regulation of cellular replication limits genomic duplication to once per cell cycle. However in the differentiating layers of the epithelium the papillomavirus is able to replicate despite the fact that differentiating cells exit the cell cycle (amplificational replication). Work carried out in the Laimins laboratory has shown that HPV activates components of the ATM/ATR pathways and this is required for viral

genome amplification in differentiating cells (Moody & Laimins, 2009). The findings described in this work also imply that HPV uses checkpoint kinase activation in order to carry out its replication. These observations suggest that the ATR/ATM kinase pathway may be a potential therapeutic target to inhibit HPV replication. ATR is essential for cell survival (Figure 3.2.2 & 3.3.3) therefore the inhibition of ATR signalling using downstream components of this pathway may be a better antiviral target than ATR itself (e.g Chk1 kinase).

Long term exposure to the DNA damaging agent etoposide results in the degradation of LT by the proteosome (Figure 3.1.7). This degradation is unlikely to explain the inhibition of LT DNA replication reported in Figure 3.1.2. Treatment of cells with aphidicolin results in an immediate arrest of DNA replication because it inhibits the DNA polymerase α and δ . LT mediated replication shows similar trends in replication of the SV40 origin plasmid for aphidicolin and etoposide arrested replication, suggesting an immediate arrest of LT replication following etoposide treatment. In contrast, HPV E1 protein is not degraded after long term etoposide exposure. This evidence suggests that by avoiding downstream targeting by DNA damage kinases HPV is able to replicate in the presence of DNA damage.

4.4 TopBP1 is essential for DNA replication and cell survival

In Chapter 3.2, attempts to create ATR-deficient cell lysate in order to carry out *in vitro* SV40 checkpoint kinase replication assays were unsuccessful. The task of generating enough ATR deficient lysate was always going to be a challenge because ATR is essential for completion of the cell cycle. ATR deficiency in mice is found to be lethal to embryonic development (Brown & Baltimore, 2000; de Klein et al., 2000). Seckel syndrome, ATR deficiency in humans, is characterized by growth retardation, microcephaly, mental retardation and craniofacial abnormalities (O'Driscoll et al., 2004). The lack of ATR-deficient cells is an obstacle to functional studies of this protein. Therefore it was deemed feasible to knock down TopBP1 because this protein is involved in ATR activation. Further

to this, previous reports have suggested that TopBP1-deficient 293T cells can grow for a short period of time (Wright, 2007). TopBP1 KD cells prevent ATR inactivation (Figure 3.2.1) however cell growth was severely diminished in cells transfected with TopBP1 or ATR siRNA oligonucleotides (Figure 3.2.2 and 3.3.3). Therefore TopBP1 deficient 293T cells were unable to grow ruling out the possibility of ATR knock down *in vitro* replication assays.

4.5 A consequence of the E1-E2 interaction is increased E2 stability

E2 is a multifunctional protein which has numerous roles in the papillomavirus lifecycle. It is involved in the regulation of viral transcription, viral genome segregation during mitosis and it anchors E1 to the viral origin of replication to initiate viral replication (McBride, 2008). Therefore the regulation of E2 function is important to the virus lifecycle because E2 has the potential to disrupt the viral life cycle at several steps. The activities of E2 within a cell are likely to be affected by the amount of available E2 protein and one way of controlling this is to regulate the turnover of this protein. In Chapter 3.3, HPV16 E2 protein levels appear to increase when treated with etoposide and when co-transfected alongside E1 (Figure 3.3.2). Previous work reports that E2 protein levels increase within the S phase of the cell cycle (Johansson et al., 2009). Therefore it was considered whether the DNA damage induced by etoposide was causing the E2 transfected cells to arrest in S phase and this would explain E2 stabilisation. Flow cytometry analysis shows that E2 transfected cells were arrested in G_2/M phase after etoposide treatment and not S phase therefore this did not explain the rise in E2 protein levels after etoposide treatment (Figure 3.3.3). E2 RNA levels were examined in the presence of etoposide because it was possible that the increase in E2 protein levels was a result of increased CMV promoter activity from the E2 plasmid. Real-Time PCR measuring HPV16 E2 mRNA confirmed that etoposide increased the CMV promoter activity in the HPV16 E2 plasmid. Therefore E2 stabilisation by etoposide is not a post translational event.

Worthy of great consideration from Chapter 3 is the ability of HPV16 E1 to stabilise E2 in response to CHX treatment (Figure 3.3.2). Further analysis of E2 RNA levels in the presence of E1 revealed that the stabilisation is a post translational event. Further evidence using an alternative E1 plasmid to increase E2 protein levels is demonstrated in Figure 3.4.1. One hypothesis that may explain the increase in E2 stability in the presence of E1 protein is the ability of E1 to alter the cell cycle. E1 may alter the cell cycle to favour an S phase environment which is suitable for HPV replication. A previous study in this laboratory highlighted HPV16 E2 stabilisation in the S phase of the cell cycle (Johansson et al., 2009). However E1 and E2 transfected 293T cells were shown to have a normal cycling profile and therefore this does not explain the stabilisation of the E2 protein in the presence of E1 protein (Figure 3.3.3).

Another post translational modification that may explain the mechanism behind E2 increased stability by E1 is the ability of E1 to shift E2 onto chromatin. Previously, in TopBP1 depleted cells, E2 was shown to have a higher affinity for chromatin and this subsequently resulted in higher levels of E2 protein compared to TopBP1 containing cells (Donaldson et al., 2007). It was therefore possible that E1 interacts with E2 encouraging its affinity for chromatin. The results in Figure 3.4.2 suggest that E1 results in E2 redistributing into the chromatin pellet. In the viral life cycle the virus genome associates with the host chromatin. E2 ensures accurate segregation of the replicated viral episomes to the daughter cells during host cell division by interacting with host mitotic chromosomes (Skiadopoulos and McBride, 1998; Florence and Faller, 2001; Dey et al., 2003; Van Tine et al., 2004; You et al 2004; Zheng et al., 2005; Baxter et al 2005; Dai et al, 2006; Schweiger et al., 2006; Parish et al, 2006; Oliveira et al., 2006; Donaldson et al 2007; Poddar et al., 2008; Poddar, 2009). The data presented in this thesis suggest that the E1 protein enhances E2 interaction with chromatin and therefore E1 may have a role in viral genome segregation. E1 may stabilise E2 and enhance its tethering function with the chromatin. This finding is in disagreement with a previous study. This study carried out in the Botchan laboratory suggested that wild type BPV1 E1 protein could relocate E2

Chapter 4: Discussion

from mitotic chromosomes therefore interfering with its tethering functions (Voitenleitner & Botchan, 2002). However these studies were carried out in BPV1 and not HPV16. The proteins that papillomavirus E2 uses in chromatin tethering and genome partitioning vary between different papillomavirus types (McPhillips et al., 2006). Therefore differences between the results presented here and those reported previously may be explained by the use of different papillomavirus types. Future work should consider the E1.E2 interaction at varying points during the cell cycle using different types of papillomavirus. This could be achieved using fluorescence microscopy of both E1 and E2 proteins and examining the interaction of E2 with chromatin during mitosis and cytokinesis. E2 protein half life in the presence of E1 protein should also be examined in chromatin (high salt) pellets. This would confirm whether E1 stabilises E2 that is in close proximity to cellular chromatin.

Previous studies on E2 regulation have shown that the E2 proteins of HPV16, HPV18 and BPV1 are ubiquitinated at the amino terminal and subsequently targeted by the proteosome for degradation (Bellanger et al., 2001; Penrose and McBride, 2000; Taylor et al., 2003). E2 has a relatively short half life and measurements from this laboratory approximate it to be 45 minutes (Taylor et al., 2003). However in a natural HPV infection, E2 does not exist as an isolated viral protein, but it is expressed with other HPV proteins during the virus lifecycle. Therefore it is important to consider E2 turnover in the presence of other HPV proteins. Viral proteins have been previously reported to alter E2 turnover and function. Studies have demonstrated that E4 can influence the stability and function of the E2 protein (Davy et al., 2009). The N terminal domain of E2 directly binds the HPV16 E1^E4 protein altering E2 solubility and decreasing turnover. In the presence of E1^E4 E2 protein becomes less soluble. Therefore the E1^E4 protein may influence E2 activity by altering its cellular location. Through a direct interaction E2 and E6 proteins are both capable of regulating each other's activity resulting in changes in E6 targeting of PDZ-containing substrates and the functional activities of E2. In the presence of E6, transcriptional activity of E2 is elevated whilst viral DNA replication is inhibited (Grm et al., 2005). The L2 capsid protein may regulate the transcriptional functions of E2 without affecting its ability to interact with the E1 protein during replication (Okoye et al., 2005).

In this thesis the results have demonstrated that via a direct interaction, HPV16 E1 can regulate the stability of E2 and is also capable of enhancing E2 transcription functions. Previous work from this laboratory has shown that HPV16 E2 is degraded via the proteosome following ubiquitinylation (Taylor et al., 2003). It was hypothesised that E1 stabilises E2 by preventing its turnover via the proteosome. Brd4, a major binding protein for E2, binds the N terminal transactivation domain of E2 and co-localizes with E2 on mitotic chromosomes. Besides tethering the viral episome to mitotic chromosomes the E2-Brd4 interaction also plays important roles in E2 turnover. Recent studies demonstrate that expression of the Brd4 C terminal domain blocks the interaction between E2 and the cullin-3 complex of the proteosome therefore preventing E2 degradation (Zheng et al., 2009). Tax1BP1 has been shown to interact with E2 from HPV16, HPV18 and BPV1. In BPV1 the C terminal region of Tax1BP1 interacts with the N terminal transactivation domain of E2. This protein functions as an essential component of an A20 ubiquitinediting complex (Valck et al., 1999; Shembade et al., 2007; Iha et al., 2008) and has been shown to plays a role in the regulation of E2 by regulating its proteasomal degradation (Wang et al., 2009)

The work carried out in this thesis investigated some of mechanisms that may explain the increase in E2 stability by E1 and found it was not simply due to an increase in E2 RNA levels or modulation of the cell cycle (Figures 3.3.2 & 3.3.3). It is therefore possible that E1 acts in a similar manner as Brd4 and Tax1BP1 by blocking E2 degradation. Alternatively, additional modifications of E2 may occur following interaction with E1 that contribute to protein stabilisation and function. Sumoylation counteracts ubiquitinylation and subsequent proteasomal degradation via competition with the same lysine residue of substrates (Hoege et al., 2002; Bergink & Jentsch, 2009). E2 interacts with components of

Chapter 4: Discussion

the SUMO family of proteins resulting in increased E2 stability (Wu et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2009). The SUMO conjugating protein, Ubc9 and SUMO1 have been shown to interact directly with E1 from BPV1, HPV11 and HPV16 although the functional consequences are not yet completely defined (Rangasamy and Wilson, 2000; Fradet-Turcotte et al., 2009). Mutational analysis of the E1 protein at serine 330 was shown to be defective for Ubc9 interaction and this lead to a loss of replication capabilities (Yasugi et al., 1997). It is therefore possible that the sumoylation of the E2 and E1 proteins is involved in the regulation of E2 protein turnover. E1 may recruit Ubc9 to an E1.E2 complex, therefore preventing E2 degradation through SUMOylation.

The life cycle of HPV is closely linked with the differentiation of epithelial cells. As cells migrate and begin to differentiate, maintenance replication switches to amplificational replication, and the factors that trigger this switch are unknown. It has been shown that the level of E2 increases during the epithelial differentiation process (Burns et al., 2010; Xue et al., 2010). E2 is essential for the regulation of HPV replication therefore the factors that regulate E2 may ultimately be contributing to the 'switch' in viral replication modes. This report demonstrates that the regulation of E2 protein turnover should be analysed in the presence of E1 because these proteins are often co-expressed in the HPV life cycle. It will be interesting to study the mechanisms involved in E1 stabilisation of E2 as this will provide targets and strategies for viral life cycle intervention.

4.6 E1 enhances E2 transcriptional function

The work in this thesis also demonstrates that, via a direct interaction, E1 is capable of enhancing E2 transcriptional functions in 293T cells (Figure 3.4.6). There have been many studies involving the regulation of E2 transcription function. The E1 protein of BPV1 has been shown to activate and repress E2 transcriptional function (Ferran and McBride, 1998; Le Moal et al., 1994; Parker et al., 2000; Sandler et al., 1993). Variation in results may be a consequence of the reporter plasmid/cell line used in these studies. The work in this thesis supports evidence that E1 enhances E2 transcriptional function and this is in concordance with previous HPV studies (Piccini et al., 1995; Demeret et al., 1998). E1 is shown to enhance E2 transcriptional function in HPV16 and HPV18 chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) transcription assays (Piccini et al., 1995; Demeret et al., 1998). Similar to transcription assays carried out in this thesis, the reporter plasmids in the HPV studies all contained a thymidine kinase promoter.

In Figure 3.4.6 E2-mediated transcription activation is greatly stimulated by E1 to levels that suggest the involvement of additional factors. Activation of thymidine kinase requires the modification of chromatin. HPV18 E1 protein has been shown to activate transcription when targeted to DNA by fusion of the full length protein with the BPV1 E2 C terminal dimerization/DNA binding domain (Demeret et al, 1997). This suggests that E1 is a transcriptional activator and that it can recruit chromatin modification complexes to promoters. These studies highlight the close association between the mechanisms used in HPV replication and gene transcription.

E1 may also aid E2-recruitment of cellular transcription factors. Studies involving BPV1 E1 mediated increased E2 transactivation suggest that when E1 interacts with the E2 activation domain it acts as an allosteric activator and that the E1.E2 interaction may stabilise a particular structure of E2, increasing its transcriptional functions (Parker et al, 2000). E1 modification of E2 structure may mediate the interaction of E2 with transcriptional co-factors such as Brd4 (Lee and Chiang, 2009; You et al., 2004), BRCA1 (Kim et al., 2003), Tax1BP1 (Wang et al., 2009), TopBP1 (Boner et al., 2002) and p300 (Peng et al., 2000). The virus uses the host chromatin remodelling proteins to promote viral transcription (Kumar et al., 2007). E2-activated transcription is enhanced by its interaction with the Brahma (Brm) containing SWI/SNF chromatin remodelling complex (Kumar et al., 2007). It would be interesting to investigate whether E1 enhances this interaction.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Papillomavirus transcription is controlled by E2 binding sites and multiple regulatory elements within the virus LCR. E1 mediated enhancement of E2 transcriptional function may be attributed to a combination of increased E2 stability, improved E2 interaction with transcriptional co-factors and enhanced recruitment of chromatin modification complexes. The exact molecular mechanisms by which HPV16 E1 influences the transcriptional activity of E2 are still to be identified. Future studies should aim to identify the substrates of the E2/E1/DNA complex. E2 interaction with transcriptional co-factors and chromatin modifying complexes should be investigated in the presence and absence of E1 using co-immunoprecipitation techniques. The E2 mutant that does not interact with E1 (E2 E39A) would be a useful control in determining whether E1 enhances E2 interaction with the cellular transcription proteins.

Chapter 4: Discussion

4.7 Conclusions

This thesis had three main aims identified in Chapter 1. Efforts have been made to draw possible conclusions to each aim and are as follows:

(i) To assess HPV E1/E2 mediated replication in the presence of DNA damage and an activated cellular DNA damage response.

HPV origin replication in the presence of DNA damage suggests that this may be factor that will contribute to viral integration. This thesis shows the ability of HPV origin plasmid to replicate during DNA damage and an activated DNA damage response. Future work should investigate HPV integration rates in the absence and presence of DNA damaging agents. It would also be useful to look at the entire HPV genome replication in the presence of DNA damage. The W12 cell line is derived from human cervical keratinocytes grown from a CIN I lesion that expresses episomal HPV16 (Stanley et al., 1989). The use of these cells would allow for investigations into papillomavirus replication in response to DNA damage whilst in the presence of all viral proteins. The cellular factors that can cause DNA damage will contribute to viral integration during a HPV infection. Anti-estrogen therapy has been discussed as a potential cofactor for cervical cancer treatment.

(ii) To identify the downstream targets of DNA damage response pathways.

The activation of DNA damage pathways is well described in the literature however the downstream targets at the replication fork are less well defined. Our findings suggest that the SV40 LT helicase is a substrate for ATR during DNA damage. This result supports evidence that the MCM2-7 cellular helicase is a target for ATR/ATM in response to checkpoint activation. Future work should aim to generate LT plasmids that are mutated at known ATR/ATM target sites. *In vivo* checkpoint replication assays using the mutated LT plasmids will identify whether activated ATR/ATM inhibits LT replication. This will be a useful model for studying cellular replication.

(iii) To assess the regulatory and functional consequences of the E1.E2 interaction.

Papillomaviruses encode the E1 and E2 proteins to carry out replication at the viral origin of replication. The regulatory and functional consequences of the E1.E2 interaction are controversial. The work in this thesis supports evidence that E2 stability and transcriptional activation is enhanced by E1 via a direct protein-protein interaction. This will have consequences for E2 functions in the viral life cycle as both these proteins may be co-expressed. Future work should aim to determine what factors E1 uses to enhance E2 stability and functions as it will lead to the identification of novel therapeutic targets. E1 is a functional interacting partner for HPV16 E2 in DNA replication. Evidence from this thesis suggests that E1 regulates the association of E2 with chromatin. Therefore E1 may have a role in enhancing the genome segregation functions by stabilising the association of E2 with mitotic chromosomes.

References

Abbate EA, Berger JM, Botchan MR. The X-ray structure of the papillomavirus helicase in complex with its molecular matchmaker E2. (2004). *Genes Dev.* 18:1981–1996.

Abbate EA, Voitenleitner C, Botchan MR. Structure of the papillomavirus DNA-tethering complex E2:Brd4 and a peptide that ablates HPV chromosomal association. (2006). *Mol. Cell.* 24:877–889.

Abraham RT. Cell cycle checkpoint signaling through the ATM and ATR kinases. (2001). *Genes Dev.* 15:2177-2196.

Abramson J, Giraud M, Benoist C, Mathis D. Aire's partners in the molecular control of immunological tolerance. (2010). *Cell.* 140(1):123-35.

Ahn J, Urist M, Prives C. The Chk2 protein kinase. (2004). DNA Repair (Amst). 3:1039-1047.

Ahn JY, Schwarz JK, Piwnica-Worms H, Canman CE. Threonine 68 phosphorylation by ataxia telangiectasia mutated is required for efficient activation of Chk2 in response to ionizing radiation. (2000). *Cancer Res*, 60:5934-5936.

Alazawi W, Pett M, Arch B, Scott L, Freeman T, et al. Changes in cervical keratinocyte gene expression associated with integration of human papillomavirus 16. (2002). *Cancer Res.* 62: 6959–6965.

Alberts B. DNA replication and recombination. (2003). Nature. 421(6921):431-5.

Amin AA, Titolo S, Pelletier A, Fink D, Cordingley MG, Archambault J. Identification of domains of the HPV11 E1 protein required for DNA replication in vitro. (1999). *Virology.* 272(1):137-50.

Antson AA, Burns JE, Moroz OV, Scott DJ, Sanders CM, Bronstein IB, Dodson GG, Wilson KS, Maitland NJ. Structure of the intact transactivation domain of the human papillomavirus E2 protein. (2000). *Nature.* 403(6771):805-9.

Arbeit JM, Howley PM, Hanahan D. Chronic estrogen-induced cervical and vaginal squamous carcinogenesis in human papillomavirus type 16 transgenic mice. (1996). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 93(7):2930-5.

Arias-Pulido H, Peyton CL, Joste NE, Vargas H, Wheeler CM. Human papillomavirus type 16 integration in cervical carcinoma in situ and in invasive cervical cancer. (2006). *J Clin Microbiol.* 44: 1755–1762.

Ashrafi GH, Haghshenas M, Marchetti B, Campo MS. E5 protein of human papillomavirus 16 downregulates HLA class I and interacts with the heavy chain via its first hydrophobic domain. (2006). *Int J Cancer.* 119(9):2105-12.

Ashrafi GH, Haghshenas MR, Marchetti B, O'Brien PM, Campo MS. E5 protein of human papillomavirus type 16 selectively downregulates surface HLA class I. (2005). *Int J Cancer.* 113(2):276-83.

Auster AS, Joshua-Tor L. The DNA-binding domain of human papillomavirus type 18 E1. Crystal structure, dimerization, and DNA binding. (2004). *J Biol Chem.* 279(5):3733-42.

Bakkenist CJ, Kastan MB. DNA damage activates ATM through intermolecular autophosphorylation and dimer dissociation. (2003). *Nature*. 421:499–506.

Balestrini A, Cosentino C, Errico A, Garner E, Costanzo V. GEMC1 is a TopBP1-interacting protein required for chromosomal DNA replication. (2010). *Nat Cell Biol.* 12(5):484-91.

Ball HL, Cortez D. ATRIP oligomerization is required for ATR-dependent checkpoint signaling. (2005). *J Biol Chem*. 280(36):31390-6.

Barksdale SK, Baker CC. Differentiation-specific expression from the bovine papillomavirus type 1 P2443 and late promoters. (1993). *J Virol.* 67(9):5605-16.

179

Bartek J, Lukas J. Chk1 and Chk2 kinases in checkpoint control and cancer. (2003). *Cancer Cell*. 3:421-429.

Basile JR, Zacny V, Münger K. The cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand differentially modulate proliferation and apoptotic pathways in human keratinocytes expressing the human papillomavirus-16 E7 oncoprotein. (2001). *J Biol Chem.* 276(25):22522-8.

Bastien N, McBride AA. Interaction of the papillomavirus E2 with mitotic chromosomes. (2000). *Virology*. 270:124–134.

Baxter MK, McPhillips MG, Ozato K, McBride AA. The mitotic chromosome binding activity of the papillomavirus E2 protein correlates with interaction with the cellular chromosomal protein, Brd4. (2005). J Virol.79(8):4806-18.

Bedrosian CL, Bastia D. The DNA-binding domain of HPV-16 E2 protein interaction with the viral enhancer: Protein-induced DNA bending and role of the nonconserved core sequence in binding site affinity. (1990). *Virology*. 174:557–575.

Bell SP, Dutta A. DNA replication in eukaryotic cells. (2002). *Annu Rev Biochem*.71:333-74.

Bellanger S, Demeret C, Goyat S, Thierry F. Stability of the human papillomavirus type 18 E2 protein is regulated by a proteasome degradation pathway through its amino-terminal transactivation domain. (2001). *J Virol.* 75(16):7244-51.

Bergink S, Jentsch S. Principles of ubiquitin and SUMO modifications in DNA repair. (2009). *Nature*. 458(7237):461-7.

Bird G, O'Donnell M, Moroianu J, Garcea RL. Possible role for cellular karyopherins in regulating polyomavirus and papillomavirus capsid assembly.(2008) *J Virol.* 82(20):9848-57.

Blomberg I, Hoffmann I. Ectopic expression of Cdc25A accelerates the G(1)/S transition and leads to premature activation of cyclin E- and cyclin A-dependent kinases. (1999). *Mol Cell Biol.* 19(9):6183-94.

Boner W, Taylor ER, Tsirimonaki E, Yamane K, Campo MS, Morgan IM. A Functional interaction between the human papillomavirus 16 transcription/replication factor E2 and the DNA damage response protein TopBP1. (2002). *J Biol Chem.* 277(25):22297-303.

Bordeaux J, Forte S, Harding E, Darshan MS, Klucevsek K, Moroianu J. The L2 minor capsid protein of low-risk human papillomavirus type 11 interacts with host nuclear import receptors and viral DNA. (2006). *J Virol.* 80:8259-8262.

Bossis I, Roden RB, Gambhira R, Yang R, Tagaya M, Howley PM, Meneses PI. Interaction of tSNARE syntaxin 18 with the papillomavirusminor capsid protein mediates infection. (2005). *J Virol.* 79:6723-6731.

Bourre F, Renault G, Gentil A. From simian virus 40 to transient shuttle vectors in mutagenesis studies. (1989). *Mutat Res.* 220(2-3):107-13.

Bouvard V, Matlashewski G, Gu ZM, Storey A, Banks L. The human papillomavirus type 16 E5 gene cooperates with the E7 gene to stimulate proliferation of primary cells and increases viral gene expression. (1994). *Virology.* 203(1):73-80.

Bouvard V, Storey A, Pim D, Banks L. Characterization of the human papillomavirus E2 protein: evidence of trans-activation and trans-repression in cervical keratinocytes. (1994). *EMBO J.* 13: 5451–5459.

Boyer SN, Wazer DE, Band V. E7 protein of human papilloma virus-16 induces degradation of retinoblastoma protein through the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. (1998). *Cancer Res.* 56(20):4620-4.

Brake T, Lambert PF. Estrogen contributes to the onset, persistence, and malignant progression of cervical cancer in a human papillomavirus-transgenic mouse model. (2005). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 102(7):2490-5.

181

Brown DR, Schroeder JM, Bryan JT, Stoler MH, Fife KH. Detection of multiple human papillomavirus types in Condylomata acuminata lesions from otherwise healthy and immunosuppressed patients. (1999). *J Clin Microbiol*. 37:3316–3322.

Brown EJ, Baltimore D. ATR disruption leads to chromosomal fragmentation and early embryonic lethality. (2000). *Genes Dev.* 14(4):397-402.

Bryan JT, Brown DR. Association of the human papillomavirus type 11 E1^E4 protein with cornified cell envelopes derived from infected genital epithelium. (2000). *Virology.* 277(2):262-9.

Buck CB, Thompson CD, Pang YY, Lowy DR, Schiller JT. Maturation of papillomavirus capsids.(2005) *J Virol*.79(5):2839-46

Burnett S, Strom AC, Jareborg N. Alderborn A, Dillner J, Moreno-Lopez J, Pettersson, U, Kiessling U. Induction of bovine papillomavirus E2 gene expression and early region transcription by cell growth arrest: Correlation with viral DNA amplification and evidence for differential promoter induction. (1990). *J. Virol.* 64:5529–5541.

Burns JE, Walker HF, Shmitz C, Maitland NJ. Phenotypic effects of HPV-16 E2 protein expression in human keratinocytes. (2010). *Virology* 401:314–321

Busino L, Donzelli M, Chiesa M, Guardavaccaro D, Ganoth D, Dorrello NV, Hershko A, Pagano M, Draetta GF. Degradation of Cdc25A by beta-TrCP during S phase and in response to DNA damage. (2003). *Nature.* 426(6962):87-91.

Byun TS, Pacek M, Yee MC, Walter JC, Cimprich KA. Functional uncoupling of MCM helicase and DNA polymerase activities activates the ATR-dependent checkpoint. (2005). *Genes Dev.* 19:1040-1052.

Campione-Piccardo J, Montpetit ML, Grégoire L, Arella M. A highly conserved nucleotide string shared by all genomes of human papillomaviruses. (1991). *Virus Genes.* 5(4):349-57.

Campo MS, Graham SV, Cortese MS, Ashrafi GH, Araibi EH, Dornan ES, Miners K, Nunes C, Man S. HPV-16 E5 down-regulates expression of surface HLA class I and reduces recognition by CD8 T cells. (2010). *Virology.* 407(1):137-42.

Campo MS. Animal models of papillomavirus pathogenesis. (2002). Virus Res. 89: 249-61

Celeste A, Fernandez-Capetillo O, Kruhlak MJ, Pilch DR, Staudt DW, Lee A, Bonner RF, Bonner WM, Nussenzweig A. Histone H2AX phosphorylation is dispensable for the initial recognition of DNA breaks. (2003). *Nat Cell Biol.* 5(7):675-9.

Chan WK, Chong T, Bernard HU, Klock G. Transcription of the transforming genes of the oncogenic human papillomavirus-16 is stimulated by tumor promotors through AP1 binding sites. (1990). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18(4):763-9.

Chang JL, Tsao YP, Liu DW, Huang SJ, Lee WH, Chen SL. The expression of HPV- 16 E5 protein in squamous neoplastic changes in the uterine cervix. (2001). *J Biomed Sci.* 8:206–13.

Chang YE, Pena L, Sen GC, Park JK, Laimins LA. Long-term effect of interferon on keratinocytes that maintain human papillomavirus type 31. (2002). *J Virol.* 76(17):8864-74.

Chaturvedi P, Eng WK, Zhu Y, Mattern MR, Mishra R, Hurle MR, Zhang X, Annan RS, Lu Q, Faucette LF, Scott GF, Li X, Carr SA, Johnson RK, Winkler JD, Zhou BB. Mammalian Chk2 is a downstream effector of the ATM-dependent DNA damage checkpoint pathway. (1999). *Oncogene*. 18(28):4047-54.

Chellappan S, Kraus VB, Kroger B, Munger K, Howley PM, Phelps WC, Nevins JR. Adenovirus E1A, simian virus 40 tumor antigen, and human papillomavirus E7 protein share the capacity to disrupt the interaction between transcription factor E2F and the retinoblastoma gene product.(1992). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 89(10):4549-53.

Chen D, Carter TH, Auborn KJ. Apoptosis in cervical cancer cells: implications for adjunct anti-estrogen therapy for cervical cancer. (2004). *Anticancer Res.* 24(5A):2649-56.

183

Chen G, Stenlund A. Characterization of the DNA-binding domain of the bovine papillomavirus replication initiator E1. (1998). *J Virol.* 72(4):2567-76.

Chen J, Saha P, Kornbluth S, Dynlacht BD, Dutta A. Cyclin-binding motifs are essential for the function of p21CIP1. (1996). *Mol Cell Biol.* 16(9):4673-82.

Chong T, Apt D, Gloss B, Isa M, Bernard HU. The enhancer of human papillomavirus type 16: binding sites for the ubiquitous transcription factors oct-1, NFA, TEF-2, NF1, and AP-1 participate in epithelial cell-specific transcription. (1991). *J Virol.* 65(11):5933-43.

Chong T, Chan WK, Bernard HU. Transcriptional activation of human papillomavirus 16 by nuclear factor I, AP1, steroid receptors and a possibly novel transcription factor, PVF: a model for the composition of genital papillomavirus enhancers. (1990).*Nucleic Acids Res.* 18(3):465-70.

Chromy LR, Oltman A, Estes PA, Garcea RL. Chaperone-mediated in vitro disassembly of polyoma- and papillomaviruses.(2006). *J Virol.* (10):5086-91.

Clertant P, Seif I. A common function for polyoma virus large-T and papillomavirus E1 proteins? (1984). *Nature*.311(5983):276-9.

Clower RV, Fisk JC, Melendy T. Papillomavirus E1 protein binds to and stimulates human topoisomerase I. (2006). *J Virol.* 80(3):1584-7.

Combita AL, Touzé A, Bousarghin L, Sizaret PY, Muñoz N, Coursaget P. Gene transfer using human papillomavirus pseudovirions varies according to virus genotype and requires cell surface heparan sulfate. (2001). *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* 204(1):183-8.

Conger KL, Liu JS, Kuo SR, Chow LT, Wang TS. Human papillomavirus DNA replication. Interactions between the viral E1 protein and two subunits of human DNA polymerase alpha/primase. (1999). J. Biol. Chem. 274, 2696-2705

Cook JG, Chasse DA, Nevins JR. The regulated association of Cdt1 with minichromosome maintenance proteins and Cdc6 in mammalian cells. (2004). *J Biol Chem.* 279(10):9625-33.

Cooper K, Herrington CS, Stickland JE, Evans MF, McGee JO. Episomal and integrated human papillomavirus in cervical neoplasia shown by nonisotopic in situ hybridisation. (1991). *J Clin Pathol* 44: 990–996.

Cortese MS, Ashrafi GH, Campo MS. All 4 di-leucine motifs in the first hydrophobic domain of the E5 oncoprotein of human papillomavirus type 16 are essential for surface MHC class I downregulation activity and E5 endomembrane localization. (2010). *Int J Cancer.* 126(7):1675-82.

Cortez D, Glick G, Elledge SJ. Minichromosome maintenance proteins are direct targets of the ATM and ATR checkpoint kinases. (2004). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A.* 101, 10078–10083.

Cortez D, Guntuku S, Qin J, Elledge SJ. ATR and ATRIP: partners in checkpoint signaling. (2001). *Science*. 294(5547):1713-6.

Cripe TP, Alderborn A, Anderson RD, Parkkinen S, Bergman P, Haugen TH, Pettersson U, Turek LP. Transcriptional activation of the human papillomavirus-16 P97 promoter by an 88-nucleotide enhancer containing distinct cell-dependent and AP-1-responsive modules. (1990). *New Biol.* 2(5):450-63.

Cripe TP, Haugen TH, Turk JP, Tabatabai F, Schmid PG, Durst M, Gissmann L, Roman A, Turek LP. Transcriptional regulation of the human papillomavirus- 16 E6-E7 promoter by a keratinocyte-dependent enhancer, and by viral E2 trans-activator and repressor gene products: Implications for cervical carcinogenesis. (1987). *EMBO J* 6:3745–3753.

Dall KL, Scarpini CG, Roberts I, Winder DM, Stanley MA, Muralidhar B, Herdman MT, Pett MR, Coleman N. Characterization of naturally occurring HPV16 integration sites isolated from cervical keratinocytes under noncompetitive conditions. (2008). *Cancer Res.* 68(20):8249-59.

Danos O, Engel LW, Chen EY, Yaniv M, Howley PM. Comparative analysis of the human type 1a and bovine type 1 papillomavirus genomes. (1983). *J Virol.* 46(2):557-66.

185

Davy C, McIntosh P, Jackson DJ, Sorathia R, Miell M, Wang Q, Khan J, Soneji Y, Doorbar J. A novel interaction between the human papillomavirus type 16 E2 and E1--E4 proteins leads to stabilization of E2. (2009). *Virology*. 394(2):266-75.

Davy CE, Jackson DJ, Raj K, Peh WL, Southern SA, Das P, Sorathia R, Laskey P, Middleton K, Nakahara T, Wang Q, Masterson PJ, Lambert PF, Cuthill S, Millar JB, Doorbar J. Human papillomavirus type 16 E1 E4-induced G2 arrest is associated with cytoplasmic retention of active Cdk1/cyclin B1 complexes. (2005). *J Virol.* 79(7):3998-4011.

Davy CE, Jackson DJ, Wang Q, Raj K, Masterson PJ, Fenner NF, Southern S, Cuthill S, Millar JB, Doorbar J. (2002). Identification of a G(2) arrest domain in the E1 wedge E4 protein of human papillomavirus type 16. *J Virol.* 76(19):9806-18.

Day PM, Baker CC, Lowy DR, Schiller JT. Establishment of papillomavirus infection is enhanced by promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) expression. (2004). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 101(39):14252-7

Day PM, Lowy DR, Schiller JT. Heparan sulfate-independent cell binding and infection with furin-precleaved papillomavirus capsids.(2008). *J Virol.* 82(24):12565-8.

Day PM, Roden RB, Lowy DR, Schiller JT. The papillomavirus minor capsid protein, L2, induces localization of the major capsid protein, L1, and the viral transcription/replication protein, E2, to PML oncogenic domains. (1998) *J Virol*. 72(1):142-50.

de Klein A, Muijtjens M, van Os R, Verhoeven Y, Smit B, Carr AM, Lehmann AR, Hoeijmakers JH. Targeted disruption of the cell-cycle checkpoint gene ATR leads to early embryonic lethality in mice. (2000). *Curr Biol.* 10(8):479-82.

de Marco V, Gillespie PJ, Li A, Karantzelis N, Christodoulou E, Klompmaker R, van Gerwen S, Fish A, Petoukhov MV, Iliou MS, Lygerou Z, Medema RH, Blow JJ, Svergun DI, Taraviras S, Perrakis A. Quaternary structure of the human Cdt1-Geminin complex regulates DNA replication licensing. (2009). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 106(47):19807-12.

de Villiers EM, Fauquet C, Broker TR, Bernard HU, zur Hausen H. Classification of papillomaviruses. (2004). *Virology.* 324(1):17-27

del Mar Pena LM, Laimins LA. Differentiation-dependent chromatin rearrangement coincides with activation of human papillomavirus type 31 late gene expression. (2001). *J. Virol.* 75: 10005–10013.

Demeret C, Garcia-Carranca A, Thierry F. Transcription-independent triggering of the extrinsic pathway of apoptosis by human papillomavirus 18 E2 protein.(2003). *Oncogene.* 22(2):168-75.

Demeret C, Goyat S, Yaniv M, Thierry F. The human papillomavirus type 18 (HPV18) replication protein E1 is a transcriptional activator when interacting with HPV18 E2. (1998). *Virology.* 242(2):378-86.

Demeret C, Yaniv M, Thierry F. The E2 transcriptional repressor can compensate for Sp1 activation of the human papillomavirus type 18 early promoter. (1994). *J. Virol.* 68:7075–7082.

Deng W, Lin BY, Jin G, Wheeler CG, Ma T, Harper JW, Broker TR, Chow LT. Cyclin/CDK regulates the nucleocytoplasmic localization of the human papillomavirus E1 DNA helicase. (2004). *J Virol.* 78(24):13954-65.

Desaintes C, Demeret C, Goyat S, Yaniv M, Thierry F. Expression of the papillomavirus E2 protein in HeLa cells leads to apoptosis. (1997). *EMBO J.* 16(3):504-14.

Desaintes C, Demeret C. Control of papillomavirus DNA replication and transcription. (1996). *Semin Cancer Biol.* 7(6):339-47.

Desaintes C, Goyat S, Garbay S, Yaniv M, Thierry F. Papillomavirus E2 induces p53independent apoptosis in HeLa cells. (1999). *Oncogene*. 18(32):4538-45.

Dey A, Chitsaz F, Abbasi A, Misteli T, Ozato K. The double bromodomain protein Brd4 binds to acetylated chromatin during interphase and mitosis. (2003). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 100:8758–8763.

Digweed M, Demuth I, Rothe S, Scholz R, Jordan A, Grötzinger C, Schindler D, Grompe M, Sperling K. SV40 large T-antigen disturbs the formation of nuclear DNA-repair foci containing MRE11. (2002). *Oncogene*. 21:4873–4878.

DiMaio D, Mattoon D. Mechanisms of cell transformation by papillomavirus E5 proteins. (2001). *Oncogene*. 20:7866–73.

Dixon EP, Pahel GL, Rocque WJ, Barnes JA, Lobe DC, Hanlon MH, Alexander KA, Chao SF, Lindley K, Phelps WC. The E1 helicase of human papillomavirus type 11 binds to the origin of replication with low sequence specificity. (2000). *Virology*. 270(2):345-57.

Donaldson MM, Boner W, Morgan IM. TopBP1 regulates human papillomavirus type 16 E2 interaction with chromatin. (2007). *J Virol.* 81(8):4338-42

Dong G, Broker TR, Chow LT. Human papillomavirus type 11 E2 proteins repress the homologous E6 promoter by interfering with the binding of host transcription factors to adjacent elements. (1994). *J. Virol.* 68: 1115–1127.

Donzelli M, Draetta GF. Regulating mammalian checkpoints through Cdc25 inactivation. (2003). *EMBO Rep.* 4:671-677.

Doorbar J, Ely S, Sterling J, McLean C, Crawford L. Specific interaction between HPV-16 E1-E4 and cytokeratins results in collapse of the epithelial cell intermediate filament network. (1991). *Nature.* 352(6338):824-7.

Doorbar J, Parton A, Hartley K, Banks L, Crook T, Stanley MA, Crawford L. Detection of novel splicing patterns in an HPV-16-containing keratinocyte cell line. (1990). *Virol.* (178)254–262.

Doorbar J. The papillomavirus life cycle. (2005). J Clin Virol. 32 Suppl 1:S7-15.

Drobni P, Mistry N, McMillan N, Evander M. Carboxy-fluorescein diacetate, succinimidyl ester labeled papillomavirus virus-like particles fluoresce after internalization and interact with heparan sulfate for binding and entry. (2003). *Virology*. 310(1):163-72.

Dubina M, Goldenberg G. Viral-associated nonmelanoma skin cancers: a review. (2009). *Am J Dermatopathol*. 31(6):561-73.

Duensing A, Liu Y, Perdreau SA, Kleylein-Sohn J, Nigg EA, Duensing S. Centriole overduplication through the concurrent formation of multiple daughter centrioles at single maternal templates. (2007). Oncogene. 26(43):6280-8.

Duensing S, Duensing A, Crum CP, Münger K. Human papillomavirus type 16 E7 oncoprotein-induced abnormal centrosome synthesis is an early event in the evolving malignant phenotype. (2001). *Cancer Res.* 61(6):2356-60.

Duensing S, Münger K. Centrosome abnormalities and genomic instability induced by human papillomavirus oncoproteins. (2003) b. *Prog Cell Cycle Res.* 5:383-91.

Duensing S, Münger K. Human papillomavirus type 16 E7 oncoprotein can induce abnormal centrosome duplication through a mechanism independent of inactivation of retinoblastoma protein family members. (2003) a. *J Virol.* 77(22):12331-5.

Dulic V, Lees E, Reed SI. Association of human cyclin E with a periodic G1-S phase protein kinase. (1992). *Science*. 257:1958–1961.

Dyson N, Howley PM, Münger K, Harlow E. The human papilloma virus-16 E7 oncoprotein is able to bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. (1989). *Science*. 243(4893):934-7.

Dyson N. The regulation of E2F by pRB family proteins. (1998) *Genes Dev.* 12(15):2245-62.

Egawa K. Do human papillomaviruses target epidermal stem cells? (2003). *Dermatology*. 207:251–4.

Eichten A, Rud DS, Grace M, Piboonniyom SO, Zacny V, Münger K. Molecular pathways executing the "trophic sentinel" response in HPV-16 E7-expressing normal human diploid fibroblasts upon growth factor deprivation. (2004). *Virology.* 319(1):81-93.

Enemark EJ, Joshua-Tor L. Mechanism of DNA translocation in a replicative hexameric helicase. (2006). *Nature.* 442(7100):270-5.

Enemark EJ, Stenlund A, Joshua-Tor L. Crystal structures of two intermediates in the assembly of the papillomavirus replication initiation complex. (2002). *EMBO J.* 21(6):1487-96.

Evans MF, Aliesky HA, Cooper K. Optimization of biotinyl-tyramide-based in situ hybridization for sensitive background-free applications on formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tissue specimens. (2003). *BMC Clin Pathol*. 2003 Jun 11;3(1):2.

Favre M, Breitburd F, Croissant O, Orth G. Chromatin-like structures obtained after alkaline disruption of bovine and human papillomaviruses. (1977). *J Virol.* 21(3):1205-9.

Fay A, Yutzy WH 4th, Roden RB, Moroianu J. The positively charged termini of L2 minor capsid protein required for bovine papillomavirus infection function separately in nuclear import and DNA binding. (2004). *J Virol.* 78:13447-13454.

Fernandez-Capetillo O, Lee A, Nussenzweig M, Nussenzweig A. H2AX: the histone guardian of the genome. (2004). *DNA Repair (Amst).* 3(8-9):959-67.

Ferran MC, McBride AA. Transient viral DNA replication and repression of viral transcription are supported by the C-terminal domain of the bovine papillomavirus type 1 E1 protein. (1998). *J Virol.* 72(1):796-801.

Filippova M, Song H, Connolly JL, Dermody TS, Duerksen-Hughes PJ. The human papillomavirus 16 E6 protein binds to tumor necrosis factor (TNF) R1 and protects cells from TNF-induced apoptosis. (2002). *J Biol Chem.* 277(24):21730-9

Finnen RL, Erickson KD, Chen XS, Garcea RL. Interactions between papillomavirus L1 and L2 capsid proteins. (2003). *J Virol.* 77(8):4818-26.

Flannelly G, Langhan H, Jandial L, Mana E, Campbell M, Kitchener H. A study of treatment failures following large loop excision of the transformation zone for the

treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol.* (1997). 104(6):718-22.

Florence B, Faller DV. You bet-cha: A novel family of transcriptional regulators. (2001). *Front Biosci.* 6:1008–1018.

Flores ER, Lambert PF. Evidence for a switch in the mode of human papillomavirus type 16 DNA replication during the viral life cycle. (1997). *J Virol.* 71(10):7167-79.

Fradet-Turcotte A, Brault K, Titolo S, Howley PM, Archambault J. Characterization of papillomavirus E1 helicase mutants defective for interaction with the SUMO-conjugating enzyme Ubc9. (2009). *Virology.* 395(2):190-201.

Fradet-Turcotte A, Moody C, Laimins LA, Archambault J. Nuclear export of human papillomavirus type 31 E1 is regulated by Cdk2 phosphorylation and required for viral genome maintenance. (2010). *J Virol.* 84(22):11747-60.

Frattini MG, Laimins LA. Binding of the human papillomavirus E1 origin-recognition protein is regulated through complex formation with the E2 enhancer-binding protein.(1994). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 91(26):12398-402.

Fu NY, Sukumaran SK, Yu VC. Inhibition of ubiquitin-mediated degradation of MOAP-1 by apoptotic stimuli promotes Bax function in mitochondria. (2007). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 104(24):10051-6.

Gage JR, Meyers C, Wettstein FO. The E7 proteins of the nononcogenic human papillomavirus type 6b (HPV-6b) and of the oncogenic HPV-16 differ in retinoblastoma protein binding and other properties. (1990). *J Virol.* 64(2):723-30.

Galaktionov K, Beach D. Specific activation of cdc25 tyrosine phosphatases by B-type cyclins: evidence for multiple roles of mitotic cyclins. (1991). *Cell.* 67(6):1181-94.

Gale N, Poljak M, Kambic, V, Ferluga D, Fischinger J. Laryngeal papillomatosis: molecular, histopathologic, and clinical evaluation. (1994). *Virchows Arc*. 425:291–295.

Gale N, Zidar N. Benign and potentially malignant lesions of the squamous epithelium and squamous cell carcinoma. In: Cardesa, A., Slootweg, P.J. (Eds.), Pathology of the Head and Neck. (2006). Springer. Heidelberg, pp. 1–38.

Gale N. Papilloma/papillomatosis. In: Barnes, L., Eveson, J.W., Reichart, P., Sidransky, D. (Eds.), Pathology and Genetics of Head and Neck Tumours. (2005). IARC Press, Lyon, pp. 144–145.

Gardiol D, Kühne C, Glaunsinger B, Lee SS, Javier R, Banks L. Oncogenic human papillomavirus E6 proteins target the discs large tumour suppressor for proteasomemediated degradation. (1999). *Oncogene*. 18(40):5487-96.

Garnett TO, Filippova M, Duerksen-Hughes PJ. Accelerated degradation of FADD and procaspase 8 in cells expressing human papilloma virus 16 E6 impairs TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. (2006). *Cell Death Differ.* 13(11):1915-26.

Gauthier JM, Dostatni N, Lusky M, Yaniv M. Two DNA-bound E2 dimers are required for strong transcriptional activation and for cooperation with cellular factors in most cells. (1991). *New Biol.* 3(5):498-509.

Geisen C, Kahn T. Promoter activity of sequences located upstream of the human papillomavirus types of 16 and 18 late regions. (1996). *J Gen Virol.* 77 (Pt 9):2193-200.

Genther Williams SM, Disbrow GL, Schlegel R, Lee D, Threadgill DW, Lambert PF. Requirement of epidermal growth factor receptor for hyperplasia induced by E5, a high-risk human papillomavirus oncogene. (2005). *Cancer Res.* 65:6534–42.

Giroglou T, Florin L, Schafer F, Streeck RE, Sapp M. Human papillomavirus infection requires cell surface heparan sulfate. J Virol 2001;75:1565–70.

Glahder JA, Hansen CN, Vinther J, Madsen BS, Norrild B. A promoter within the E6 ORF of human papillomavirus type 16 contributes to the expression of the E7 oncoprotein from a monocistronic mRNA. (2003). *J. Gen. Virol.* 84:3429–3441.
Gloss B, Bernard HU. The E6/E7 promoter of human papillomavirus type 16 is activated in the absence of E2 proteins by a sequence-aberrant Sp1 distal element. (1990). *J Virol.* 64(11):5577-84.

Goodwin EC, Naeger LK, Breiding DE, Androphy EJ, DiMaio D. Transactivationcompetent bovine papillomavirus E2 protein is specifically required for efficient repression of human papillomavirus oncogene expression and for acute growth inhibition of cervical carcinoma cell lines. (1998). *J. Virol.* 72: 3925–3934.

Grassmann K, Rapp B, Maschek H, Petry KU, Iftner T. Identification of a

differentiation-inducible promoter in the E7 open reading frame of human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV-16) in raft cultures of a new cell line containing high copy numbers of episomal HPV-16 DNA. (1996). *J Virol.* 70(4):2339-49.

Grm HS, Massimi P, Gammoh N, Banks L. Crosstalk between the human papillomavirus E2 transcriptional activator and the E6 oncoprotein. (2005). *Oncogene.* 24(33):5149-64.

Gu J, Lu H, Tsai AG, Schwarz K, Lieber MR. Single-stranded DNA ligation and XLFstimulated incompatible DNA end ligation by the XRCC4-DNA ligase IV complex: influence of terminal DNA sequence. (2007).*Nucleic Acids Res.* 35(17):5755-62

Gu W, Li M, Zhao WM, Fang NX, Bu S, Frazer IH, Zhao KN. tRNASer(CGA) differentially regulates expression of wild-type and codon-modified papillomavirus L1 genes. (2004). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32(15):4448-61.

Hafkamp HC, Speel EJ, Haesevoets A, Bot FJ, Dinjens WN, Ramaekers FC, Hopman AH, Manni JJ. A subset of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas exhibits integration of HPV 16/18 DNA and overexpression of p16INK4A and p53 in the absence of mutations in p53 exons 5-8. (2003). *Int J Cancer.* 107(3):394-400.

Hamdan SM, van Oijen AM. Timing, coordination, and rhythm: acrobatics at the DNA replication fork. (2010). *J Biol Chem.* 285(25):18979-83.

Hammond EM, Green SL, Giaccia AJ. Comparison of hypoxia-induced replication arrest with hydroxyurea and aphidicolin-induced arrest. (2003). *Mutat Res.* 532(1-2):205-13.

Harbour JW, Dean DC. Chromatin remodeling and Rb activity. (2000) *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 12(6):685-9. Review.

Harper DM. Currently approved prophylactic HPV vaccines. (2009). Expert Rev Vaccines. 8(12):1663-79.

Harper JW, Elledge SJ: The DNA damage response: ten years after. (2007). *Mol Cell*, 28:739-745.

Hebner CM, Laimins LA. Human papillomaviruses: basic mechanisms of pathogenesis and oncogenicity.(2006). *Rev. Med. Virol.* 16: 83–97

Hegde RS, Grossman SR, Laimins LA, Sigler PB. Crystal structure at 1.7 A of the bovine papillomavirus-1 E2 DNA-binding domain bound to its DNA target. (1992). *Nature*. 359(6395):505-12.

Heino P, Zhou J, Lambert PF. Interaction of the papillomavirus transcription/replication factor, E2, and the viral capsid protein, L2. (2000). *Virology*. 276(2):304-14.

Hickman AB, Dyda F. Binding and unwinding: SF3 viral helicases. (2005). *Curr Opin Struct Biol.* 15(1):77-85.

Hindmarsh PL, Laimins LA: Mechanisms regulating expression of the HPV31 L1 and L2 capsid proteins and pseudovirion entry. (2007). *Virol J* 4:19.

Hoege C, Pfander B, Moldovan GL, Pyrowolakis G, Jentsch S. RAD6-dependent DNA repair is linked to modification of PCNA by ubiquitin and SUMO. (2002). *Nature*. 419(6903):135-41.

Holmgren SC, Patterson NA, Ozbun MA, Lambert PF. The minor capsid protein L2 contributes to two steps in the human papillomavirus type 31 life cycle. (2005). *J Virol.* 79:3938-3948.

Howley PM. Warts, cancer and ubiquitylation: lessons from the papillomaviruses. (2006). *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc.* 117:113-26

Hughes FJ, Romanos MA. E1 protein of human papillomavirus is a DNA helicase/ATPase.(1993). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 21(25):5817-23.

Hummel M, Hudson JB, Laimins LA. Differentiation-induced and constitutive transcription of human papillomavirus type 31b in cell lines containing viral episome. (1992). *J. Virol.* 66:6070–6080.

Iftode C, Daniely Y, Borowiec JA. Replication protein A (RPA): the eukaryotic SSB. (1999). *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol.* 34(3):141-80.

Iha H, Peloponese JM, Verstrepen L, Zapart G, Ikeda F, Smith CD, Starost MF, Yedavalli V, Heyninck K, Dikic I, Beyaert R, Jeang KT. Inflammatory cardiac valvulitis in TAX1BP1deficient mice through selective NF-kappaB activation. (2008). *EMBO J.* 27(4):629-41.

Ikegami S, Taguchi T, Ohashi M, Oguro M, Nagano H, Mano Y. Aphidicolin prevents mitotic cell division by interfering with the activity of DNA polymerase alpha. (1978). *Nature*. 275, 458–460.

Ilves I, Kivi S, Ustav M. Long-term episomal maintenance of bovine papillomavirus type 1 plasmids is determined by attachment to host chromosomes, which is mediated by the viral E2 protein and its binding sites. (1999). *J Virol*. 73:4404–4412.

Ilves I, Petojevic T, Pesavento JJ, Botchan MR. Activation of the MCM2-7 helicase by association with Cdc45 and GINS proteins. (2010). *Mol Cell*. 37(2):247-58.

Ishimi Y, Komamura-Kohno Y, Kwon HJ, Yamada K, Nakanishi M. Identification of MCM4 as a target of the DNA replication block checkpoint system. (2003) a. *J Biol Chem.* 278, 24644–24650.

Jackman M, Lindon C, Nigg EA, Pines J. Active cyclin B1-Cdk1 first appears on centrosomes in prophase. (2003). *Nat Cell Biol.* 5(2):143-8.

Jeon S, Allen-Hoffmann BL, Lambert PF. Integration of human papillomavirus type 16 into the human genome correlates with a selective growth advantage of cells. (1995). *J Virol* 69: 2989–2997.

Jin J, Shirogane T, Xu L, Nalepa G, Qin J, Elledge SJ, Harper JW. SCFbeta-TRCP links Chk1 signaling to degradation of the Cdc25A protein phosphatase. (2003). *Genes Dev.* 17(24):3062-74.

Jinno S, Suto K, Nagata A, Igarashi M, Kanaoka Y, Nojima H, Okayama H. Cdc25A is a novel phosphatase functioning early in the cell cycle. (1994). *EMBO J.* 13(7):1549-56.

Johansson C, Graham SV, Dornan ES, Morgan IM. The human papillomavirus 16 E2 protein is stabilised in S phase. (2009). *Virology*. 394(2):194-9.

Jones DL, Thompson DA, Münger K. Destabilization of the RB tumor suppressor protein and stabilization of p53 contribute to HPV type 16 E7-induced apoptosis. (1997). *Virology.* 239(1):97-107.

Joyce JG, Tung JS, Przysiecki CT, Cook JC, Lehman ED, Sands JA, et al. The L1 major capsid protein of human papillomavirus type 11 recombinant virus-like particles interacts with heparin and cell surface glycosaminoglycans on human keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 1999;274:5810–22.

Kabsch K, Alonso A. The human papillomavirus type 16 E5 protein impairs TRAIL- and FasL-mediated apoptosis in HaCaT cells by different mechanisms. (2002). *J Virol.* 76:12162–7.

Kadaja M, Isok-Paas H, Laos T, Ustav E, Ustav M. Mechanism of genomic instability in cells infected with the high-risk human papillomaviruses. (2009). *PLoS Pathog.* 5(4):e1000397.

Kadaja M, Silla T, Ustav E, Ustav M. Papillomavirus DNA replication - from initiation to genomic instability. (2009). *Virology.* 384(2):360-8.

Kastan MB, Bartek J: Cell-cycle checkpoints and cancer. (2004). Nature. 432:316-323.

Kasukawa H, Howley PM, Benson JD. A fifteen-amino-acid peptide inhibits human papillomavirus E1-E2 interaction and human papillomavirus DNA replication in vitro. (1998). *J Virol.* 72(10):8166-73.

Katzenellenbogen RA, Egelkrout EM, Vliet-Gregg P, Gewin LC, Gafken PR, Galloway DA. NFX1-123 and poly(A) binding proteins synergistically augment activation of telomerase in human papillomavirus type 16 E6-expressing cells. (2007). *J Virol.* 81(8):3786-96.

Kelly TJ, Brown GW. Regulation of chromosome replication. (2000). Annu Rev Biochem. 69:829-80.

Kennedy IM, Haddow JK, Clements JB. A negative regulatory element in the human papillomavirus type 16 genome acts at the level of late mRNA stability. (1991). *J. Virol.* 65:2093–2097.

Kim J, Lee D, Gwan Hwang S, Hwang ES, Choe J. BRCA1 associates with human papillomavirus type 18 E2 and stimulates E2-dependent transcription. (2003). *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 305(4):1008-16.

King LE, Fisk JC, Dornan ES, Donaldson MM, Melendy T, Morgan IM. Human papillomavirus E1 and E2 mediated DNA replication is not arrested by DNA damage signalling. (2010). *Virology.* 406(1):95-102.

Kiyokawa H, Ray D. In vivo roles of CDC25 phosphotases: Biological insight into the anticancer therapeutic targets. (2008). *Anticancer Agents Med Chem.* 8(8): 832-836

Knight GL, Grainger JR, Gallimore PH, Roberts S. Cooperation between different forms of the human papillomavirus type 1 E4 protein to block cell cycle progression and cellular DNA synthesis. (2004). *J Virol.* 78(24):13920-33.

Kolodner R. Biochemistry and genetics of eukaryotic mismatch repair. (1996). *Genes Dev.* 10(12):1433-42.

Koskinen WJ, Chen RW, Leivo I, Mäkitie A, Bäck L, Kontio R, Suuronen R, Lindqvist C, Auvinen E, Molijn A, Quint WG, Vaheri A, Aaltonen LM. Prevalence and physical status of human papillomavirus in squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck. (2003). Int J Cancer. 107(3):401-6.

Krämer A, Mailand N, Lukas C, Syljuåsen RG, Wilkinson CJ, Nigg EA, Bartek J, Lukas J. Centrosome-associated Chk1 prevents premature activation of cyclin-B-Cdk1 kinase. (2004). *Nat Cell Biol.* 6(9):884-91.

Kristiansen E, Jenkins A, Holm R. Coexistence of episomal and integrated HPV16 DNA in squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix. (1994). *J Clin Pathol* 47: 253–256.

Krüppel U, Müller-Schiffmann A, Baldus SE, Smola-Hess S, Steger G. E2 and the coactivator p300 can cooperate in activation of the human papillomavirus type 16 early promoter. (2008). *Virology*. 377(1):151-9

Kukimoto I, Takeuchi T, Kanda T. CCAAT/enhancer binding protein beta binds to and activates the P670 promoter of human papillomavirus type 16. M(2006). *Virology* 346: 98–107.

Kumagai A, Dunphy WG. Claspin, a novel protein required for the activation of Chk1 during a DNA replication checkpoint response in Xenopus egg extracts. (2000). *Mol Cell.* 6:839-849.

Kumagai A, Kim SM, Dunphy WG. Claspin and the activated form of ATR–ATRIP collaborate in the activation of Chk1. (2004). *J Biol Chem.* 279:49599-49608.

Kumagai A, Lee J, Yoo HY, Dunphy WG. TopBP1 activates the ATR-ATRIP complex. (2006). *Cell.* 124(5):943-55.

Kumar RA, Naidu SR, Wang X, Imbalzano AN, Androphy EJ. Interaction of papillomavirus E2 protein with the Brm chromatin remodeling complex leads to enhanced transcriptional activation. (2007). *J Virol.* 81(5):2213-20.

Lai MC, Teh BH, Tarn WY. A human papillomavirus E2 transcriptional activator. The interactions with cellular splicing factors and potential function in pre mRNA processing. (1999). *J Biol Chem*. 274:11832–11841.

Lambert PF, Spalholz BA, Howley PM. A transcriptional repressor encoded by BPV-1 shares a common carboxy-terminal domain with the E2 transactivator. (1987). *Cell*. 50 pp. 69–78.

Lane JE, Bowman PH, Cohen DJ. Epidermodysplasia verruciformis. (2003). *South Med J.* 96:613-615.

Larsen PM, Storgaard L, Fey SJ. Proteins present in bovine papillomavirus particles.(1987). *J Virol.* 61(11):3596-601.

Le Moal MA, Yaniv M, Thierry F. The bovine papillomavirus type 1 (BPV1) replication protein E1 modulates transcriptional activation by interacting with BPV1 E2. *J Virol.* (1994). 68(2):1085-93.

Lechner MS, Laimins LA. Inhibition of p53 DNA binding by human papillomavirus E6 proteins. (1994). *J Virol.* 68(7):4262-73.

Lee AY, Chiang CM. Chromatin adaptor Brd4 modulates E2 transcription activity and protein stability. (2009). *J Biol Chem.* 284(5):2778-86.

Lee D, Kim HZ, Jeong KW, Shim YS, Horikawa I, Barrett JC, Choe J. Human papillomavirus E2 down-regulates the human telomerase reverse transcriptase promoter. (2002). *J Biol Chem.* 277: 48-56

Lee D, Sohn H, Kalpana GV, Choe J. Interaction of E1 and hSNF5 proteins stimulates replication of human papillomavirus DNA. (1999). *Nature*. 399(6735):487-91.

Lee J, Dunphy WG. Rad17 plays a central role in establishment of the interaction between TopBP1 and the Rad9-Hus1-Rad1 complex at stalled replication forks. (2010). *Mol Biol Cell.* 21(6):926-35

Lees E, Faha B, Dulic V, Reed SI, Harlow E. Cyclin E/cdk2 and cyclin A/cdk2 kinases associate with p107 and E2F in a temporally distinct manner. (1992). *Genes Dev.* 6:1874–1885

Lentz M, Zanardi T, Filzen R, Carter J, Hella M. Functional analysis of a carboxyl-terminal phosphorylation mutant of the bovine papillomavirus E1 protein. (2002). *J Mol Biol*. 316(3):599-609.

Lentz MR, Pak D, Mohr I, Botchan MR. The E1 replication protein of bovine papillomavirus type 1 contains an extended nuclear localization signal that includes a p34cdc2 phosphorylation site. (1993). *J Virol*. 67(3):1414-1423.

Lentz MR, Stevens SM Jr, Raynes J, Elkhoury N. A phosphorylation map of the bovine papillomavirus E1 helicase. (2006). *Virol J.* 3:13.

Li R, Botchan MR. The acidic transcriptional activation domains of VP16 and p53 bind the cellular replication protein A and stimulate in vitro BPV-1 DNA replication. (1993). *Cell.* 73(6):1207-21.

Lieber MR, Gu J, Lu H, Shimazaki N, Tsai AG. Nonhomologous DNA end joining (NHEJ) and chromosomal translocations in humans. (2010). *Subcell Biochem.* 50:279-96.

Lin BY, Makhov AM, Griffith JD, Broker TR, Chow LT. Chaperone proteins abrogate inhibition of the human papillomavirus (HPV) E1 replicative helicase by the HPV E2 protein. (2002). *Mol Cell Biol.* 22(18):6592-604.

Lindahl T. Instability and decay of the primary structure of DNA. (1993). Nature. 362(6422):709–715.

Liu JS, Kuo SR, Makhov AM, Cyr DM, Griffith JD, Broker TR, Chow LT. Human Hsp70 and Hsp40 chaperone proteins facilitate human papillomavirus-11 E1 protein binding to the origin and stimulate cell-free DNA replication. (1998). *J Biol Chem.* 273(46):30704-12.

Liu S, Bekker-Jensen S, Mailand N, Lukas C, Bartek J, Lukas J. Claspin operates downstream of TopBP1 to direct ATR signaling towards Chk1 activation. (2006). *Mol Cell Biol.* 26:6056-6064

Löffler H, Rebacz B, Ho AD, Lukas J, Bartek J, Krämer A. Chk1-dependent regulation of Cdc25B functions to coordinate mitotic events. (2006). *Cell Cycle*.5(21):2543-7.

Loo YM, Melendy T. Recruitment of replication protein A by the papillomavirus E1 protein and modulation by single-stranded DNA. (2004). J Virol. 78(4):1605-15.

Lu JZ, Sun YN, Rose RC, Bonnez W, McCance DJ. Two E2 binding sites (E2BS) alone or one E2BS plus an A/T-rich region are minimal requirements for the replication of the human papillomavirus type 11 origin. (1993). *J Virol.* 67(12):7131-9.

Lusky M, Botchan MR. Genetic analysis of bovine papillomavirus type 1 trans-acting replication factors. (1985). *J Virol*. 53(3):955-65.

Lusky M, Fontane E. Formation of the complex of bovine papillomavirus E1 and E2 proteins is modulated by E2 phosphorylation and depends upon sequences within the carboxyl terminus of E1. (1991). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 88(14):6363-7.

Lusky M, Hurwitz J, Seo YS. The bovine papillomavirus E2 protein modulates the assembly of but is not stably maintained in a replication-competent multimeric E1-replication origin complex. (1994). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 91(19):8895-9.

Ma T, Zou N, Lin BY, Chow LT, Harper JW. Interaction between cyclin-dependent kinases and human papillomavirus replication-initiation protein E1 is required for efficient viral replication. (1999). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 96(2):382-7.

MacGregor GR, James MR, Arlett CF, Burke JF. Analysis of mutations occurring during replication of a SV40 shuttle vector in mammalian cells. (1987). *Mutat Res.* 183, 273–278.

Mailand N, Diffley JF. CDKs promote DNA replication origin licensing in human cells by protecting Cdc6 from APC/C-dependent proteolysis. (2005). *Cell.* 122(6):915-26.

Majewski S, Jablonska S. Do epidermodysplasia verruciformis human papillomaviruses contribute to malignant and benign epidermal proliferations? (2002). *Arch Dermatol.* 138:649-654.

Majka J, Niedziela-Majka A, Burgers PM. The checkpoint clamp activates Mec1 kinase during initiation of the DNA damage checkpoint. (2006). *Mol Cell*. 24(6):891-901.

Maniar HS, Wilson R, Brill SJ. Roles of replication protein-A subunits 2 and 3 in DNA replication fork movement in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. (1997). *Genetics.* 145(4):891-902.

Manke IA, Lowery DM, Nguyen A, Yaffe MB. BRCT repeats as phosphopeptide-binding modules involved in protein targeting. (2003). *Science*. 302(5645):636-9.

Mansky KC, Batiza A, Lambert PF. Bovine papillomavirus type 1 E1 and simian virus 40 large T antigen share regions of sequence similarity required for multiple functions. *J Virol.* 71(10):7600-8.

Marur S, D'Souza G, Westra WH, Forastiere AA. HPV-associated head and neck cancer: a virus-related cancer epidemic. (2010). *Lancet Oncol.* 11(8):781-9.

Massimi P, Narayan N, Cuenda A, Banks L. Phosphorylation of the discs large tumour suppressor protein controls its membrane localisation and enhances its susceptibility to HPV E6-induced degradation. (2006). *Oncogene*. 25(31):4276-85.

Matsuoka S, Huang M, Elledge SJ. Linkage of ATM to cell cycle regulation by the Chk2 protein kinase. (1998). *Science*. 282(5395):1893-7.

McBride AA, Romanczuk H, Howley PM. The papillomavirus E2 regulatory proteins. (1991). *J Biol Chem.* 266:18411–18414.

McBride AA. Replication and partitioning of papillomavirus genomes. (2008). *Adv Virus Res.* 72:155-205.

McFarlane-Anderson N, Bazuaye PE, Jackson MD, Smikle M, Fletcher HM. Cervical dysplasia and cancer and the use of hormonal contraceptives in Jamaican women. (2008). *BMC Womens Health.* 8:9.

McIntosh PB, Laskey P, Sullivan K, Davy C, Wang Q, Jackson DJ, Griffin HM, Doorbar J. E1--E4-mediated keratin phosphorylation and ubiquitylation: a mechanism for keratin depletion in HPV16-infected epithelium. (2010). *J Cell Sci.* 123(Pt 16):2810-22.

McLaughlin-Drubin ME, Huh KW, Münger K. Human papillomavirus type 16 E7 oncoprotein associates with E2F6. (2008). *J Virol* 82(17):8695-705.

McPhillips MG, Oliveira JG, Spindler JE, Mitra R, McBride AA. Brd4 is required for e2mediated transcriptional activation but not genome partitioning of all papillomaviruses. (2006). *J Virol.* 80:9530–9543.

Melchionna R, Chen XB, Blasina A, McGowan CH. Threonine 68 is required for radiationinduced phosphorylation and activation of Cds1. (2000). *Nat Cell Biol*. 2:762-765.

Melendy T, Sedman J, Stenlund A. Cellular factors required for papillomavirus DNA replication.(1995). *J Virol.* 69(12):7857-67.

Mendoza R, Gandhi L, Botchan MR. E1 recognition sequences in the bovine papillomavirus type 1 origin of DNA replication: interaction between half sites of the inverted repeats. (1995). *J Virol.* 69(6):3789-98.

Miao H, Seiler JA, Burhans WC. Regulation of cellular and SV40 virus origins of replication by Chk1-dependent intrinsic and UVC radiation-induced checkpoints. (2003). *J Biol Chem.* 278, 4295–4304.

Michael WM, Ott R, Fanning E, Newport J. Activation of the DNA replication checkpoint through RNA synthesis by primase. (2000). *Science*. 289:2133-7.

Milligan SG, Veerapraditsin T, Ahamet B, Mole S, Graham SV. Analysis of novel human papillomavirus type 16 late mRNAs in differentiated W12 cervical epithelial cells. (2007). *Virology.* 360(1):172-81.

Miyamae Y, Zaizen K, Ohara K, Mine Y, Sasaki YF. Detection of DNA lesions induced by chemical mutagens by the single cell gel electrophoresis (Comet) assay. 1. Relationship between the onset of DNA damage and the characteristics of mutagens. (1997). *Mutat Res.* 393(1-2):99-106.

Modrich P. Mechanisms and biological effects of mismatch repair. (1991). *Annu Rev Genet*. 25, 229–253.

Mole S, Milligan SG, Graham SV. Human papillomavirus type 16 E2 protein transcriptionally activates the promoter of a key cellular splicing factor, SF2/ASF. (2009). *J Virol.* 83(1):357-67.

Moody CA, Laimins LA. Human papillomaviruses activate the ATM DNA damage pathway for viral genome amplification upon differentiation. (2009). *PLoS Pathog.* 5(10):e1000605.

Morano V, Bosch FX, Munoz N. Effect of oral contraceptives on risk of cervical cancer in women with human papillomavirus infection: the IARC multicentric case-control study. (2002). Lancet. 359(9312): 1085-1092

Mordes DA, Glick GG, Zhao R, Cortez D. TopBP1 activates ATR through ATRIP and a PIKK regulatory domain. (2008). *Genes Dev.* 22(11):1478-89.

Morgan IM, Taylor ER. Detection and quantitation of HPV DNA replication by Southern blotting and real-time PCR. (2005). *Methods Mol Med.* 119:349-62.

Moulton LH, Lê MG. Latency and time-dependent exposure in a case-control study. (1991). *J Clin Epidemiol.* (9):915-23.

Moyer SE, Lewis PW, Botchan MR. Isolation of the Cdc45/Mcm2-7/GINS (CMG) complex, a candidate for the eukaryotic DNA replication fork helicase. (2006). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103(27):10236-41.

Münger K, Werness BA, Dyson N, Phelps WC, Harlow E, Howley PM. Complex formation of human papillomavirus E7 proteins with the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor gene product. (1989). *EMBO J.* 8(13):4099-105.

Muller F, Seo YS, Hurwitz J. Replication of bovine papillomavirus type 1 origin containing DNA in crude extracts and with purified proteins. (1994). *J Biol Chem.* 269, 17086–17094.

Muñoz N, Bosch FX, Castellsagué X, Díaz M, de Sanjose S, Hammouda D, Shah KV, Meijer CJ.. Against which human papillomavirus types shall we vaccinate and screen? The international perspective. (2004). *Int J Cancer*. 111:278–285.

Muñoz N, Bosch FX, de Sanjosé S, Herrero R, Castellsagué X, Shah KV, Snijders PJ, Meijer CJ. Epidemiologic classification of human papillomavirus types associated with cervical cancer. (2003). N Engl J Med. 6;348(6):518-27.

Muzi-Falconi M, Giannattasio M, Foiani M, Plevani P. The DNA polymerase alphaprimase complex:multiple functions and interactions. (2003). *ScientificWorldJournal*. 3:21-33.

Nagata A, Igarashi M, Jinno S, Suto K, Okayama H. An additional homolog of the fission yeast cdc25+ gene occurs in humans and is highly expressed in some cancer cells. *New Biol.* (1991). 3(10):959-68.

Nakahara T, Peh WL, Doorbar J, Lee D, Lambert PF. Human papillomavirus type 16 E1circumflexE4 contributes to multiple facets of the papillomavirus life cycle. (2005). *J Virol.* 79(20):13150-65.

Narahari J, Fisk JC, Melendy T, Roman A. Interactions of the cellular CCAAT displacement protein and human papillomavirus E2 proteins with the viral origin of replication can regulate DNA replication. (2006). *Virology* 350, 302–311.

Narayan N, Subbaiah VK, Banks L. The high-risk HPV E6 oncoprotein preferentially targets phosphorylated nuclear forms of hDlg. (2009). *Virology*. 387(1):1-4.

Nasseri M, Hirochika R, Broker TR, Chow LT. A human papilloma virus type 11 transcript encoding an E1--E4 protein. (1987). *Virology*. 159(2):433-9.

Nishimura A, Ono T, Ishimoto A, Dowhanick JJ, Frizzell MA, Howley PM, Sakai H. Mechanisms of human papillomavirus E2-mediated repression of viral oncogene expression and cervical cancer cell growth inhibition. (2000). *J. Virol.* 74: 3752–3760.

Nurse P. A long twentieth century of the cell cycle and beyond. (2000). Cell. 100(1):71-8.

Nutter LM, Ngo EO, Abul-Hajj YJ. Characterization of DNA damage induced by 3,4estrone-o-quinone in human cells. (1991). *J Biol Chem.* 266(25):16380-6.

Nutter LM, Wu YY, Ngo EO, Sierra EE, Gutierrez PL, Abul-Hajj YJ. An o-quinone form of estrogen produces free radicals in human breast cancer cells: correlation with DNA damage. (1994). *Chem Res Toxicol.* 7(1):23-8.

Oberg D, Fay J, Lambkin H, Schwartz S. A downstream polyadenylation element in human papillomavirus type 16 L2 encodes multiple GGG motifs and interacts with hnRNP H. (2005). *J Virol.* 79(14):9254-69

O'Driscoll M, Gennery AR, Seidel J, Concannon P, Jeggo PA. An overview of three new disorders associated with genetic instability: LIG4 syndrome, RS-SCID and ATR-Seckel syndrome. (2004). *DNA Repair (Amst).* 3(8-9):1227-35.

Okoye A, Cordano P, Taylor ER, Morgan IM, Everett R, Campo MS. Human papillomavirus 16 L2 inhibits the transcriptional activation function, but not the DNA replication function, of HPV-16 E2. (2005). *Virus Res.* 108(1-2):1-14.

Oliveira JG, Colf LA, McBride AA. Variations in the association of papillomavirus E2 proteins with mitotic chromosomes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103(4):1047-52.

Ozbun MA, Meyers C. Characterization of late gene transcripts expressed during vegetative replication of human papillomavirus type 31b. (1997). *J. Virol.* 71:5161–5172.

Parish JL, Bean AM, Park RB, Androphy EJ. ChlR1 is required for loading papillomavirus E2 onto mitotic chromosomes and viral genome maintenance. (2006). *Mol Cell*. 24(6):867-76.

Parish JL, Kowalczyk A, Chen HT, Roeder GE, Sessions R, Buckle M, Gaston K. E2 proteins from high- and low-risk human papillomavirus types differ in their ability to bind p53 and induce apoptotic cell death. (2006). *J Virol.* 80(9):4580-90.

Park P, Copeland W, Yang L, Wang T, Botchan MR, Mohr IJ. The cellular DNA polymerase alpha-primase is required for papillomavirus DNA replication and associates with the viral E1 helicase. (1994). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 91(18):8700-4.

Parker LM, Harris S, Gossen M, Botchan MR. The bovine papillomavirus E2 transactivator is stimulated by the E1 initiator through the E2 activation domain. Virology. (2000). 270(2):430-43.

Parkin DM, Bray F. Chapter 2: The burden of HPV-related cancers.(2006). *Vaccine*. 24 Suppl 3:S3/11-25.

Parrilla-Castellar ER, Arlander SJ, Karnitz L. Dial 9-1-1 for DNA Damage: the Rad9-Hus1-Rad1 (9-1-1) clamp complex. (2004). *DNA Repair.* 3:1009-14.

Patel D, Huang SM, Baglia LA, McCance DJ. The E6 protein of human papillomavirus type 16 binds to and inhibits co-activation by CBP and p300. (1999). *EMBO J.* 18(18):5061-72.

Pedram A, Razandi M, Evinger AJ, Lee E, Levin ER. Estrogen inhibits ATR signaling to cell cycle checkpoints and DNA repair. (2009). *Mol Biol Cell*. 20(14):3374-89.

Pedroza-Saavedra A, Lam EW, Esquivel-Guadarrama F, Gutierrez-Xicotencatl L. The human papillomavirus type 16 E5 oncoprotein synergizes with EGF-receptor signaling to enhance cell cycle progression and the down-regulation of p27(Kip1). (2010). *Virology*. 400(1):44-52.

Peh, W. L., J. L. Brandsma, N. D. Christensen, N. M. Cladel, X. Wu, and J. Doorbar. The viral E4 protein is required for the completion of the cottontail rabbit papillomavirus productive cycle in vivo. (2004). *J Virol.* 78:2142–2151.

Peitsaro P, Johansson B, Syrjanen S. Integrated human papillomavirus type 16 is frequently found in cervical cancer precursors as demonstrated by a novel quantitative real-time PCR technique. (2002). *J Clin Microbiol* 40: 886–891.

Peng YC, Breiding DE, Sverdrup F, Richard J, Androphy EJ. AMF-1/Gps2 binds p300 and enhances its interaction with papillomavirus E2 proteins. (2000). *J Virol.* 74(13):5872-9.

Penrose KJ, McBride AA. Proteasome-mediated degradation of the papillomavirus E2-TA protein is regulated by phosphorylation and can modulate viral genome copy number. (2000). *J Virol.* 74(13):6031-8.

Peterson CL, Herskowitz I. Characterization of the yeast SWI1, SWI2, and SWI3 genes, which encode a global activator of transcription. (1992). *Cell*. 68(3):573-83.

Pett M, Coleman N. Integration of high-risk human papillomavirus: a key event in cervical carcinogenesis? (2007). *J Pathol.* Aug;212(4):356-67.

Pett MR, Herdman MT, Palmer RD, Yeo GS, Shivji MK, et al. Selection of cervical keratinocytes containing integrated HPV16 associates with episome loss and an endogenous antiviral response. (2006). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103: 3822–3827.

Piccini A, Storey A, Massimi P, Banks L. Mutations in the human papillomavirus type 16 E2 protein identify multiple regions of the protein involved in binding to E1. (1995). *J Gen Virol.* 76 (Pt 11):2909-13.

Poddar A, Reed SC, McPhillips MG, McBride AA. The Human Papillomavirus Type 8 E2 Tethering Protein Targets the Ribosomal DNA Loci of Host Mitotic Chromosomes. (2008). *J Virol.* 83(2):640-50. Poddar A, Reed SC, McPhillips MG, Spindler JE, McBride AA. The human papillomavirus type 8 E2 tethering protein targets the ribosomal DNA loci of host mitotic chromosomes. (2009). *J Virol.* 83(2):640-50.

Podust VN, Podust LM, Müller F, Hübscher U. DNA polymerase delta holoenzyme: action on single-stranded DNA and on double-stranded DNA in the presence of replicative DNA helicases. (1995).*Biochemistry.* 34(15):5003-10.

Pollard TD, Wu JQ. Understanding cytokinesis: lessons from fission yeast. (2010). *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 11(2):149-55

Potocnik M, Kocjan BJ, Seme K, Poljak M. Distribution of human papillomavirus (HPV) genotypes in genital warts from males in Slovenia. (2007). *Acta Dermatovenero Alp Panonica Adriat*. 16:91–98.

Pyeon D, Pearce SM, Lank SM, Ahlquist P, Lambert PF. Establishment of human papillomavirus infection requires cell cycle progression. (2009). *PLoS Pathog.* 5(2):e1000318.

Raj K, Berguerand S, Southern S, Doorbar J, Beard P. E1 empty set E4 protein of human papillomavirus type 16 associates with mitochondria. (2004). *J Virol.* 78(13):7199-207.

Ramoz N, Rueda LA, Bouadjar B, Montoya LS, Orth G, Favre M. Mutations in two adjacent novel genes are associated with epidermodysplasia verruciformis. (2002). *Nat Genet.* 32(4):579-81.

Rangasamy D, Wilson VG. Bovine papillomavirus E1 protein is sumoylated by the host cell Ubc9 protein. (2000). *J Biol Chem.* 275(39):30487-95.

Rector A, Tachezy R, Van Ranst M. A sequence-independent strategy for detection and cloning of circular DNA virus genomes by using multiply primed rolling-circle amplification. (2004). *J Virol.* 78(10):4993-8

Reinhardt HC, Aslanian AS, Lees JA, Yaffe MB. p53-deficient cells rely on ATM- and ATRmediated checkpoint signaling through the p38MAPK/MK2 pathway for survival after DNA damage. (2007). *Cancer Cell.* 11(2):175-89.

Richards RM, Lowy DR, Schiller JT, Day PM. Cleavage of the papillomavirus minor capsid protein, L2, at a furin consensus site is necessary for infection. (2006). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103(5):1522-7.

Roberts S, Ashmole I, Johnson GD, Kreider JW, Gallimore PH. Cutaneous and mucosal human papillomavirus E4 proteins form intermediate filament-like structures in epithelial cells.(1993). *Virology.* 197(1):176-87.

Roberts S, Kingsbury SR, Stoeber K, Knight GL, Gallimore PH, Williams GH. Identification of an arginine-rich motif in human papillomavirus type 1 E1;E4 protein necessary for E4-mediated inhibition of cellular DNA synthesis in vitro and in cells. (2008). *J Virol.* 82(18):9056-64.

Roden RB, Day PM, Bronzo BK, Yutzy WH 4th, Yang Y, Lowy DR, Schiller JT. Positively charged termini of the L2 minor capsid protein are necessary for papillomavirus infection. (2001). *J Virol.* 75(21):10493-7.

Romanczuk H, Howley PM. Disruption of either the E1 or the E2 regulatory gene of human papillomavirus type 16 increases viral immortalization capacity. (1992). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89: 3159–3163.

Romanczuk H, Thierry F, Howley PM. Mutational analysis of cis elements involved in E2 modulation of human papillomavirus type 16 P97 and type 18 P105 promoters. (1990). *J Virol* 64: 2849–2859.

Rosas-Acosta G, Wilson VG. Identification of a nuclear export signal sequence for bovine papillomavirus E1 protein. (2008). *Virology.* 373(1):149-62.

Rush M, Zhao X, Schwartz S. (2005) A splicing enhancer in the E4 coding region of human papillomavirus type 16 is required for early mRNA splicing and polyadenylation as well as inhibition of premature late gene expression. *J Virol.* 79(18):12002-15.

Sadhu K, Reed SI, Richardson H, Russell P. Human homolog of fission yeast cdc25 mitotic inducer is predominantly expressed in G2. (1990). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 87(13):5139-43.

Sage J. Cyclin C makes an entry into the cell cycle. (2004). Dev Cell. 6(5):607-8.

Sakai H, Yasugi T, Benson JD, Dowhanick JJ, Howley PM. Targeted mutagenesis of the human papillomavirus type 16 E2 transactivation domain reveals separable transcriptional activation and DNA replication functions. (1996). *J Virol.* 70(3):1602-11.

Sanchez-Perez AM, Soriano S, Clarke AR, Gaston K. Disruption of the human papillomavirus type 16 E2 gene protects cervical carcinoma cells from E2F-induced apoptosis. (1997). *J Gen Virol.* 78 (Pt 11):3009-18.

Sanders CM, Stenlund A. Recruitment and loading of the E1 initiator protein: an ATPdependent process catalysed by a transcription factor. (1998). *EMBO J.* 17(23):7044-55.

Sandler AB, Vande Pol SB, Spalholz BA. Repression of bovine papillomavirus type 1 transcription by the E1 replication protein. (1993). *J Virol.* 67(9):5079-87.

Sapp M, Day PM. Structure, attachment and entry of polyoma- and papillomaviruses. (2009). Virology. 384(2):400-9.

Sarafi TR, McBride AA. Domains of the BPV-1 E1 replication protein required for originspecific DNA binding and interaction with the E2 transactivator. (1995). *Virology*. 211:385–396.

Sarver N, Rabson MS, Yang YC, Byrne JC, Howley PM. Localization and analysis of bovine papillomavirus type 1 transforming functions. (1984). *J Virol.* 52(2):377-88.

Schapiro F, Sparkowski J, Adduci A, Suprynowicz F, Schlegel R, Grinstein S. Golgi alkalinization by the papillomavirus E5 oncoprotein. (2000). *J Cell Biol.* 148(2):305-15.

Scheffner M, Huibregtse JM, Vierstra RD, Howley PM. The HPV-16 E6 and E6-AP complex functions as a ubiquitin-protein ligase in the ubiquitination of p53. (1993). *Cell.* 75(3):495-505.

Schmitt A, Rochat A, Zeltner R, Borenstein L, Barrandon Y, Wettstein FO, Iftner T. The primary target cells of the high-risk cottontail rabbit papillomavirus colocalize with hair follicle stem cells. (1996). *J Virol* 0:1912–22.

Schwarz JK, Lovly CM, Piwnica-Worms H. Regulation of the Chk2 protein kinase by oligomerization-mediated cis- and trans-phosphorylation. (2003). *Mol Cancer Res.* 1:598-609.

Schweiger MR, You J, Howley PM. Bromodomain protein 4 mediates the papillomavirus E2 transcriptional activation function. (2006). *J Virol.* 80(9):4276-85.

Sedman T, Sedman J, Stenlund A. Binding of the E1 and E2 proteins to the origin of replication of bovine papillomavirus. (1997). *J Virol.* 71:2887–2896.

Senechal H, Poirier GG, Coulombe B, Laimins LA, Archambault J. Amino acid substitutions that specifically impair the transcriptional activity of papillomavirus E2 affect binding to the long isoform of Brd4.(2007). *Virology.* 358:10–17.

Seo YS, Müller F, Lusky M, Hurwitz J. Bovine papilloma virus (BPV)-encoded E1 protein contains multiple activities required for BPV DNA replication.(1993). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 90(2):702-6.

Shafti-Keramat S, Handisurya A, Kriehuber E, Meneguzzi G, Slupetzky K, Kirnbauer R. Different heparan sulfate proteoglycans serve as cellular receptors for human papillomaviruses.(2003). *J Virol.* 77(24):13125-35.

Shembade N, Harhaj NS, Liebl DJ, Harhaj EW. Essential role for TAX1BP1 in the termination of TNF-alpha-, IL-1- and LPS-mediated NF-kappaB and JNK signaling. (2007). *EMBO J.* 26(17):3910-22.

Sherman L, Alloul N. Human papillomavirus type 16 expresses a variety of alternatively spliced mRNAs putatively encoding the E2 protein. (1992). *Virology.* 191(2):953-9.

Sherr CJ. The Pezcoller lecture: cancer cell cycles revisited. (2000). *Cancer Res.* 60(14):3689-95.

Shi Y, Dodson GE, Shaikh S, Rundell K, Tibbetts RS. Ataxia-telangiectasiamutated (ATM) is a T-antigen kinase that controls SV40 viral replication in vivo. (2005). *J Biol Chem*. 280, 40195–401200.

Shiloh Y. ATM and ATR: networking cellular responses to DNA damage. (2001). *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* 11(1):71-7.

Shirata N, Kudoh A, Daikoku T, Tatsumi Y, Fujita M, Kiyono T, Sugaya Y, Isomura H, Ishizaki K, Tsurumi T. Activation of ataxia telangiectasia-mutated DNA damage checkpoint signal transduction elicited by herpes simplex virus infection. (2005). *J Biol Chem.* 280:30336–30341.

Shuck SC, Short EA, Turchi JJ. Eukaryotic nucleotide excision repair: from understanding mechanisms to influencing biology. (2008). *Cell Res.* 18(1):64-72.

Sim J, Ozgur S, Lin BY, Yu JH, Broker TR, Chow LT, Griffith J. Remodeling of the human papillomavirus type 11 replication origin into discrete nucleoprotein particles and looped structures by the E2 protein. (2008). *J Mol Biol.* 375(4):1165-77

Singh NP, McCoy MT, Tice RR, Schneider EL. A simple technique for quantitation of low levels of DNA damage in individual cells. (1988). *Exp Cell Res.* 175(1):184-91. Skiadopoulos MH, McBride AA. Bovine papillomavirus type 1 genomes and the E2 transactivator protein are closely associated with mitotic chromatin. (1998). *J Virol.*

72(3):2079-88.

Smith JL, Campos SK, Ozbun MA. Human papillomavirus type 31 uses a caveolin 1- and dynamin 2-mediated entry pathway for infection of human keratinocytes. (2007). *J Virol* 81:9922-9931.

Smith JS, Green J, Berrington de Gonzalez A. Cervical cancer and the use of hormonal contraceptives: a systemic review. (2003). *Lancet.* 361(9364): 1159-1167

Somberg M and Schwartz S. Multiple ASF/SF2 Sites in the Human Papillomavirus Type 16 (HPV-16) E4-Coding Region Promote Splicing to the Most Commonly Used 3_-Splice Site on the HPV-16 Genome. (2010). *J. Virol.* 84(16):8219–8230

Sporbert A, Domaing P, Leonhardt H, Cardoso MC. PCNA acts as a stationary loading platform for transiently interacting Okazaki fragment maturation proteins. (2005). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33: 3521–3528.

Sporbert A, Gahl A, Ankerhold R, Leonhardt H, Cardoso MC. DNA polymerase clamp shows little turnover at established replication sites but sequential de novo assembly at adjacent origin clusters. (2002). *Mol Cell*. 10: 1355–1365.

Stanley MA, Pett MR, Coleman N. HPV: from infection to cancer. (2007). *Biochem Soc Trans.* 35 (6), 1456–1460.

Steger G, Corbach S. Dose-dependent regulation of the early promoter of human papillomavirus type 18 by the viral E2 protein. (1997). *J. Virol.* 71:50–58.

Steger G, Schnabel C, Schmidt HM. The hinge region of the human papillomavirus type 8 E2 protein activates the human p21^{WAF1/CIP1} promoter via interaction with Sp1. (2002). *J Gen Virol.* 83:503-510.

Stenlund, A. E1 initiator DNA binding specificity is unmasked by selective inhibition of non-specific DNA binding. (2003). *EMBO J.* 22:954–963.

Straight SW, Hinkle PM, Jewers RJ, McCance DJ. The E5 oncoprotein of human papillomavirus type 16 transforms fibroblasts and effects the downregulation of the epidermal growth factor receptor in keratinocytes. (1993). *J Virol.* 67:4521–32.

Sun Y, Han H, McCance DJ. Active domains of human papillomavirus type 11 E1 protein for origin replication. (1998). *J Gen Virol.* 79 (Pt 7):1651-8.

Sun Y, Jiang X, Chen S, Fernandes N, Price BD. A role for the Tip60 histone acetyltransferase in the acetylation and activation of ATM. (2005). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102:13182–13187.

Sun Y, Xu Y, Roy K, Price BD. DNA damage-induced acetylation of lysine 3016 of ATM activates ATM kinase activity. (2007). *Mol Cell Biol.* 27:8502–8509.

Sun YN, Lu JZ, McCance DJ. Mapping of HPV-11 E1 binding site and determination of other important cis elements for replication of the origin.(1996). *Virology.* 216(1):219-22.

Sung JS, Demple B. Roles of base excision repair subpathways in correcting oxidized abasic sites in DNA. (2006). *FEBS J* 273(8):1620–1629.

Swindle CS, Engler JA. Association of the human papillomavirus type 11 E1 protein with histone H1. (1998). *J Virol.* 72(3):1994-2001.

Tan SH, Baker CC, Stünkel W, Bernard HU. A transcriptional initiator overlaps with a conserved YY1 binding site in the long control region of human papillomavirus type 16. (2003). *Virology*. 305(2):486-501.

Tan SH, Leong LE, Walker PA, Bernard HU. The human papillomavirus type 16 E2 transcription factor binds with low cooperativity to two flanking sites and represses the E6 promoter through displacement of Sp1 and TFIID (1994). *J. Virol.* 68: 6411–6420.

Tapper DP, DePamphilis ML. Discontinuous DNA replication: Accumulation of simian virus 40 DNA at specific stages in its replication. (1977). *J Mol Biol.* 120(3): 401-22

Taylor ER, Boner W, Dornan ES, Corr EM, Morgan IM. UVB irradiation reduces the halflife and transactivation potential of the human papillomavirus 16 E2 protein. (2003). *Oncogene.* 22(29):4469-77.

Taylor ER, Dornan ES, Boner W, Connolly JA, McNair S, Kannouche P., Lehmann, A.R., Morgan, I.M., 2003. The fidelity of HPV16 E1/E2-mediated DNA replication. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 52223–52230.

Taylor ER, Morgan IM. A novel technique with enhanced detection and quantitation of HPV-16 E1- and E2-mediated DNA replication. (2003). *Virology.* 315(1):103-9.

Thierry F, Howley PM. Functional analysis of E2-mediated repression of the HPV18 P105 promoter. (1991). *New Biol.* 3(1):90-100.

Thierry F, Yaniv M. The BPV1-E2 trans-acting protein can be either an activator or a repressor of the HPV18 regulatory region. (1987). *EMBO J.* 6(11):3391-7.

Thoma F, Koller T, Klug A. Involvement of histone H1 in the organization of the nucleosome and of the salt-dependent superstructures of chromatin. (1979). *J Cell Biol.* 83(2 Pt 1):403-27.

Traven A, Heierhorst J. SQ/TQ cluster domains: concentrated ATM/ATR kinase phosphorylation site regions in DNA-damage-response proteins. (2005). *Bioessays.* 27(4):397-407.

Travers AA. The reprogramming of transcriptional competence. (1992). *Cell*. 15;69(4):573-5.

Tsao YP, Li LY, Tsai TC, Chen SL. Human papillomavirus type 11 and 16 E5 represses p21(Wafl/Sdil/CipI) gene expression in fibroblasts and keratinocytes.(1996). *J Virol.* 70(11):7535-9.

Ustav M, Stenlund A. Transient replication of BPV-1 requires two viral polypeptides encoded by the E1 and E2 open reading frames. (1991). *EMBO J.* 10(2):449-57.

Vaillancourt P, Nottoli T, Choe J, Botchan MR. The E2 transactivator of bovine papillomavirus type 1 is expressed from multiple promoters. (1990). *J Virol.* 64(8):3927-37.

Valck D, Jin DY, Heyninck K, Van de Craen M, Contreras R, Fiers W, Jeang KT, Beyaert R. The zinc finger protein A20 interacts with a novel anti-apoptotic protein which is cleaved by specific caspases. (1999). *Oncogene*. 18(29):4182-90.

Van den Bosch M, Lohman PH, Pastink A. DNA double-strand break repair by homologous recombination. (2002). *Biol Chem.* 383(6):873-92.

Van Tine BA, Dao LD, Wu SY, Sonbuchner TM, Lin BY, Zou N, Chiang CM, Broker TR, Chow LT. Human papillomavirus (HPV) origin-binding protein associates with mitotic spindles to enable viral DNA partitioning. (2004). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 23;101(12):4030-5.

Vanakankovit N, Taneepanichskul S. Effect of oral contraceptives on risk of cervical cancer. *J Med Assoc Thai.* (2008). 91(1):7-12.

Vance KW, Campo MS, Morgan IM. An enhanced epithelial response of a papillomavirus promoter to transcriptional activators. (1999). *J Biol Chem.* 274, 27839-27844.

Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV, Snijders PJ, Peto J, Meijer CJ, Muñoz N. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. (1999). *J Pathol.* 189(1):12-9.

Wang EH, Bhattacharyya S, Prives C. The replication functions of polyomavirus large tumor antigen are regulated by phosphorylation. (1993). *J Virol.* 67(11):6788-96.

Wang X, Naidu SR, Sverdrup F, Androphy EJ. Tax1BP1 interacts with papillomavirus E2 and regulates E2-dependent transcription and stability. (2009). *J Virol.* 83(5):2274-84.

Watson RA, Rollason TP, Reynolds GM, Murray PG, Banks L, Roberts S. Changes in expression of the human homologue of the Drosophila discs large tumour suppressor protein in high-grade premalignant cervical neoplasias. (2002). *Carcinogenesis.* 23(11):1791-6.

Webster K, Parish J, Pandya M, Stern PL, Clarke AR, Gaston K. The human papillomavirus (HPV) 16 E2 protein induces apoptosis in the absence of other HPV proteins and via a p53-dependent pathway. (2000). *J Biol Chem.* 275(1):87-94.

Wentzensen N, Vinokurova S, von Knebel Doeberitz M. Systematic review of genomic integration sites of human papillomavirus genomes in epithelial dysplasia and invasive cancer of the female lower genital tract. (2004). *Cancer Res.* 64(11):3878-84.

Wiederhold L, Leppard JB, Kedar P, et al. AP endonuclease-independent DNA base excision repair in human cells. (2004).*Mol Cell*. 15(2):209–220.

Wilson R, Fehrmann F, Laimins LA. Role of the E1--E4 protein in the differentiationdependent life cycle of human papillomavirus type 31.(2005). *J Virol.* 79(11):6732-40.

Wilson R, Ryan GB, Knight GL, Laimins LA, Roberts S. The full-length E1E4 protein of human papillomavirus type 18 modulates differentiation-dependent viral DNA amplification and late gene expression. (2007). *Virology*. 362(2):453-60.

Windhofer F, Wu W, Iliakis G. Low levels of DNA ligases III and IV sufficient for effective NHEJ. (2007). *J Cell Physiol.* 213(2):475-83.

Wright RHG. Identification of TopBP1 Chromatin Modification Domains and Transcriptional Targets. (2007). Thesis. University of Glasgow

Wu SY, Chiang CM. The double bromodomain-containing chromatin adaptor Brd4 and transcriptional regulation. (2007). *J. Biol. Chem.* 282: 13141–13145.

Wu X, Avni D, Chiba T, Yan F, Zhao Q, Lin Y, Heng H, Livingston D. SV40 T antigen interacts with Nbs1 to disrupt DNA replication control. (2004). *Genes Dev.* (11):1305-16.

Xue Y, Bellanger S, Zhang W, Lim D, Low J, Lunny D, Thierry F. HPV16 E2 is an immediate early marker of viral infection, preceding E7 expression in precursor structures of cervical carcinoma. (2010). *Cancer Res*.70(13):5316-25.

Yager JD, Liehr JG. Molecular mechanisms of estrogen carcinogenesis. (1996). *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.* 36:203-32.

Yan S, Michael WM. TopBP1 and DNA polymerase alpha directly recruit the 9-1-1 complex to stalled DNA replication forks. (2009). *J Cell Bio*. 184:793-804.

Yang L, Li R, Mohr IJ, Clark R, Botchan MR. Activation of BPV-1 replication in vitro by the transcription factor E2. (1991). *Nature*. 353(6345):628-32.

Yang L, Mohr I, Fouts E, Lim DA, Nohaile M, Botchan M. The E1 protein of bovine papilloma virus 1 is an ATP-dependent DNA helicase. (1993). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 90(11):5086-90.

Yang R, Day PM, Yutzy WH 4th, Lin KY, Hung CF, Roden RB. Cell surface-binding motifs of L2 that facilitate papillomavirus infection. (2003). *J Virol.* 77(6):3531-41.

Yasugi T, Benson JD, Sakai H, Vidal M, Howley PM. Mapping and characterization of the interaction domains of human papillomavirus type 16 E1 and E2 proteins. (1997). *J Virol.* 71(2):891-9.

Yasugi T, Vidal M, Sakai H, Howley PM, Benson JD. Two classes of human papillomavirus type 16 E1 mutants suggest pleiotropic conformational constraints affecting E1 multimerization, E2 interaction, and interaction with cellular proteins. (1997). *J Virol.* 71(8):5942-51.

Yoon CS, Kim KD, Park SN, Cheong SW. alpha(6) Integrin is the main receptor of human papillomavirus type 16 VLP.(2001) *Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 3:668-73.*

You J, Croyle JL, Nishimura A, Ozato K, Howley PM. Interaction of the bovine papillomavirus E2 protein with Brd4 tethers the viral DNA to host mitotic chromosomes. (2004). *Cell*. 117(3):349-60.

Yu X, Chini CC, He M, Mer G, Chen J. The BRCT domain is a phospho-protein binding domain. (2003). *Science*.302(5645):639-42.

Zanardi TA, Stanley CM, Saville BM, Spacek SM, Lentz MR. Modulation of bovine papillomavirus DNA replication by phosphorylation of the viral E1 protein. (1997). *Virology*. 228(1):1-10.

Zhang H, Berezov A, Wang Q, Zhang G, Drebin J, Murali R, Greene MI. ErbB receptors: from oncogenes to targeted cancer therapies.(2007). *J Clin Invest.* 117(8):2051-8.

Zhao H, Piwnica-Worms H. ATR-mediated checkpoint pathways regulate phosphorylation and activation of human Chk1. (2001). *Mol Cell Biol.* 21:4129-4139.

Zhao X, Madden-Fuentes RJ, Lou BX, Pipas, JM, Gerhardt J, Rigell, CJ, Fanning E. Ataxia telangiectasia-mutated damage-signaling kinase- and proteasomedependent destruction of Mre11–Rad50–Nbs1 subunits in Simian virus 40-infected primate cells. (2008). *J Virol.* 82:5316–5328.

Zheng G, Schweiger MR, Martinez-Noel G, Zheng L, Smith JA, Harper JW, Howley PM. Brd4 regulation of papillomavirus protein E2 stability. (2009). *J Virol*. 83(17):8683-92.

Zheng PS, Brokaw J, McBride AA. Conditional mutations in the mitotic chromosome binding function of the bovine papillomavirus type 1 E2 protein. (2005). *J. Virol.* 79:1500–1509.

Zheng ZM, Baker CC. Papillomavirus genome structure, expression, and posttranscriptional regulation. (2006). *Front Biosci.* 11:2286-302.

Ziegert C, Wentzensen N, Vinokurova S, Kisseljov F, Einenkel J, Hoeckel M, von Knebel Doeberitz M. A comprehensive analysis of HPV integration loci in anogenital lesions combining transcript and genome-based amplification techniques. (2003). *Oncogene*. 22(25):3977-84.

Zimmermann H, Degenkolbe R, Bernard HU, O'Connor MJ. The human papillomavirus type 16 E6 oncoprotein can down-regulate p53 activity by targeting the transcriptional coactivator CBP/p300. (1999). *J Virol.* 73(8):6209-19.

Zou L, Elledge SJ: Sensing DNA damage through ATRIP recognition of RPA-ssDNA complexes. (2003). *Science*. 300:1542-1548.

Zou N, Lin B, Duan F, Lee KY, Jin G, Guan R, Yao G, Lefkowitz EJ, Broker TR, Chow LT. The hinge of the human papillomavirus type 11 E2 protein contains major determinants for nuclear localization and nuclear matrix association. (2000). *J Virol* 74:3761–3770.

Zur Hausen H, Gissmann L, Steiner W, Dippold W, Dreger I. Human papilloma viruses and cancer. (1975). *Bibl Haematol.* (43):569-71.

Zur Hausen H. Papillomaviruses and cancer: from basic studies to clinical application. (2002). *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2(5):342-50.